STROKE IN ELDERLY: CURRENT STATUS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

EDITED BY: Muhib Khan and Brian Silver PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-831-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-831-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

STROKE IN ELDERLY: CURRENT STATUS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Topic Editors:

Muhib Khan, Michigan State University; Spectrum Health, United States Brian Silver, University of Massachusetts, United States

Citation: Khan, M., Silver, B., eds. (2019). Stroke in Elderly: Current Status and Future Directions. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-831-8

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Stroke in Elderly: Current Status and Future Directions Muhib Khan and Brian Silver
- 06 Potential of Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Ischemic Stroke Hany E. Marei, A. Hasan, R. Rizzi, A. Althani, N. Afifi, C. Cenciarelli, Thomas Caceci and Ashfaq Shuaib
- 13 Endovascular Treatment of Anterior Circulation Large Vessel Occlusion in the Elderly

Mahesh V. Jayaraman and Ryan A. McTaggart

19 The Mobility Assessment Course for the Diagnosis of Spatial Neglect: Taking a Step Forward?

Megan Grech, Tracey Stuart, Lindy Williams, Celia Chen and Tobias Loetscher

27 The Impact of Carotid Artery Stenting on Cerebral Perfusion, Functional Connectivity, and Cognition in Severe Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis Patients

Tao Wang, Dong Sun, Yumin Liu, Bin Mei, Huagang Li, Shengming Zhang and Junjian Zhang

34 Midterm Blood Pressure Variability is Associated With Poststroke Cognitive Impairment: A Prospective Cohort Study

Shan Geng, Na Liu, Pin Meng, Niu Ji, Yong'an Sun, Yingda Xu, Guanghui Zhang, Xiaobing He, Zenglin Cai, Bei Wang, Bei Xu, Zaipo Li, Xiaoqin Niu, Yongjin Zhang, Bingchao Xu, Xinyu Zhou and Mingli He

43 Factors Influencing Decision Making for Carotid Endarterectomy versus Stenting in the Very Elderly

Sung Hyuk Heo and Cheryl D. Bushnell

53 Determining the Association Between Language and Cognitive Tests in Poststroke Aphasia

Kylie J. Wall, Toby B. Cumming and David A. Copland

62 Apolipoprotein E ε4: A Possible Risk Factor of Intracranial Pressure and White Matter Perfusion in Good-Grade Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients at Early Stage

Jian-hua Peng, Xing-hu Qin, Jin-wei Pang, Yue Wu, Jin-hu Dong, Chang-ren Huang, Wei-feng Wan, Xiao-bo Yang, Xiao-chuan Sun, Li-gang Chen and Yong Jiang

70 Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score Infarct Location Predicts Outcome Following M2 Occlusion

Muhib Khan, Grayson L. Baird, Richard P. Goddeau Jr., Brian Silver and Nils Henninger

76 White Matter Correlates of Auditory Comprehension Outcomes in Chronic Post-Stroke Aphasia

Shihui Xing, Elizabeth H. Lacey, Laura M. Skipper-Kallal, Jinsheng Zeng and Peter E. Turkeltaub





Editorial: Stroke in Elderly: Current Status and Future Directions

Muhib Khan^{1*} and Brian Silver²

¹ Division of Clinical Neuroscience, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States, ² UMass Memorial Medical Center, Worcester, MA, United States

Keywords: stroke, elderly, stroke recovery, thrombectomy, carotid disease

Editorial on the Research Topic

Stroke in Elderly: Current Status and Future Directions

The worldwide elderly population is rapidly growing¹. Stroke incidence doubles in octogenarians (1). In the US, the number of people older than 85 years, who currently constitute 2% of the total population, will double by 2060 (2). Therefore, the absolute number of strokes is expected to significantly increase over the course of the next century.

It is therefore important for physicians to understand the etiologies of stroke in this population, minimize risk factors for stroke, manage acute stroke in effective manner, and focus on rehabilitation. In this Research Topic, we focused on research pertaining to elderly stroke.

Prevention: Heo and Bushnell address the topic of carotid disease in the elderly. They highlight the differences in post-procedural stroke and mortality between carotid stenting and carotid endarterectomy among elderly patients. In addition to age, other predictors of outcome include gender, comorbid conditions, and symptomatic status. Wang et al. focus on asymptomatic carotid stenosis. Functional MRI and cognitive testing suggest that carotid stenting for asymptomatic carotid stenosis can improve cognition by increasing perfusion in the left frontal gyrus and connectivity in the posterior cingulate cortex. Cognitive outcomes are an important aspect of care in the elderly and this article provides insight into the role of stenting in improving cognition for the elderly patients.

Blood Pressure: Geng et al. highlight the impact of blood pressure variability in the subacute phase of stroke on long term cognitive outcomes in the elderly. Blood pressure management for the elderly has been a source of debate and this article provides valuable information on how better blood pressure management impacts cognition in the elderly post-stroke patients.

Acute Stroke Treatment: Jayaraman and McTaggart discuss the outcomes of thrombectomy for large vessel occlusion related stroke in the elderly. They provide a detailed review of recent trials in the context of outcomes for elderly undergoing thrombectomy and the need for further studies. Peng et al. evaluate the impact of apolipoprotein E $\varepsilon 4$ on imaging and clinical markers in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Patients with the apolipoprotein E $\varepsilon 4$ allele were found to have raised intracranial pressure and decreased perfusion in the white matter region after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Apolipoprotein E is a major focus for the elderly and this article ties it to subarachnoid hemorrhage outcomes. Khan et al. evaluate the impact of specific infarct location in distal middle cerebral artery occlusion stroke on outcome. They demonstrate specific infarct locations to be predictive of outcomes with no impact of laterality. Prognostication post stroke in the elderly population is an important aspect of care for the elderly and location of infarct provides valuable insight into prognosis.

Recovery: Xing et al. assess the impact of white matter connectivity on post stroke aphasia utilizing functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). They note a role of temporal lobe pathways in word-level and sentence-level comprehension pertaining to post-stroke aphasia.

¹https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2017_Wallchart.pdf

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Jean-Claude Baron, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Muhib Khan muhibalamkhan@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 04 December 2018 Accepted: 11 February 2019 Published: 01 March 2019

Citation:

Khan M and Silver B (2019) Editorial: Stroke in Elderly: Current Status and Future Directions. Front. Neurol. 10:177. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00177 Wall et al. also evaluate post stroke aphasia in the context of cognition. They emphasize the need for better strategies to test cognition in patients with aphasia after stroke. Grech et al. tackle a difficult issue of post-stroke spatial neglect. They suggest incorporating Mobility Assessment Course (MAC) testing when evaluating spatial neglect. Marei et al. discuss the use of stem cells for enhancing recovery after stroke and highlight the need for further large clinical trials. The articles provide impact information of recovery pertaining to the elderly which will enable us in prognostication as well as designing better intervention strategies in the post-acute phase.

REFERENCES

- Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, et al. American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2017 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation.* (2017) 135:e146–603. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000 00485
- Colby SL, Ortman JM. Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population: 2014 to 2060. Current Population Reports, P25-1143. U.S. Census Bureau. Washington, DC (2014).

In summary, elderly stroke patients are a unique group requiring a multifaceted approach incorporating prevention, acute treatment and focus on recovery. In view of the growing elderly population, there is a significant need for further research to improve outcomes for these patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Khan and Silver. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Potential of Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Ischemic Stroke

Hany E. Marei^{1*}, A. Hasan², R. Rizzi³, A. Althani¹, N. Afifi⁴, C. Cenciarelli⁵, Thomas Caceci⁶ and Ashfaq Shuaib^{7,8}

¹ Biomedical Research Center, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar, ²Department of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar, ³Institute of Cell Biology and Neurobiology (IBCN), Italian National Council of Research (CNR), Rome, Italy, ⁴Qatar Biobank, Doha, Qatar, ⁵Institute of Translational Pharmacology (CNR), Roma, Italy, ⁶Biomedical Sciences, Virginia Tech Carilion School of Medicine and Research Institute, Roanoke, VA, United States, ⁷Neurosciences Institute, Academic Health System, Hamad Medical Corporation, Doha, Qatar, ⁸University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jean-Claude Baron, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Hidetoshi Kasuya, Tokyo Women's Medical University, Japan Muhib Khan, Michigan State University, United States Olivier Detante, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Grenoble, France

*Correspondence:

Hany E. Marei hany800@yahoo.com, hmady@qu.edu.qa

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> Received: 24 April 2017 Accepted: 15 January 2018 Published: 06 February 2018

Citation:

Marei HE, Hasan A, Rizzi R, Althani A, Afifi N, Cenciarelli C, Caceci T and Shuaib A (2018) Potential of Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Ischemic Stroke. Front. Neurol. 9:34. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00034 Ischemic stroke is one of the major health problems worldwide. The only FDA approved anti-thrombotic drug for acute ischemic stroke is the tissue plasminogen activator. Several studies have been devoted to assessing the therapeutic potential of different types of stem cells such as neural stem cells (NSCs), mesenchymal stem cells, embryonic stem cells, and human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived NSCs as treatments for ischemic stroke. The results of these studies are intriguing but many of them have presented conflicting results. Additionally, the mechanism(s) by which engrafted stem/progenitor cells exert their actions are to a large extent unknown. In this review, we will provide a synopsis of different preclinical and clinical studies related to the use of stem cell-based stroke therapy, and explore possible beneficial/detrimental outcomes associated with the use of different types of stem cells. Due to limited/short time window implemented in most of the recorded clinical trials about the use of stem cells as potential therapeutic intervention for stroke, further clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of the intervention in a longer time window after cellular engraftments are still needed.

Keywords: stem cell, mesenchymal stem cell, neural stem cell, induced pluripotent stem cells, ischemic stroke

INTRODUCTION

The number of stroke-related deaths is increasing and stroke remains one of the major causes of deaths and disability worldwide (1, 2). Between 1990 and 2010, the global incidence rate of stroke seemed to be stable, while other parameters such as the incidence of first stroke, prevalence of stroke, disability-adjusted life-years lost due to stroke, and the number of stroke-related deaths increased by 68, 84, 12, and 26%, respectively (1). Differences between rates and numbers might reflect variations in population structure, increase in life expectancy, and the global improvement of health care services.

Two main types of stroke are recognized: ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke. Ischemic stroke accounts for over 80% of the total number of strokes. Thrombolysis and/or thrombectomy is the only validated therapeutic strategy for ischemic stroke (3, 4). Neurorestorative stem cell-based therapy is currently a major priority for stroke research (5, 6). Following ischemic events an inflammatory cascade, is initiated eventually leading to damage of brain tissue.

DIFFERENT CELLULAR SOURCES USED FOR STEM CELL-BASED THERAPY OF STROKE

The drastic damage to brain tissues following ischemic stroke includes not only destruction of a heterogeneous population of brain cell types, but also major disruption of neuronal connections and vascular systems. Several types of stem/progenitor cells such as embryonic stem cells (ESCs), neural stem/precursor cells, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and induced neurons have been assessed as potential cellular-based therapy for stroke. The results of studies of these different cellular types are conflicting. In some studies, the engrafted cells survived, proliferated, differentiated, and restored lost neuronal and vascular elements. Other studies have shown only a limited neurorestorative ability on the part of transplanted cells. In the next section of this review, we elaborate on different stem cell types used for cellular-based therapy of stroke (**Figure 1**).



iPSCs can be used in personalized drug discovery and to understand and deepen the patient-specific basis of disease (7-10).

EMBRYONIC STEM CELLS

Derived from the inner mass of blastocysts, ESCs are pluripotent cells having the ability to differentiate into all other body cells except those of the placenta (11). The regenerative capacity of ESC in stroke is related to their ability to give rise to different neuronal and glial elements forming the brain tissues (i.e., neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes) (12). Engrafted murine ESCs in cerebral tissue in an ischemic mouse model migrated toward damaged brain areas in the opposite cerebral hemisphere, restored histological and behavioral deficits (13), and repaired damaged synaptic connections associated with stroke lesions (14).

NEURAL STEM/PRECURSOR CELLS

Neural stem cells (NSCs) are multipotent cells residing mainly in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (15), and in the subventricular zone of the brain's third ventricle (16). The NSCs move from the subventricular zone into the rostral migratory stream and thence to the olfactory bulb where they differentiate into interneurons. Currently, NSCs are a hot research area for neurobiologists. Their ability to differentiate into different neuronal and glial elements that form the CNS make them a promising candidate for restoration of neuronal and behavioral damages associated with different CNS disorders including stroke.

The first attempt to use NSC for cell-based therapy of brain hypoxia was conducted in 1984 when embryonic brain cortex tissue was engrafted in a rat hypoxia model. The transplanted cells proliferated, established connections with host neurons, and improved electrophysiological performance (17, 18).

Embryonic NSCs engrafted into ischemic rat brains survived, migrated to the ischemic lesion, maturing into neurons (19, 20) as well as astrocytes and microglia (21); they restored impaired sensorimotor and spatial learning functions (22). In a macaque stroke model, engrafted NSCs partially differentiated into neurons, and survived up to 105 days (23).

MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

Mesenchymal stem cells can be derived from several tissue sources, including bone marrow, placenta, muscle, skin, dental pulp, adipose tissue, umbilical cord, and Wharton's jelly (24, 25). The therapeutic potential of bone marrow MSC (BMSC) for stroke has been extensively assessed both at the preclinical and clinical levels. In an animal stroke model, transplantation of BMSC enhanced sensorimotor function (26), promoted synaptogenesis, stimulated nerve regeneration (27), decreased tissue plasminogen activator-induced brain damage (28), and mediated immunomodulatory effects (29).

At the clinical level, BMSCs appeared to be an attractive alternative that avoided ethical concerns related to the used of fetal cells. Several studies have revealed the feasibility and safety of BMSCs in clinical practice (30-32).

Reprogramming of somatic cells such as fibroblasts and peripheral blood mononuclear cells through transduction of defined transcriptional factors (Oct3/4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc) is currently becoming a standardized protocol (33, 34). The therapeutic potential of iPSCs in treating various CNS diseases (including stroke) has been addressed in previous studies (35). In comparison with ESCs, iPSCs have the advantage of sparing the damage induced by immune rejection, and avoiding the moral issue associated with the use of embryonic tissues (36). Engraftment of iPSCs in a cerebral ischemia model reduced infarct volume, ameliorated the neurological outcomes, and improved short-term sensorimotor recovery (37). Unfortunately, following engraftment, iPSCs formed teratomas in mouse brains (38, 39). The high propensity of iPSCs for teratoma formation is attributed to the expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and phosphorylated vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (40).

One of the promising strategy for the use of iPSC to treat stroke is their ability to differentiate into NSC. Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem cells (iNSCs) are expected to provide multipotent, autologous cells for stroke cellular-based therapy. In ischemic pig stroke model, implantation of iPSC-derived iNSC was associated with improved recovery. Several mechanisms have been reported to play a role in the observed improvement including cell replacement, and neuroprotection. Others changes have been demonstrated based on the use of longitudinal multiparametric magnetic resonance imaging. These include reduction in the changes of brain metabolism, cerebral blood infusion, and integrity of the white matter. Such tissue recovery in review 8 was primarily attributed to alleviation of negative immune response, activation of neurogenesis, and enhanced neuronal protection. These observation strongly support the importance of iNSCs as a promising cellular source to be used for cell-based therapy of human stroke (41).

TUMOREGINIC POTENTIAL OF PLURIPOTENT CELLS

One of the major concern for the use of pluripotent stem cells (including ESCs and iPSCs) for treatment of ischemic brain injury is their potential to develop a tumor following engraftment. Several studies have reported the tumorigenic transformation of iPSC (38, 40, 42, 43) following their in transplantation. The existence of a small number of undifferentiated iPSCs even after prolonged differentiation of iPSC in vitro may trigger the formation of teratoma in vivo, and pose a great risk against their clinical application (44). Other factors might also contribute to the tumorigenic potential of iPSC including the transcriptional factors and virus vectors used during iPSC induction (45, 46). The role of the four Yamanaka reprogramming factors (Klf4, c-Myc, Oct4, and Sox2) in induction of teratoma had been suggested by some authors, and they were found to be strongly expressed in iPSC-derived tumors (38). The four factors have been demonstrated to be highly expressed in various cancer types (47-49), and MYC has been demonstrated to be a well-documented oncogene (50, 51). The expression of aforementioned genes has been associated with poor prognosis, and tumor progression (52). The role of these transcription factors in the tumorigenic potential of iPSC has been indirectly demonstrated where inhibition of the tumor suppressors in the p53 pathway was found to increase the reprogramming ability of Oct4, Klf4, and Sox2 (53). Elimination of the "unsafe" undifferentiated residual cells has been suggested to guard against the development of iPSC-associated teratoma. Toward this aim, several strategies such as magnetic-activated cell sorting and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (54) have been used. Other strategies to mitigate potential tumorigenic potential of engrafted pluripotent cells include the use of cytotoxic antibodies such as mAb 84 (55), use of virus-free iPSCs, and encapsulation of pluripotent stem cell-derived grafts (56) were also effective.

IMMUNOGENICITY OF STEM CELL-BASED THERAPY FOR STROKE

The potential of allogeneic stem cells in the treatment of stroke has been highlighted before. Savitz et al. (57) have tested the potential of fetal porcine in transplantation in patients with basal ganglia infarcts and stable neurological deficits. In a trial to suppress the immunorejection of the transplanted cells, patients were pretreated with anti-MHC1 antibodies with no immunosuppressive drugs. No adverse effects have been observed, while the fourth patient exhibited a deterioration in motor functions deficits 3 weeks after transplantation. Other side effects that might indicate rejection of engrafted cells were shown in the fifth patients who have developed seizures 1 week after transplantation. The study was terminated by the FDA after the inclusion of five patients. This study was the first that pointed out to the potential use of non-tumor cells in ischemic stroke patients.

MECHANISM OF ACTION OF STEM CELL-BASED THERAPY FOR STROKE

The potential mechanism(s) by which different types of engrafted stem cells help to restore lost neuronal function after stroke are still a matter of dispute. Several mechanisms have been demonstrated including cell replacement, trophic influences, immunomodulation, and enhancement of endogenous repair processes.

The mechanism by which the engrafted BMSCs exerts their beneficial actions is still under investigation. Whether or not the improvement occurred following transplantation of BMSCs is a primary concern, but their ability to replace dead or damaged neuronal and glial elements still needs further confirmation.

Release of soluble trophic factors and cytokines is suggested as one major mechanism by which NSC bring about improvement in post-stroke neurological function (58). A wide array of trophic and growth factors has been reported to be released from endogenous cells such as astrocytes and endothelial cells (59). These include VEGF/Flk1 and Ang-1/Tie2 (60), BDNF, nerve growth factor, VEGF, IGF-1, hepatocyte growth factor, and GDNF. These factors promote angiogenesis, stabilize vasculature, enhance cell survival proliferation and differentiation, promote neurogenesis, effect endogenous cell repair, trigger neuroblast proliferation, and trigger migration from SVZ and decreased apoptosis (61).

CELL REPLACEMENT

Cell replacement involves the ability of engrafted cells to migrate, survive, proliferate, and finally differentiate into the various types of cells forming nervous tissue histo-architecture. These include neurons of different classes, oligodendrocytes (the myelin forming cells), and astrocytes. Following stroke or other neurological insults/disorders several neurodegenerative and inflammatory pathways are activated creating an inhospitable environment for engrafted cells. Astrocytes usually respond by extensive proliferation and formation of a glial scar (62) which renders the damaged area unsuitable for engrafted exogenous cells.

Based on the initial number of cells engrafted and the route of administration, the necessary first step in restoring damaged cellular elements following stroke is the migration of transplanted cells to damaged brain regions. This is usually achieved through the ability of engrafted stem/progenitors cells to target damaged regions (63) in response to different chemotactic signals of specific cytokines, such as the vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, stromal-derived factor 1, monocyte chemotactic protein-1, chemokine (C–C motif) ligand 2 (21).

CLINICAL TRIALS

In a recent meta-analysis of stem cell therapies for patients with brain ischemia, Chen et al. (64) concluded that stem cell therapy significantly enhanced neurological functions and quality of life, but more investigation is required to provide more evidence to support clinical application of stem cell transplantation (64, 65).

In a very recent clinical trial, the safety and efficacy of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells transplantation in stroke patients were assessed. The study suggests that a higher dose of BM-MNC (3×10^6 or more) provided a better outcome in stroke patients (66).

In another recent clinical trial, improved neurological function with no tumor formation or adverse events was demonstrated following engraftment of an immortalized human neural stem-cell line (67).

A double-blind randomized placebo-controlled Phase III confirmatory clinical trial of intravenous infusion of autologous NSC derived from bone marrow of stroke patients resulting from cerebral infarction is currently under way (68).

To evaluate the safety and clinical outcomes of surgical transplantation of modified bone marrow-derived MSCs, cells were engrafted in 18 patients with stable, chronic stroke. This therapeutic paradigm was proven to be safe, and was associated with improvement in clinical outcome end points after 12 months (69). Nagpal et al. (70) investigated the use of autologous stem cell therapy for stroke survivors with chronic disability. The primary outcomes to be measured are safety and feasibility of intracranial administration of autologous human adult DPSC in patients with chronic stroke; as well as determination of the maximum tolerable dose in humans. Secondary outcomes to be assessed include estimation of the measures of effectiveness required to design a future Phase 2/3 clinical trial (70).

In summary, the conclusions of several preclinical studies have encouraged the translation of stem cell-based therapies

at the clinical level. Several clinical studies related to the use of different types of stem cells for cell-based therapy of stroke have been conducted since 2005 using MSCs (30), MNC (32, 71), and NSCs (57, 72).

ONGOING CLINICAL TRIALS

To the best of our knowledge, there are currently more than 53 clinical trials on the use of stem cell-based therapy for stroke. Most of them use MSCs isolated from different body tissues: umbilical cord, endometrial polyps, menstrual blood, adipose tissue, and bone marrow (73). Although use of autologous MSCs is the method of choice to guard against immune rejection, the long time frame needed to obtain sufficient numbers of MSCs from the patient's own tissue (i.e., bone marrow), makes the use of "off-the-shelf" allogeneic MSC therapy more convenient. Manipulation of MScs to overexpress genes with potentially beneficial properties and the ability to rapidly release different trophic factors was found to enhance their therapeutic potential and effects (74). Administration of multipotent adult progenitor cells was safe and well tolerated in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Although no significant improvement was observed at 90 days in neurological outcomes with multipotent adult progenitor cells treatment, further clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of the intervention in an earlier time window after stroke (<36 h) are planned (75).

Different routes of administration have been used to deliver stem cells into the stroke patients, namely intra-arterial, intravenous, and intraparenchymal routs. An early subacute delivery of cells to reduce acute tissue injury and modify the tissue environment in a direction favorable to reparative processes (for example, by being anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptotic, and encouraging endogenous stem cell mobilization); the other exploring later delivery of cells during the recovery phase after stroke to modulate the local environment in favor of angiogenesis and neurogenesis. The former approach has generally investigated intravenous or intra-arterial delivery of cells with an expected paracrine mode of action and no expected engraftment within the brain. The latter has explored direct intracerebral implantation adjacent to the infarct. Several relevant trials have been conducted, including two controlled trials of intravenously delivered bone marrow-derived cells in the early subacute stage, and two small single-arm phase 1 trials of intracerebrally implanted cells (76).

REFERENCES

- Feigin VL, Forouzanfar MH, Krishnamurthi R, Mensah GA, Connor M, Bennett DA, et al. Global and regional burden of stroke during 1990–2010: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* (2014) 383:245–55. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61953-4
- Johnston SC, Mendis S, Mathers CD. Global variation in stroke burden and mortality: estimates from monitoring, surveillance, and modelling. *Lancet Neurol* (2009) 8:345–54. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70023-7
- 3. Del Zoppo GJ, Saver JL, Jauch EC, Adams HP. Expansion of the time window for treatment of acute ischemic stroke with intravenous tissue plasminogen activator a science advisory from the American Heart Association/

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND CONCLUSION

Stem-based therapy for ischemic stroke is still in its infancy. Several alternative approaches including the use of ESCs, MSCs, NSC, and iPSCs have been tried in hopes of improving the drastic neuronal and functional impairment that usually follows a stroke insult. The outcomes of various preclinical studies have been encouraging, with (in most cases) engrafted stem cells succeeding in bringing about neurofunctional improvements. The mechanism(s) by which different types of stem cells induce improvement are still under investigation. Cell replacement, bystander effects, neurotrophic influence, immune and inflammatory modulation are all among the suggested mechanisms. At the clinical level, most of the clinical trials have used MSCs or NSCs (whether wild-type, genetically modified to overexpress certain neurotrophic genes, or preconditioned with the intent to promote cell survival and differentiation following transplantation) engrafted into an ischemic brain region. Autologous cells (mostly bone marrow-derived MSCs) are used in most of the ongoing clinical trials, although there is a current trend that favors the use of "off-the-shelf" allogeneic MSC as a way to overcome the long time frame needed to obtain sufficient numbers of cells for transplant. Most current clinical trials aim to measure the safety and feasibility of intravascular and/or intracranial administration of autologous/allogeneic human adult stem cells in patients with chronic stroke and to determine the maximum tolerable dose. Secondary outcomes include estimation of the measures of effectiveness required to design a future Phase 2/3 clinical trial.

ETHICAL STATEMENT

This article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ME: study concept and design. HA, AA, and AN: analysis and interpretation. RR: acquisition of data. CC and TC: critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. AS: study supervision.

FUNDING

This project is funded by Qatar University Grant # GCC-2017-004.

American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2009) 40:2945–8. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.192535

- Saver JL, Goyal M, Van der Lugt A, Menon BK, Majoie CB, Dippel DW, et al. Time to treatment with endovascular thrombectomy and outcomes from ischemic stroke: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* (2016) 316:1279–88. doi:10.1001/ jama.2016.13647
- Grotta JC, Jacobs TP, Koroshetz WJ, Moskowitz MA. Stroke program review group an interim report. *Stroke* (2008) 39:1364–70. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.107.510776
- Zhang ZG, Chopp M. Neurorestorative therapies for stroke: underlying mechanisms and translation to the clinic. *Lancet Neurol* (2009) 8:491–500. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70061-4

- Bliss T, Guzman R, Daadi M, Steinberg GK. Cell transplantation therapy for stroke. Stroke (2007) 38:817–26. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000247888.25985.62
- Hao L, Zou Z, Tian H, Zhang Y, Zhou H, Liu L. Stem cell-based therapies for ischemic stroke. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:468748. doi:10.1155/2014/468748
- Zakhem M, Yawno T, Jenkin G, Miller S. Stem cell therapy to protect and repair the developing brain: a review of mechanisms of action of cord blood and amnion epithelial derived cells. *Front Neurosci* (2013) 7:194. doi:10.3389/ fnins.2013.00194
- Zents K, Copray S. The therapeutic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells after stroke: evidence from rodent models. *Curr Stem Cell Res Ther* (2016) 11:166–74. doi:10.2174/1574888X10666150728121324
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science* (1998) 282:1145–7. doi:10.1126/science.282.5391.1145
- Wichterle H, Lieberam I, Porter JA, Jessell TM. Directed differentiation of embryonic stem cells into motor neurons. *Cell* (2002) 110:385–97. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(02)00835-8
- Nagai N, Kawao N, Okada K, Okumoto K, Teramura T, Ueshima S, et al. Systemic transplantation of embryonic stem cells accelerates brain lesion decrease and angiogenesis. *Neuroreport* (2010) 21:575–9. doi:10.1097/ WNR.0b013e32833a7d2c
- Tae-Hoon L, Yoon-Seok L. Transplantation of mouse embryonic stem cell after middle cerebral artery occlusion. *Acta Cirúrgica Brasileira* (2012) 27:333–9. doi:10.1590/S0102-86502012000400009
- Toda H, Takahashi J, Iwakami N, Kimura T, Hoki S, Mozumi-Kitamura K, et al. Grafting neural stem cells improved the impaired spatial recognition in ischemic rats. *Neurosci Lett* (2001) 316:9–12. doi:10.1016/S0304-3940(01) 02331-X
- Ishibashi S, Sakaguchi M, Kuroiwa T, Yamasaki M, Kanemura Y, Shizuko I, et al. Human neural stem/progenitor cells, expanded in long-term neurosphere culture, promote functional recovery after focal ischemia in Mongolian gerbils. J Neurosci Res (2004) 78:215–23. doi:10.1002/jnr.20246
- Polezhaev L, Alexandrova M. Transplantation of embryonic brain tissue into the brain of adult rats after hypoxic hypoxia. J Hirnforsch (1983) 25:99–106.
- Polezhaev L, Alexandrova M, Vitvitsky V, Girman S, Golovina I. Morphological, biochemical and physiological changes in brain nervous tissue of adult intact and hypoxia-subjected rats after transplantation of embryonic nervous tissue. *J Hirnforsch* (1984) 26:281–9.
- Darsalia V, Kallur T, Kokaia Z. Survival, migration and neuronal differentiation of human fetal striatal and cortical neural stem cells grafted in stroke-damaged rat striatum. *Eur J Neurosci* (2007) 26:605–14. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05702.x
- Takahashi K, Yasuhara T, Shingo T, Muraoka K, Kameda M, Takeuchi A, et al. Embryonic neural stem cells transplanted in middle cerebral artery occlusion model of rats demonstrated potent therapeutic effects, compared to adult neural stem cells. *Brain Res* (2008) 1234:172–82. doi:10.1016/j. brainres.2008.07.086
- Guzman R, Bliss T, De Los Angeles A, Moseley M, Palmer T, Steinberg G. Neural progenitor cells transplanted into the uninjured brain undergo targeted migration after stroke onset. *J Neurosci Res* (2008) 86:873–82. doi:10.1002/ jnr.21542
- 22. Mine Y, Tatarishvili J, Oki K, Monni E, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O. Grafted human neural stem cells enhance several steps of endogenous neurogenesis and improve behavioral recovery after middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Neurobiol Dis* (2013) 52:191–203. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2012.12.006
- Roitberg BZ, Mangubat E, Chen E-Y, Sugaya K, Thulborn KR, Kordower JH, et al. Survival and early differentiation of human neural stem cells transplanted in a nonhuman primate model of stroke. *J Neurosurg* (2006) 105:96–102. doi:10.3171/jns.2006.105.1.96
- Honmou O, Onodera R, Sasaki M, Waxman SG, Kocsis JD. Mesenchymal stem cells: therapeutic outlook for stroke. *Trends Mol Med* (2012) 18:292–7. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2012.02.003
- Sanberg PR, Eve DJ, Metcalf C, Borlongan CV. Advantages and challenges of alternative sources of adult-derived stem cells for brain repair in stroke. *Prog Brain Res* (2011) 201:99–117. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-59544-7.00006-8
- Huang W, Mo X, Qin C, Zheng J, Liang Z, Zhang C. Transplantation of differentiated bone marrow stromal cells promotes motor functional recovery in rats with stroke. *Neurol Res* (2013) 35:320–8. doi:10.1179/17431328 12Y.0000000151

- Tohill M, Mantovani C, Wiberg M, Terenghi G. Rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells express glial markers and stimulate nerve regeneration. *Neurosci Lett* (2004) 362:200–3. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2004.03.077
- Liu Z, Li Y, Zhang L, Xin H, Cui Y, Hanson LR, et al. Subacute intranasal administration of tissue plasminogen activator increases functional recovery and axonal remodeling after stroke in rats. *Neurobiol Dis* (2012) 45:804–9. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.11.004
- Yoo KH, Jang IK, Lee MW, Kim HE, Yang MS, Eom Y, et al. Comparison of immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult human tissues. *Cell Immunol* (2009) 259:150–6. doi:10.1016/j. cellimm.2009.06.010
- Bang OY, Lee JS, Lee PH, Lee G. Autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in stroke patients. Ann Neurol (2005) 57:874–82. doi:10.1002/ana.20501
- Lee JS, Hong JM, Moon GJ, Lee PH, Ahn YH, Bang OY. A long-term follow-up study of intravenous autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with ischemic stroke. *Stem Cells* (2010) 28:1099–106. doi:10.1002/ stem.430
- 32. Suárez-Monteagudo C, Hernández-Ramírez P, Álvarez-González L, García-Maeso I, de la Cuétara-Bernal K, Castillo-Díaz L, et al. Autologous bone marrow stem cell neurotransplantation in stroke patients. An open study. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* (2009) 27:151–61. doi:10.3233/RNN-2009-0483
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell* (2007) 131:861–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* (2006) 126:663–76. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024
- Ito D, Okano H, Suzuki N. Accelerating progress in induced pluripotent stem cell research for neurological diseases. *Ann Neurol* (2012) 72:167–74. doi:10.1002/ana.23596
- Abe K, Yamashita T, Takizawa S, Kuroda S, Kinouchi H, Kawahara N. Stem cell therapy for cerebral ischemia: from basic science to clinical applications. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2012) 32:1317–31. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2011.187
- Chen S-J, Chang C-M, Tsai S-K, Chang Y-L, Chou S-J, Huang S-S, et al. Functional improvement of focal cerebral ischemia injury by subdural transplantation of induced pluripotent stem cells with fibrin glue. *Stem Cells Dev* (2010) 19:1757–67. doi:10.1089/scd.2009.0452
- Kawai H, Yamashita T, Ohta Y, Deguchi K, Nagotani S, Zhang X, et al. Tridermal tumorigenesis of induced pluripotent stem cells transplanted in ischemic brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2010) 30:1487–93. doi:10.1038/ jcbfm.2010.32
- Miura K, Okada Y, Aoi T, Okada A, Takahashi K, Okita K, et al. Variation in the safety of induced pluripotent stem cell lines. *Nat Biotechnol* (2009) 27:743–5. doi:10.1038/nbt.1554
- Yamashita T, Kawai H, Tian F, Ohta Y, Abe K. Tumorigenic development of induced pluripotent stem cells in ischemic mouse brain. *Cell Transplant* (2011) 20:883–91. doi:10.3727/096368910X539092
- Baker EW, Platt SR, Lau VW, Grace HE, Holmes SP, Wang L, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem cell therapy enhances recovery in an ischemic stroke pig model. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:10075. doi:10.1038/ s41598-017-10406-x
- Fong CY, Gauthaman K, Bongso A. Teratomas from pluripotent stem cells: a clinical hurdle. J Cell Biochem (2010) 111:769–81. doi:10.1002/jcb.22775
- Ghosh Z, Huang M, Hu S, Wilson KD, Dey D, Wu JC. Dissecting the oncogenic and tumorigenic potential of differentiated human induced pluripotent stem cells and human embryonic stem cells. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:5030–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4402
- Fu W, Wang SJ, Zhou GD, Liu W, Cao Y, Zhang WJ. Residual undifferentiated cells during differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells in vitro and in vivo. *Stem Cells Dev* (2011) 21:521–9. doi:10.1089/scd.2011.0131
- Sun N, Longaker MT, Wu JC. Human iPS cell-based therapy: considerations before clinical applications. *Cell Cycle* (2010) 9:880–5. doi:10.4161/cc.9.5.10827
- Yang S, Lin G, Tan YQ, Zhou D, Deng LY, Cheng DH, et al. Tumor progression of culture-adapted human embryonic stem cells during long-term culture. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* (2008) 47:665–79. doi:10.1002/gcc.20574
- Asadi MH, Mowla SJ, Fathi F, Aleyasin A, Asadzadeh J, Atlasi Y. OCT4B1, a novel spliced variant of OCT4, is highly expressed in gastric cancer and acts as an antiapoptotic factor. *Int J Cancer* (2011) 128:2645–52. doi:10.1002/ ijc.25643

- Sholl LM, Barletta JA, Yeap BY, Chirieac LR, Hornick JL. Sox2 protein expression is an independent poor prognostic indicator in stage I lung adenocarcinoma. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2010) 34:1193. doi:10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181e5e024
- Tian Y, Luo A, Cai Y, Su Q, Ding F, Chen H, et al. MicroRNA-10b promotes migration and invasion through KLF4 in human esophageal cancer cell lines. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:7986–94. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.062877
- Albihn A, Johnsen JI, Henriksson MA. MYC in oncogenesis and as a target for cancer therapies. *Adv Cancer Res* (2010) 107:163–224. doi:10.1016/ S0065-230X(10)07006-5
- Ruggero D. The role of Myc-induced protein synthesis in cancer. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:8839–43. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1970
- Schoenhals M, Kassambara A, De Vos J, Hose D, Moreaux J, Klein B. Embryonic stem cell markers expression in cancers. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) 383:157–62. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.02.156
- Marión RM, Strati K, Li H, Murga M, Blanco R, Ortega S, et al. A p53mediated DNA damage response limits reprogramming to ensure iPS cell genomic integrity. *Nature* (2009) 460:1149–53. doi:10.1038/nature08287
- 54. Fong CY, Peh GS, Gauthaman K, Bongso A. Separation of SSEA-4 and TRA-1–60 labelled undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells from a heterogeneous cell population using magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS) and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS). *Stem Cell Rev Rep* (2009) 5:72–80. doi:10.1007/s12015-009-9054-4
- Choo AB, Tan HL, Ang SN, Fong WJ, Chin A, Lo J, et al. Selection against undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells by a cytotoxic antibody recognizing podocalyxin-like protein-1. *Stem Cells* (2008) 26:1454–63. doi:10.1634/ stemcells.2007-0576
- Dean SK, Yulyana Y, Williams G, Sidhu KS, Tuch BE. Differentiation of encapsulated embryonic stem cells after transplantation. *Transplantation* (2006) 82:1175–84. doi:10.1097/01.tp.0000239518.23354.64
- Savitz SI, Dinsmore J, Wu J, Henderson GV, Stieg P, Caplan LR. Neurotransplantation of fetal porcine cells in patients with basal ganglia infarcts: a preliminary safety and feasibility study. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (2005) 20:101–7. doi:10.1159/000086518
- Smith EJ, Stroemer RP, Gorenkova N, Nakajima M, Crum WR, Tang E, et al. Implantation site and lesion topology determine efficacy of a human neural stem cell line in a rat model of chronic stroke. *Stem Cells* (2012) 30:785–96. doi:10.1002/stem.1024
- Shen L, Li Y, Chopp M. Astrocytic endogenous glial cell derived neurotrophic factor production is enhanced by bone marrow stromal cell transplantation in the ischemic boundary zone after stroke in adult rats. *Glia* (2010) 58:1074–81. doi:10.1002/glia.20988
- Zacharek A, Chen J, Cui X, Li A, Li Y, Roberts C, et al. Angiopoietin1/Tie2 and VEGF/Flk1 induced by MSC treatment amplifies angiogenesis and vascular stabilization after stroke. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2007) 27:1684–91. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600475
- Chen J, Li Y, Wang L, Lu M, Zhang X, Chopp M. Therapeutic benefit of intracerebral transplantation of bone marrow stromal cells after cerebral ischemia in rats. J Neurol Sci (2001) 189:49–57. doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(01)00557-3
- Bühnemann C, Scholz A, Bernreuther C, Malik CY, Braun H, Schachner M, et al. Neuronal differentiation of transplanted embryonic stem cell-derived precursors in stroke lesions of adult rats. *Brain* (2006) 129:3238–48. doi:10.1093/brain/awl261
- De Feo D, Merlini A, Laterza C, Martino G. Neural stem cell transplantation in central nervous system disorders: from cell replacement to neuroprotection. *Curr Opin Neurol* (2012) 25:322–33. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e328352ec45
- Chen L, Zhang G, Khan AA, Guo X, Gu Y. Clinical efficacy and meta-analysis of stem cell therapies for patients with brain ischemia. *Stem Cells Int* (2016) 2016:6129579. doi:10.1155/2016/6129579

- Detante O, Moisan A, Hommel M, Jaillard A. Controlled clinical trials of cell therapy in stroke: meta-analysis at six months after treatment. *Int J Stroke* (2017) 12(7):748–51. doi:10.1177/1747493017696098
- 66. Moniche F, Rosado-de-Castro PH, Escudero I, Zapata E, de la Torre Laviana FJ, Mendez-Otero R, et al. Increasing dose of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells transplantation is related to stroke outcome: results from a pooled analysis of two clinical trials. *Stem Cells Int* (2016) 2016:8. doi:10.1155/2016/8657173
- Kalladka D, Sinden J, Pollock K, Haig C, McLean J, Smith W, et al. Human neural stem cells in patients with chronic ischaemic stroke (PISCES): a phase 1, first-in-man study. *Lancet* (2016) 388:787–96. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30513-X
- Honmou O. Phase III clinical trial using autologous mesenchymal stem cells for stroke patients. *Nihon rinsho* (2016) 74(4):649–54.
- Steinberg GK, Kondziolka D, Wechsler LR, Lunsford LD, Coburn ML, Billigen JB, et al. Clinical outcomes of transplanted modified bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells in stroke: a phase 1/2a study. *Stroke* (2016) 47(7):1817–24. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.012995
- Nagpal A, Kremer KL, Hamilton-Bruce MA, Kaidonis X, Milton AG, Levi C, et al. TOOTH (the open study of dental pulp stem cell therapy in humans): study protocol for evaluating safety and feasibility of autologous human adult dental pulp stem cell therapy in patients with chronic disability after stroke. *Int J Stroke* (2016) 11:575–85. doi:10.1177/1747493016641111
- Battistella V, de Freitas GR, da Fonseca LMB, Mercante D, Gutfilen B, Goldenberg RC, et al. Safety of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell transplantation in patients with nonacute ischemic stroke. *Regen Med* (2011) 6:45–52. doi:10.2217/rme.10.97
- Qiao L-Y, Huang F-J, Zhao M, Xie J-H, Shi J, Wang J, et al. A two-year follow-up study of cotransplantation with neural stem/progenitor cells and mesenchymal stromal cells in ischemic stroke patients. *Cell Transplant* (2014) 23:S65–72. doi:10.3727/096368914X684961
- 73. Yang B, Migliati E, Parsha K, Schaar K, Xi X, Aronowski J, et al. Intra-arterial delivery is not superior to intravenous delivery of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cells in acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke* (2013) 44:3463–72. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.000821
- Bakondi B, Shimada IS, Perry A, Munoz JR, Ylostalo J, Howard AB, et al. CD133 identifies a human bone marrow stem/progenitor cell sub-population with a repertoire of secreted factors that protect against stroke. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17:1938–47. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.185
- Hess DC, Wechsler LR, Clark WM, Savitz SI, Ford GA, Chiu D, et al. Safety and efficacy of multipotent adult progenitor cells in acute ischaemic stroke (MASTERS): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2017) 16:360–8. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30046-7
- Muir KW. Clinical trial design for stem cell therapies in stroke: what have we learned? *Neurochem Int* (2017) 106:108–13. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2016. 09.011

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Marei, Hasan, Rizzi, Althani, Afifi, Cenciarelli, Caceci and Shuaib. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Endovascular Treatment of Anterior Circulation Large Vessel Occlusion in the Elderly

Mahesh V. Jayaraman^{1,2,3,4*} and Ryan A. McTaggart^{1,2,3,4}

¹ Department of Diagnostic Imaging, Warren Alpert School of Medicine at Brown University, Providence, RI, United States,

²Department of Neurology, Warren Alpert School of Medicine at Brown University, Providence, RI, United States,

³Department of Neurosurgery, Warren Alpert School of Medicine at Brown University, Providence, RI, United States,

⁴ The Norman Prince Neuroscience Institute, Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, RI, United States

Endovascular treatment of anterior circulation large vessel occlusion in the elderly population presents special challenges and opportunities. In this review, we discuss the published literature regarding thrombectomy in elderly patients and also discuss specific issues related to treatment in this patient population. In summary, while the overall outcomes following thrombectomy in elderly patients are worse than following thrombectomy in younger patients, there appears to be a similar benefit as in young patients. While there are challenges with successfully delivering thrombectomy in older patients, age alone should not be an independent exclusion from thrombectomy.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bruce Campbell, University of Melbourne, Australia

Reviewed by:

Christian H. Nolte, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Benjamin B. Clissold, Monash University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Mahesh V. Jayaraman mjayaraman@lifespan.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 26 August 2017 Accepted: 11 December 2017 Published: 19 January 2018

Citation:

Jayaraman MV and McTaggart RA (2018) Endovascular Treatment of Anterior Circulation Large Vessel Occlusion in the Elderly. Front. Neurol. 8:713. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00713 Keywords: stroke, large vessel occlusion, thrombectomy, elderly, intervention

INTRODUCTION

Acute ischemic stroke caused by large vessel occlusion (LVO) in the anterior circulation is the leading cause of adult disability in the developed world. Until recently, the only therapy proven to improve outcomes for all ischemic stroke patients was the intravenous (IV) administration of tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), which can be administered up to 4.5 h from the onset of symptoms or when the patient was last known normal. Unfortunately, those strokes caused by occlusion of the large intracranial vessels, such as the internal carotid artery (ICA) and proximal middle cerebral artery (MCA), had low rates of response to IV tPA, and subsequently, poor outcomes (1).

The next revolution in stroke began in 2015, when five randomized trials all showed that rapid mechanical thrombectomy, primarily using stent-retriever devices, significantly improves outcomes in anterior circulation (ICA and MCA) LVO stroke patients (2–7). Even more striking was the absolute magnitude of benefit, with a number needed to treat as low as 2.5 to have one patient be less disabled (8, 9). Few, if any, therapies in medicine can approach that level of benefit. Recently, the benefit of thrombectomy has been shown to extend out to 24 h, in patients with a favorable imaging profile (10).

The application of this highly effective therapy to the older population presents unique challenges, however. The incidence of stroke is higher in the older population (11), and it is likely that we will encounter this issue with increasing frequency in daily clinical practice. In this review, we will highlight these issues in the aging population. We will focus on LVO in the anterior circulation, predominantly in the ICA or MCA.

CURRENT LITERATURE—IS THERE A BENEFIT FOR THE ELDERLY?

Single Armed Trials of Treatment

Several single and multicenter case series have been published examining the question of whether there is a benefit of treatment in the elderly (12–16). Sallustio and colleagues compared the outcomes between patients younger than 80 and those 80 and older, in a series of 239 patients. They found no significant differences in clinical outcomes at 90 days with 34.3% of young patients achieving independence (modified Rankin score 0–2) compared with 30.6% of the older group (14). While overall mortality was higher in the older cohort (40.3 vs. 29.2%), the neurologic related mortality was lower in the older group (14.5 vs. 21%), suggesting a larger number of preexisting comorbidities. By contrast, in the multicenter NASA registry, only 27.3% of patients 80 or older achieved independence at 90 days, compared with 45.4% for the younger group (17), suggesting worse outcomes in the older group.

Singer evaluated 362 patients in the multicenter ENDO-STROKE registry and showed a significant dependence of age on outcomes. Only 17% of patients in the oldest quartile (77–94 years old) achieved independence at 90 days, compared with 37% in those 69–67 years old, 47% in the 57- to 68-year-old group, and 60% in those younger than 57. In addition, there was an increasing rate of poor outcome despite recanalization with age, reaching 53% in the oldest age group. They suggested that medical comorbidities, procedural issues such as tortuous anatomy, the use of general anesthesia, and impaired collaterals all played a role in these observed poor outcomes (18). Shi also showed that in a pooled analysis of the MERCI, TREVO, and TREVO 2 trials, increasing age was a strong predictor of poor outcome (19).

Khan and colleagues examined the impact of treatment on nonagenarians, compared with the younger cohort (12). They did show a much lower rate of good outcome in the nonagenarians, with only 11.1% mRs 0-2 at 90 days vs. 48% in the younger cohort, but they acknowledge a higher baseline level of disability in the older group and suggest that there may be a role for therapy in nonagenarians with good prestroke functional status. Recently, Imahori et al. examined the benefit of complete recanalization (TICI 3) vs. incomplete recanalization (TICI 0-2b) in a series of 80 patients, dichotomized by age \geq 80 vs. <80 years (15). They found that independence at 90 days (mRs 0-2) was 65% in the older cohort and 68% in the younger cohort, when TICI 3 recanalization was achieved, and 21 vs. 45% for TICI 0-2b in the older and younger cohorts, respectively. This would suggest that perhaps, with complete recanalization, older patients can achieve similar rates of functional independence.

A meta-analysis by Duffis examined this specific issue and found higher rates of symptomatic intracranial hemorrhage and lower rates of good functional outcome in patients older than 80 (20). However, while they included a total of 8 studies with 2,279 patients, there was extreme heterogeneity in the endovascular treatment methods, and most patients were not treated with modern stent-retriever or aspiration devices. In summary, most single armed trials of thrombectomy in anterior circulation stroke show worse outcomes with older age as compared with younger cohorts.

Randomized Trials of Thrombectomy

However, all of the aforementioned series were reporting outcomes of patients treated with thrombectomy. What about randomization compared with medical therapy alone? Among the current generation of randomized thrombectomy trials, prespecified analysis based on an age threshold shows significant benefit in older subgroups in the ESCAPE and MR CLEAN trials (divided as 80 years or older vs. younger) and in the SWIFT-PRIME (divided as 70 years or older vs. younger) trial, with no heterogeneity of benefit. In the REVASCAT trial, there was not a difference between medical and endovascular therapy in the older subgroup, but this difference was not statistically significant. These results are summarized in Table 1. The sample size in EXTEND-IA was too small to allow for such an analysis. In HERMES, the pooled, patient level meta-analysis of these five trials, there was no difference in the benefit of thrombectomy across the entire age spectrum using a mixed methods linear regression (8). That is to say, the older patients did worse than the younger patients regardless of treatment modality, but the same degree of benefit of endovascular therapy was present throughout the age spectrum. In addition, when divided into subgroups, the adjusted common odds ratio was not significantly different among the age 50-59, 60-69, 70-79, and 80+ groups, with 218, 333, 371, and 198 patients in those groups, respectively. Similarly, even in the 6-24 h time window, the DAWN trial showed similar benefit to those less than 80 vs. 80 and older, with odds ratios of 1.9 and 2.3, respectively, for benefit with thrombectomy (10).

In summary, while older patients may have worse outcomes overall, there is no heterogeneity of treatment effect seen by age. Thrombectomy is just as effective in elderly patients as

TABLE 1 | Summary of outcomes in older patients in seven randomized trials of modern endovascular stroke thrombectomy (primarily using stent-retriever devices).

TrialPatientsOdds ratio for favorable outcomes with thrombectomyIndependence at 90 days (mRs 0–2) in older and younger groups; endovascular vs. controlMR CLEAN (6)500Age <80 years: 1.6 Age \geq 80 years: 3.2Not reported Age \geq 80 years: 3.2ESCAPE (4)316Age \leq 80 years: 3.0 Age \geq 80 years: 2.7Age \leq 80 years: 37 vs. 18% Age \geq 80 years: 0.9REVASCAT (3)206Age \leq 70 years: 2.5 Age \geq 70 years: 30.9 vs. 34.9%Age \geq 70 years: 30.9 vs. 34.9%SWIFT-PRIME (2)191Age <70 years: 1.67 Age \geq 70 years: 54 vs. 31% THRACE (7)Age <70 years: 1.67 Age <70 years: 1.5DAWN (10)206Age <80 years: 1.9 Age \geq 80 years: 2.3Age <80 years: 54 vs. 17% Age \geq 80 years: 2.3				
$\begin{array}{c ccccc} Age \geq 80 \ \mbox{years:} 3.2 \\ \mbox{ESCAPE (4)} & 316 & Age \leq 80 \ \mbox{years:} 3.0 & Age \leq 80 \ \mbox{years:} 59.3 \ \mbox{vs.} \\ Age \geq 80 \ \mbox{years:} 2.7 & 33.4\% \\ Age \geq 80 \ \mbox{years:} 2.7 & 33.4\% \\ Age \geq 80 \ \mbox{years:} 37 \ \mbox{vs.} 18\% \\ \mbox{ReVASCAT (3)} & 206 & Age \leq 70 \ \mbox{years:} 2.5 & Age \leq 70 \ \mbox{years:} 52.5 \ \mbox{vs.} \\ Age \geq 70 \ \mbox{years:} 0.9 & 23.3\% \\ Age \geq 70 \ \mbox{years:} 30.9 \ \mbox{vs.} \\ 34.9\% \\ \mbox{SWIFT-PRIME (2)} & 191 & Age < 70 \ \mbox{years:} 1.67 & Age < 70 \ \mbox{years:} 65 \ \mbox{vs.} 40\% \\ Age \geq 70 \ \mbox{years:} 1.78 & Age \geq 70 \ \mbox{years:} 54 \ \mbox{vs.} 31\% \\ \mbox{THRACE (7)} & 402 & Age < 70 \ \mbox{years:} 1.6 & Not \ \mbox{reported} \\ Age \geq 70 \ \mbox{years:} 1.5 \\ \mbox{DAWN (10)} & 206 & Age < 80 \ \mbox{years:} 1.9 & Age < 80 \ \mbox{years:} 54 \ \mbox{vs.} 17\% \\ \end{array}$	Trial	Patients	for favorable outcomes with	and younger groups;
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MR CLEAN (6)	500	° ,	Not reported
$ \begin{array}{cccccc} {\sf REVASCAT} (3) & 206 & {\sf Age} \le 70 \; {\sf years:} 2.5 & {\sf Age} \le 70 \; {\sf years:} 52.5 \; {\sf vs.} \\ {\sf Age} > 70 \; {\sf years:} 0.9 & 23.3\% \\ {\sf Age} > 70 \; {\sf years:} 30.9 \; {\sf vs.} \\ {\sf 34.9\%} \\ \\ {\sf SWIFT-PRIME} (2) & 191 & {\sf Age} < 70 \; {\sf years:} 1.67 & {\sf Age} < 70 \; {\sf years:} 65 \; {\sf vs.} \; 40\% \\ {\sf Age} \ge 70 \; {\sf years:} 1.78 & {\sf Age} \ge 70 \; {\sf years:} 54 \; {\sf vs.} \; 31\% \\ \\ {\sf THRACE} (7) & 402 & {\sf Age} < 70 \; {\sf years:} 1.6 \\ {\sf Age} \ge 70 \; {\sf years:} 1.5 \\ \\ {\sf DAWN} (10) & 206 & {\sf Age} < 80 \; {\sf years:} 1.9 & {\sf Age} < 80 \; {\sf years:} 54 \; {\sf vs.} \; 17\% \\ \end{array} $	ESCAPE (4)	316	° ,	33.4%
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	REVASCAT (3)	206	° ,	Age ≤70 years: 52.5 vs. 23.3% Age >70 years: 30.9 vs.
Age ≥70 years: 1.5 DAWN (10) 206 Age <80 years: 1.9	SWIFT-PRIME (2)	191	° ,	° ,
	THRACE (7)	402	° ,	Not reported
	DAWN (10)	206	° ,	° ,

it is in younger ones. In addition, the outcomes with medical therapy alone are dismal in older patients, and rapid, successful thrombectomy may by the best chance the older patients have at a favorable outcome.

Preprocedure: Making the Treatment Decision

Ultimately, deciding to take the patient to the angiography suite for thrombectomy means that the treating team feels the procedure is likely to improve the patient's chance of meaningful neurologic recovery. In the preprocedure time period, this is dependent on the patient's baseline functional status, as well as the status of the brain tissue, as assessed by brain imaging.

Almost all the patients in the recent randomized trials of thrombectomy were required to be functionally independent for enrollment, typically defined as modified Rankin scale score of 0 or 1. As such, in patients with preexisting disability, randomized data comparing the outcomes with thrombectomy vs. best medical therapy is lacking. Elderly patients may have a higher rate of preexisting disability, which can make the treatment decision more difficult. Pohjasvaara examined the level of pre- and poststroke disability in a cohort of 486 patients in Helsinki. They found higher levels of prestroke disability in the group aged 71-85 as compared with those aged 55-70 (21). In addition, the older group was more disabled after stroke than the younger group. Another study, compared patients older or younger than 75 and found that indeed the older group had higher prestroke levels of disability, and overall higher mortality after stroke (22). In series of IV thrombolysis in patients with preexisting disability, it has been shown that while the overall mortality is higher, the likelihood of good outcome was not influenced by previous dependency (23). Those authors suggested withholding thrombolysis in patients with preexisting disability might not be justified. Similarly, Leker and colleagues showed that while the overall outcomes following anterior circulation thrombectomy are worse in those with preexisting disability, there were some who were able to maintain their prestroke level of disability, and as such, those with moderate disability should not be excluded from thrombectomy (24). Treatment guidelines from the American Heart Association consider treatment of patients with preexisting disability as "may be reasonable," but suggest additional data would be helpful (25).

There can be additional difficulties in establishing a functional baseline in patients who come from a non-home living situation. Patients may be in assisted living facilities requiring varying amounts of assistance with activities of daily living. However, in the time critical period between hospital arrival and treatment decision, it may be difficult to elucidate how functional the patient was prestroke, especially when family is not available to provide additional history. These additional items should not delay thrombectomy, but may be difficult to obtain in a timely fashion. It is also possible that patient age may play a role in determining if a patient should be transferred from a non-thrombectomy capable center to one where they can be treated, although data are lacking in this regard. In summary, preexisting disability is more common in elderly patients and would have excluded them from most randomized trials of thrombectomy. While preexisting disability is not an absolute contraindication to treatment, the team evaluating the patient should do their best to assess prestroke functional status and make an individualized decision in elderly patients with preexisting disability.

Preprocedure: Imaging Issues

Baseline brain parenchymal imaging (with non-contrast CT) and vessel imaging [with CT angiography (CTA)] should be the minimum standard on all stroke patients, regardless of severity (26). The degree of completed infarction (infarct core) on NCCT is often measured using the Alberta Stroke program early CT score. Core infarct estimation can also be made with assessment of the degree of collateral filling beyond the occlusion on CTA (CTA-Collateral Score), using dynamic CT perfusion, or using diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) sequences on MRI. With respect to vascular imaging, older patients may have diminished cardiac output, which may result in suboptimal bolus acquisition on CTA. The use of multiphase CTA, with two additional scans through the brain, may ameliorate some of those issues by allowing for additional imaging in those patients with poor cardiac output (27).

Preexisting leukoaraiosis, typically more prevalent in an older patient, has been associated with worse outcomes after thrombectomy as well (28). In addition, leukoaraiosis may lead to overestimation of infarct core in the white matter on CT perfusion using relative cerebral blood flow thresholds (29). Agarwal and colleagues showed in a small series of patients undergoing whole brain CT perfusion that age was negatively correlated with normalized lesion and penumbral volume, but not core volume (30). These changes occurred despite an increased collateral response in older patients and suggest future study is warranted into this age-dependent response to ischemia.

Some series have suggested an age-dependent threshold may be accurate for the degree of baseline infarct beyond which endovascular thrombectomy is unlikely to help the patient (31). A recent series trichotomized patients into age groups, with the oldest group being older than 75 (32). Not surprisingly, the elderly patients had favorable outcomes in 50% of cases with minimal baseline infarction (DWI lesion volume <5 mL), as compared with 80 and 91% of patients with similar lesion volumes in the age 66-75 and age less than 66 cohorts, respectively. More profound, however, was the difference in clinical outcomes when baseline DWI lesion was more than 5 mL, where only 19% of elderly patients achieved independence, compared with 44 and 56%, respectively. This would indeed suggest an age-dependent relationship between baseline infarct and likelihood of a good outcome. The DAWN study also used this concept, with an age-dependent infract core threshold, excluding patients older than 80 if they had a core infarct on CT perfusion or DWI of larger than 21 mL, but allowing infarct cores up to a volume of 50 mL in younger patients.

In summary, when evaluating pretreatment imaging one may need to take patient age into account, especially as it

pertains to the evaluation of core infarct volume, regardless of modality.

STARTING THE PROCEDURE: ANESTHESIA AND PATIENT COOPERATION

In the HERMES dataset, it was beneficial to use conscious sedation or local anesthesia as opposed to general anesthesia. This effect may be more so in the elderly population, as there are additional risks from anesthesia. Some recent studies, however, have suggested no difference in outcomes between sedation and general anesthesia (33, 34). However, the vast majority of the patients in AnStroke and SIESTA were younger. There can be greater blood pressure decreases in patients under general anesthesia (35), which can be detrimental to collateral flow. Patient cooperation, if the patient is being treated with sedation or local anesthesia, may also be an issue, especially if the patients have some level of preexisting cognitive dysfunction. The use of benzodiazepines, typically diazepam or midazolam is common during procedural sedation. Scholer showed an inverse correlation between age and the dose of both diazepam and midazolam needed to successfully perform endoscopy (36). Interestingly, they showed an even steeper decline in the dose of midazolam needed as compared with diazepam as patients aged.

When using propofol for procedural sedation during endoscopy, Heuss showed that while elderly patients (age >70 years) had slightly higher rates of short periods of oxygen desaturation below 90%, and an overall decrease in oxygen saturation below 5%, especially in those above the age of 85, but they felt that overall, propofol is safe for sedation in the elderly (37).

To summarize, while no study has demonstrated a benefit to using general anesthesia over conscious sedation, nor are there substantial data evaluating the relationship of mode of anesthesia with outcomes in older patients undergoing endovascular stroke thrombectomy, it may be preferable in patients of all ages to use conscious sedation whenever possible.

Intraprocedure

Intraprocedurally, elderly patients pose anatomic challenges, primarily due to greater tortuosity of their vasculature. Placement of the large bore guiding catheters, including balloon guide catheters, can be more difficult in the elderly population. In extreme cases, direct carotid puncture can be performed, but also likely introduces additional risk. In the NASA registry, procedure times were slightly longer in the elderly cohort, which may be on the basis of the arterial anatomy (17). Imahori also showed longer revascularization times in older patients (45 vs. 31 min) in their single center series (15). In contradistinction, Sallustio showed slightly shorter recanalization times in older patients (60 vs. 78.5 min) (14).

Postprocedural Care

Post revascularization, critical issues include the need to closely follow the patient's neurologic exam as well as hemodynamic parameters to potentially minimize the likelihood of intracranial hemorrhage. In elderly patients treated under general anesthesia, postoperative delirium may be common and can cloud the neurologic examination (38).

Patients with higher baseline systolic blood pressure have higher rates of symptomatic intracranial hemorrhage after systemic thrombolysis. As such, current recommendations are to maintain blood pressure below 185 systolic and 110 diastolic following systemic thrombolysis (39, 40). While the optimal target blood pressures after thrombectomy are unknown, a recent retrospective analysis showed that after TICI 2b or greater recanalization, patients in whom the systolic blood pressure was kept below 160 mmHg had better clinical outcomes than those with higher blood pressures (41).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND UNANSWERED QUESTIONS

Among the main unanswered questions, regarding thrombectomy is whether our systems of care are sufficiently well enough organized to provide access to this therapy. Should patients be routed in the field to endovascular capable centers, bypassing closer, non-endovascular capable centers? (42, 43). If so, would there be a bias on the part of EMS to preferentially divert younger patients and not older ones? If such diversion is to occur, is there a differential accuracy of field severity screening tools in younger vs. older patients? One recent study suggests in patients with leukoariosis, severity scores may be less accurate for detection of LVO (44). In addition, a newer trial (NCT02930018) is examining whether a novel neuroprotective agent can improve outcomes in patients undergoing thrombectomy for ICA or M1 occlusions. Will this (or other agents), if shown to be beneficial, have the same effectiveness in older patients?

SUMMARY

In summary, while the overall benefit of thrombectomy is similar in older and younger patients, elderly patients are less likely to achieve functional independence. This may be on the basis of slightly higher levels of prestroke disability, decreased functional reserve, and diminished tolerance to larger core infarcts before recanalization. Age alone should not exclude patients from thrombectomy, but the treating team should be aware of and prepared for factors, which make treatment in this group potentially more challenging.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors contributed to literature review, manuscript revision, and final review.

REFERENCES

- Lima FO, Furie KL, Silva GS, Lev MH, Camargo EC, Singhal AB, et al. Prognosis of untreated strokes due to anterior circulation proximal intracranial arterial occlusions detected by use of computed tomography angiography. JAMA Neurol (2014) 71:151–7. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5007
- Saver JL, Goyal M, Bonafe A, Diener HC, Levy EI, Pereira VM, et al. Stentretriever thrombectomy after intravenous t-PA vs. t-PA alone in stroke. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:2285–95. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1415061
- Jovin TG, Chamorro A, Cobo E, de Miquel MA, Molina CA, Rovira A, et al. Thrombectomy within 8 hours after symptom onset in ischemic stroke. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:2296–306. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1503780
- Goyal M, Demchuk AM, Menon BK, Eesa M, Rempel JL, Thornton J, et al. Randomized assessment of rapid endovascular treatment of ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:1019–30. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414905
- Campbell BC, Mitchell PJ, Kleinig TJ, Dewey HM, Churilov L, Yassi N, et al. Endovascular therapy for ischemic stroke with perfusion-imaging selection. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:1009–18. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414792
- Berkhemer OA, Fransen PS, Beumer D, van den Berg LA, Lingsma HF, Yoo AJ, et al. A randomized trial of intraarterial treatment for acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:11–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411587
- Bracard S, Ducrocq X, Mas JL, Soudant M, Oppenheim C, Moulin T, et al. Mechanical thrombectomy after intravenous alteplase versus alteplase alone after stroke (THRACE): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2016) 15:1138–47. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30177-6
- 8. Goyal M, Menon BK, van Zwam WH, Dippel DW, Mitchell PJ, Demchuk AM, et al. Endovascular thrombectomy after large-vessel ischaemic stroke: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from five randomised trials. *Lancet* (2016) 387:1723–31. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00163-X
- Saver JL, Goyal M, van der Lugt A, Menon BK, Majoie CB, Dippel DW, et al. Time to treatment with endovascular thrombectomy and outcomes from ischemic stroke: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* (2016) 316:1279–88. doi:10.1001/ jama.2016.13647
- Nogueira RG, Jadhav AP, Haussen DC, Bonafe A, Budzik RF, Bhuva P, et al. Thrombectomy 6 to 24 hours after stroke with a mismatch between deficit and infarct. N Engl J Med (2017). doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1706442
- Ovbiagele B, Nguyen-Huynh MN. Stroke epidemiology: advancing our understanding of disease mechanism and therapy. *Neurotherapeutics* (2011) 8:319–29. doi:10.1007/s13311-011-0053-1
- Khan MA, Baird GL, Miller D, Patel A, Tsekhan S, Yaghi S, et al. Endovascular treatment of acute ischemic stroke in nonagenarians compared with younger patients in a multicenter cohort. *J Neurointerv Surg* (2017) 9:727–31. doi:10.1136/neurintsurg-2016-012427
- Son S, Kang DH, Hwang YH, Kim YS, Kim YW. Efficacy, safety, and clinical outcome of modern mechanical thrombectomy in elderly patients with acute ischemic stroke. *Acta Neurochir* (2017). doi:10.1007/s00701-017-3269-y
- Sallustio F, Koch G, Motta C, Diomedi M, Alemseged F, D'Agostino VC, et al. Efficacy and safety of mechanical thrombectomy in older adults with acute ischemic stoke. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2017) 65:1816–20. doi:10.1111/ jgs.14909
- Imahori T, Tanaka K, Arai A, Shiomi R, Fujiwara D, Mori T, et al. Mechanical thrombectomy for acute ischemic stroke patients aged 80 years or older. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis* (2017) 26:2793–9. doi:10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.06.060
- Slater LA, Coutinho JM, Gralla J, Nogueira RG, Bonafe A, Davalos A, et al. TICI and age: what's the score? *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2016) 37:838–43. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A4618
- Castonguay AC, Zaidat OO, Novakovic R, Nguyen TN, Taqi MA, Gupta R, et al. Influence of age on clinical and revascularization outcomes in the North American Solitaire Stent-Retriever Acute Stroke Registry. *Stroke* (2014) 45:3631–6. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.006487
- Singer OC, Haring HP, Trenkler J, Nolte CH, Bohner G, Reich A, et al. Age dependency of successful recanalization in anterior circulation stroke: the ENDOSTROKE study. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (2013) 36:437–45. doi:10.1159/ 000356213
- Shi ZS, Liebeskind DS, Xiang B, Ge SG, Feng L, Albers GW, et al. Predictors of functional dependence despite successful revascularization in large-vessel occlusion strokes. *Stroke* (2014) 45:1977–84. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.114.005603

- Duffis EJ, He W, Prestigiacomo CJ, Gandhi CD. Endovascular treatment for acute ischemic stroke in octogenarians compared with younger patients: a meta-analysis. *Int J Stroke* (2014) 9:308–12. doi:10.1111/ijs.12098
- 21. Pohjasvaara T, Erkinjuntti T, Vataja R, Kaste M. Comparison of stroke features and disability in daily life in patients with ischemic stroke aged 55 to 70 and 71 to 85 years. *Stroke* (1997) 28:729–35. doi:10.1161/01.STR.28.4.729
- Sharma JC, Fletcher S, Vassallo M. Strokes in the elderly higher acute and 3-month mortality – an explanation. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (1999) 9:2–9. doi:10.1159/000015889
- Gensicke H, Strbian D, Zinkstok SM, Scheitz JF, Bill O, Hametner C, et al. Intravenous thrombolysis in patients dependent on the daily help of others before stroke. *Stroke* (2016) 47:450–6. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA. 115.011674
- Leker RR, Gavriliuc P, Yaghmour NE, Gomori JM, Cohen JE. Increased risk for unfavorable outcome in patients with pre-existing disability undergoing endovascular therapy. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2018) 27(1):92–6. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.08.007
- 25. Powers WJ, Derdeyn CP, Biller J, Coffey CS, Hoh BL, Jauch EC, et al. 2015 American Heart Association/American Stroke Association focused update of the 2013 guidelines for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke regarding endovascular treatment: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2015) 46:3020–35. doi:10.1161/STR.0000000000000074
- Turc G, Maier B, Naggara O, Seners P, Isabel C, Tisserand M, et al. Clinical scales do not reliably identify acute ischemic stroke patients with large-artery occlusion. *Stroke* (2016) 47:1466–72. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA. 116.013144
- Menon BK, d'Esterre CD, Qazi EM, Almekhlafi M, Hahn L, Demchuk AM, et al. Multiphase CT angiography: a new tool for the imaging triage of patients with acute ischemic stroke. *Radiology* (2015) 275:510–20. doi:10.1148/ radiol.15142256
- Gilberti N, Gamba M, Premi E, Costa A, Vergani V, Delrio I, et al. Leukoaraiosis is a predictor of futile recanalization in acute ischemic stroke. *J Neurol* (2017) 264:448–52. doi:10.1007/s00415-016-8366-y
- Campbell BC, Christensen S, Levi CR, Desmond PM, Donnan GA, Davis SM, et al. Cerebral blood flow is the optimal CT perfusion parameter for assessing infarct core. *Stroke* (2011) 42:3435–40. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.111.618355
- Agarwal S, Scoffings DJ, Jones PS, Marrapu ST, Barry PJ, O'Brien EW, et al. Interaction of age with the ischaemic penumbra, leptomeningeal collateral circulation and haemodynamic variables in acute stroke: a pilot study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2013) 84:271–6. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2012-303258
- Ribo M, Tomasello A, Lemus M, Rubiera M, Vert C, Flores A, et al. Maximal admission core lesion compatible with favorable outcome in acute stroke patients undergoing endovascular procedures. *Stroke* (2015) 46:2849–52. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.010707
- Hwang YH, Kim YW, Kang DH, Kim YS, Liebeskind DS. Impact of baseline ischemia on outcome in older patients undergoing endovascular therapy for acute ischemic stroke. J Clin Neurol (2017) 13:162–9. doi:10.3988/jcn.2017.13.2.162
- 33. Lowhagen Henden P, Rentzos A, Karlsson JE, Rosengren L, Leiram B, Sundeman H, et al. General anesthesia versus conscious sedation for endovascular treatment of acute ischemic stroke: the AnStroke trial (anesthesia during stroke). Stroke (2017) 48:1601–7. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.016554
- 34. Schonenberger S, Uhlmann L, Hacke W, Schieber S, Mundiyanapurath S, Purrucker JC, et al. Effect of conscious sedation vs general anesthesia on early neurological improvement among patients with ischemic stroke undergoing endovascular thrombectomy: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* (2016) 316:1986–96. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.16623
- 35. Mundiyanapurath S, Schonenberger S, Rosales ML, Carrilho Romeiro AM, Mohlenbruch M, Bendszus M, et al. Circulatory and respiratory parameters during acute endovascular stroke therapy in conscious sedation or general anesthesia. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis* (2015) 24:1244–9. doi:10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2015.01.025
- Scholer SG, Schafer DF, Potter JF. The effect of age on the relative potency of midazolam and diazepam for sedation in upper gastrointestinal endoscopy. *J Clin Gastroenterol* (1990) 12:145–7. doi:10.1097/00004836-199004000-00006
- Heuss LT, Schnieper P, Drewe J, Pflimlin E, Beglinger C. Conscious sedation with propofol in elderly patients: a prospective evaluation. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2003) 17:1493–501. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01608.x

- Neufeld KJ, Leoutsakos JM, Sieber FE, Wanamaker BL, Gibson Chambers JJ, Rao V, et al. Outcomes of early delirium diagnosis after general anesthesia in the elderly. *Anesth Analg* (2013) 117:471–8. doi:10.1213/ ANE.0b013e3182973650
- Jauch EC, Saver JL, Adams HP Jr, Bruno A, Connors JJ, Demaerschalk BM, et al. Guidelines for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2013) 44:870–947. doi:10.1161/STR.0b013e318284056a
- Larrue V, von Kummer RR, Muller A, Bluhmki E. Risk factors for severe hemorrhagic transformation in ischemic stroke patients treated with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator: a secondary analysis of the European-Australasian Acute Stroke Study (ECASS II). *Stroke* (2001) 32:438–41. doi:10.1161/01.STR.32.2.438
- Goyal N, Tsivgoulis G, Pandhi A, Chang JJ, Dillard K, Ishfaq MF, et al. Blood pressure levels post mechanical thrombectomy and outcomes in large vessel occlusion strokes. *Neurology* (2017) 89:540–7. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000004184
- 42. Zhao H, Coote S, Pesavento L, Churilov L, Dewey HM, Davis SM, et al. Large vessel occlusion scales increase delivery to endovascular centers without

excessive harm from misclassifications. *Stroke* (2017) 48:568–73. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.016056

- Milne MS, Holodinsky JK, Hill MD, Nygren A, Qiu C, Goyal M, et al. Drip 'n ship versus mothership for endovascular treatment: modeling the best transportation options for optimal outcomes. *Stroke* (2017) 48:791–4. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.015321
- Mayasi Y, Goddeau RP Jr, Moonis M, Silver B, Jun-O'Connell AH, Puri AS, et al. Leukoaraiosis attenuates diagnostic accuracy of large-vessel occlusion scales. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2017). doi:10.3174/ajnr.A5473

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Jayaraman and McTaggart. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Mobility Assessment Course for the Diagnosis of Spatial Neglect: Taking a Step Forward?

Megan Grech¹*, Tracey Stuart², Lindy Williams³, Celia Chen⁴ and Tobias Loetscher¹

¹ School of Psychology, Social Work, and Social Policy, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ²Guide Dogs SA/NT, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ³School of Health Sciences, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ⁴Department of Ophthalmology, Flinders University, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Spatial neglect after stroke can be a challenging syndrome to diagnose under standard neuropsychological assessment. There is now sufficient evidence that those affected might demonstrate neglect behavior in everyday settings despite showing no signs of neglect during common neglect tasks. This discrepancy is attributed to the simplified and unrealistic nature of common pen and paper based tasks that do not match the demanding, novel, and complex environment of everyday life. As such, increasing task demands under more ecologically valid scenarios has become an important method of increasing test sensitivity. The main aim of the current study was to evaluate the diagnostic utility of the Mobility Assessment Course (MAC), an ecological task, for the assessment of neglect. If neglect becomes more apparent under more challenging task demands the MAC could prove to be more diagnostically accurate at detecting neglect than conventional methods, particularly as the time from initial brain damage increases. Data collected by Guide Dogs of SA/NT were retrospectively analyzed. The Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve, a measure of sensitivity and specificity, was used to investigate the diagnostic utility of the MAC and a series of paper and pencil tests in 67 right hemisphere stroke survivors. While the MAC proved to be a more sensitive neglect test (74.2%) when compared to the Star Cancellation (43.3%) and Line Bisection (35.7%) tests, this was at the expense of relatively low specificity. As a result, the ROC curve analysis showed no statistically discernable differences between tasks (p > 0.12), or between subacute and chronic groups for individual tasks (p > 0.45). It is concluded that, while the MAC is an ecologically valid alternative for assessing neglect, regarding its diagnostic accuracy, there is currently not enough evidence to suggest that it is a big step forward in comparison to the accuracy of conventional tests.

Keywords: assessment of neglect, mobility, vision, clinical utility, ecological validity, sensitivity, specificity

INTRODUCTION

The impact of stroke is devastating. Presently, stroke remains one of the top causes of disabilityadjusted life years lost globally (1). A common disability of stroke is spatial neglect, the hallmark symptom being a failure to report or respond to stimuli presented in the contralesional space (2). Importantly, neglect is not attributed to primary sensory or motor defects and is commonly considered to be an attention-related disorder (2). Neglect after stroke affects up to 82% of right hemisphere

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Muhib Khan, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Mirjam R. Heldner, University of Oxford, United Kingdom Nishant K. Mishra, Tulane University, United States

> *Correspondence: Megan Grech meganjgrech@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> Received: 09 August 2017 Accepted: 09 October 2017 Published: 31 October 2017

Citation:

Grech M, Stuart T, Williams L, Chen C and Loetscher T (2017) The Mobility Assessment Course for the Diagnosis of Spatial Neglect: Taking a Step Forward? Front. Neurol. 8:563. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00563

The MAC

damaged persons but may also occur after left hemisphere damage (3). The prevalence of neglect is thought to decrease with time, with most recovery happening within the first 12–14 weeks post-stroke before a plateau is reached (4, 5).

The presence of neglect is associated with extended hospital stays (6), and poor functional outcomes and higher requirements for assisted care when likened to stroke victims without the condition (7, 8). While many people recover rapidly, the more persistent symptoms of neglect make it difficult to live independently and safely (9). Neglect increases the person's risk of accident and injury when crossing roads and having to navigate potentially dangerous objects in the environment (10). Accordingly, the increased need for assistance with daily routines places a significant burden on the families of those affected (11).

To mitigate the harmful consequences of neglect, reliable and accurate symptom detection is key. The most commonly employed clinical tests use paper-and-pencil methods requiring the individual to cancel out static targets (12), to indicate the middle of a line (13), or to copy an object (14). More functional neglect tests assess presence and severity of neglect in daily activities, such as dressing, eating, navigating, and locating familiar items (15–17). However, of the countless neglect tests that are now available, many report low sensitivity (18). Moreover, there is now sufficient evidence that those affected may exhibit neglect behavior despite showing no signs of neglect in common paperand-pencil tasks (19–32).

An important reason for the relatively low sensitivity of paper-and pencil tasks is their failure to capture everyday demands. Neuropsychological assessments are designed to elicit an optimal performance, whereby distractors, task demands, and task length is controlled and kept to a minimum (33). Such controlled testing situations, however, do not represent everyday life in which patients continuously face novel, dynamic, and complex situations. Indeed, task complexity is a well-established modulator of neglect, and several studies have shown that neglect behavior becomes more apparent with increasing task demands (30, 32, 34).

Failure to detect neglect has important clinical implications. First, undetected neglect may prevent proper access to rehabilitation services. Demonstrating the presence of neglect is a prerequisite of initiating interventions that reduce symptoms and increase independence. Second, a significant number of those affected by neglect may return to their premorbid activities where they put themselves and others at risk in activities of daily living such as driving, road crossing, and the use of dangerous objects/devices (30). Finally, upon assessing the effectiveness of the intervention, there is a risk that the marked improvement in paper-and-pencil task performance might not necessarily translate to everyday life (35). Previous research highlights that a lack of ecologically valid tasks to judge the usefulness of treatments to improve ordinary skills in persons with neglect is a fundamental weakness of *many* clinical neglect trials (35, 36).

In light of the aforementioned issues, a number of alternatives have been proposed. One of these alternatives is the observation of how persons affected by neglect scan the environment while walking a designated course. That is, the individual is asked to walk a standardized Mobility Assessment Course (MAC) and to detect targets located on the corridor walls. The increased task demands and added complexity of walking under multitask conditions have been shown to increase neglect behavior (34). The simplicity of this alternative with high face validity is very appealing as it is easily carried out in a variety of settings, including hospital wards and rehabilitation facilities. Surprisingly, the alternative has not drawn a lot of research interest as of today, nor has there been a thorough investigation of the MACs diagnostic utility as a suitable neglect measure.

The studies that investigated the effectiveness of the MAC as a tool for measuring neglect report encouraging results (37, 38). Both studies demonstrated that neglect participants missed significantly more left-sided targets than controls and that this neglect is also associated with the performance in common neglect tasks. For example, targets missed on the left correlate with performance in the Behavioral Inattention Test (BIT) (37) and the Catherine Bergego Scale (38). The expected correlations provide significant support for the construct validity of the MAC. Moreover, both studies judged the MAC to be an ecologically valid test that is quick to administer and relatively straight forward to implement in clinical settings. Albeit, a complete standardization across different testing times and settings appears less achievable since corridor design and traffic flow are likely to differ in various institutions (38).

The aim of the current study was to expand on the findings of Ten Brink and colleagues by evaluating the diagnostic utility of the MAC paralleled to paper-and-pencil tasks during different stages of stroke recovery (subacute <1 month; chronic > 1 month). The Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC), was used to evaluate the diagnostic utility of the tasks. Rather than comparing sensitivities of different scores, the ROC-based analysis combines sensitivity and specificity into a single variable, to quantify how accurately a task can discriminate between two states (neglecting and non-neglecting participants). If neglect becomes more apparent under more challenging task demands (31), the MAC could prove to be more efficient at detecting neglect than conventional methods, particularly as the time from initial brain damage increases (28, 29, 39). Moreover, with the MACs improved accuracy, it could offer a more time effective alternative to using large testing batteries since multiple neglect measures will be less necessary.

A secondary aim was to investigate the relationship between basic visual functions and MAC performance. Many stroke survivors report impaired visual abilities (40, 41). While these impairments may be unrelated to neglect, it is conceivable that they could adversely impact the detection of targets in the MAC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The current study retrospectively analyzed data collected by Guide Dogs SA/NT as a part of the standardized vision assessment of their referred clients. Moreover, 50 healthy participants were prospectively recruited to obtain control data for the MAC. The University of South Australia's Human Research Ethics Committee approved the study, with all participants signing an agreement to use the results of their vision assessment for the evaluation of Guide Dogs SA/NT assessment procedures.

Participants

Stroke Participants

Clients referred for a vision assessment at Guide Dogs SA/NT between January 1, 2013 and August 31, 2016 were assessed for eligibility. Participants were eligible if they (a) were over the age of 18, (b) were clinically diagnosed with a right-sided cerebrovascular accident (confirmed by medical referral letters), (c) completed a vision assessment on site at Guide Dogs SA/NT by the same expert Orientation and Mobility Instructor (OMI), (d) had satisfactory ability to produce and understand language (assessed by OMI), and (e) were physically able to participate (walking aids and self-propelling wheelchairs permitted).

Controls

Fifty healthy age-matched controls came from a convenience sample consisting of volunteer groups associated with Guide Dogs SA/NT.

Procedure and Tasks

All stroke participants completed a battery of tasks relating to visual function, paper-and-pencil neglect assessments and the MAC.

Visual Function Assessment

The visual function assessment comprised visual field testing using the Neuro Vision Technology (NVT) System and confrontation testing. The NVT system consists of the NVT scanning device (a light bar consisting of two rows of 10 colored lights, displayed on a horizontal panel placed at eye level approximately 30 cm from the client, and extending approximately 80 cm either side of central fixation) and computer software utilizing a standardized presentation of lights to determine the presence and degree of field loss (37). A secondary confrontation visual field test (Donders' test) was used to provide additional information regarding the presence of gross field loss. Visual reading acuity was measured using Dr. Alan Johnston's logMAR chart and low contrast reading chart. For overall contrast sensitivity, the Mars Letter Contrast Sensitivity Test (log contrast sensitivity) was employed.

Paper-and-Pencil Neglect Assessments

Two paper-and-pencil tasks were previously administered to the participants during their vision assessment. These included the Star Cancellation and the Line Bisection, both of which are subtests of the BIT (42). All tasks are on an A4 piece of paper, centered to the participant. Participants were instructed to avoid leaning to one side and to avoid adjusting the position of the paper during the assessment. However, there was no restriction of head and eye movements. Time pressure was, also, not imposed.

The Star Cancellation (43) consists of 56 small stars (the targets), 52 larger stars, 12 letters, and 10 short words in pseudo random order. Firstly, the administrator demonstrates by crossing out two of the small stars located in the middle of the page. The participant is then instructed to locate all remaining small stars (27 on the left and 27 on the right). The maximum score is 54. Previous research suggests neglect is evident in scores ranging

from 44 to 51 (44–46). In the current study, we compared both cutoffs for star score (51 and 44) by computing the sensitivities and specificities for each cutoff with reference to the other neglect tasks. To assess the presence of a lateralizing deficit the star ratio, dividing the number of stars canceled in the left column by the number of stars canceled in the right, was computed. Values close to 0.50 indicate a symmetrical performance. Scores that range between 0 and 0.46 indicated neglect (44, 47).

In the Line Bisection, the participant is presented with three horizontal 8 inches (204 mm) lines offset in a staircase fashion (42). The extent of each line is pointed out to the participant who is then instructed to estimate the middle of each line. Deviations from the midpoint drawn by the participant to the actual midpoint for each line are measured. Scores ranging between 0 and 3 for each line were derived using the BIT template. A smaller score indicates that a mark is placed further from the midline. The maximum score is 9. Scores less than 6.5 indicate the probability of neglect (42).

Mobility Assessment Course

The MAC, located at Guide Dogs SA/NT and based on Verlander, Hayes (37), is a standardized route spanning 43 m in length (**Figure 1**). There is one sharp turn in the middle of the course indicated by an arrow at the wall. Pedestrian traffic is hardly present. However, the corridor is readily accessible to all Guide Dogs SA/NT staff. Along the corridor, 40 targets (20 on each side) are located on the walls at varying heights, ranging in size (10–20 cm), shape (squares, rectangles, circles, and stars), and color (yellow, blue, orange, pink, silver, and gold). Consistent scanning was required as targets were occasionally obstructed from view (Inside windowsills and behind fire hydrants) until the participant reached the target.

An example of the targets is shown to each participant at the beginning of the course. The instruction was to move through the course at a leisurely pace and to find all targets, so as to represent a dual-task (walking and visual search). The OMI followed, so as not to hinder the participant's mobility, while the participant pointed to each target as it became visible. The following outcomes were recorded: the total percentage of targets found and the asymmetry score, indicated by the difference between the number of targets found on the left and the right sides. A lower total score indicates a poorer performance. A higher asymmetry score, indicating more targets located on the right than left sides, reflects a poorer performance.

Statistical Analyses

Participants were grouped based on a 2-h vision assessment run by an experienced OMI. There is a lack of a reliable gold standard for the diagnosis of neglect (48), thus, as in Rengachary et al. (39), the clinical diagnosis of left neglect was the criterion standard used in defining the presence of neglect. A single OMI with 15 years' experience in vision and neglect assessments made the diagnosis. Participants who were deemed to have neglected based on this evaluation formed the neglect group. Participants without a neglect diagnosis were referred to the non-neglect group. The groups were then further subdivided into subacute (<1 month) and chronic (>1 month) stages of stroke recovery.



The diagnostic utility of each task was evaluated using the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve (49, 50). Often, specificity is neglected when assessing the diagnostic accuracy of neglect assessments. The ROC analysis combines both sensitivity and specificity to quantify how accurately a test can separate the tested groups into neglecters and non-neglecters. The sensitivity of a clinical test refers to the ability of the test to identify the participants with neglect correctly. A test with 100% sensitivity/100% specificity, suggests that the test identified all participants with neglect (sensitivity) and without neglect (specificity) correctly (51).

The ROC-based analysis (52) trade-offs between sensitivity (true positives) and specificity (false positives). In the ROC curve, the true positive rate is plotted against the false negative rate for different cutoff points. Each point on the ROC curve represents a single cut-off for the plotted pair (sensitivity, 1-specificity) corresponding to a chosen threshold. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) represents a measure of the test's discriminatory power. The higher the score, the greater discriminatory ability of the test [i.e., the true positive rate is high and the false positive (1-Specificity) rate is low]. The AUC can range from 0.0 to 1.0. Interpretation of AUC values are such that a value of 1.0 suggests perfect discriminatory abilities, that is all participants with neglect, and without neglect, are classified accordingly, 0.9-0.99 has outstanding discriminatory abilities, 0.8-0.89 has excellent discriminatory abilities, 0.7-0.80 has acceptable discriminatory abilities, 0.51-0.69 has poor discriminatory abilities, and a value of 0.5 suggests that the test is "no better than chance" at discriminating neglect participants from non-neglect participants (53).

To compare the diagnostic accuracy of the AUC at different levels, we used the methods of DeLong et al. (54) and Hanley and McNeil (51). For independent sample analyses, such as the comparisons between subacute and chronic groups, any significant differences were evaluated using the methods of Hanley and McNeil (51). For differences in same sample comparisons between tasks, DeLong et al.'s (54) methodology was employed. For all multiple comparisons, the chosen adjusted alpha level was 0.01. Statistical analyses were performed using MedCalc software for Windows, version 9.3.2.0 (MedCalc Software bvba, Mariakerke, Belgium) and IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 20.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, New York, NY, USA).

The same threshold for neglect as in Azouvi et al. (21) was applied for the MAC, such that any participant scoring poorer than the fifth percentile of the control group was considered to be affected by neglect.

We investigated the relationships between performance at the MAC, paper-and-pencil tasks, and the visual function measures with a series of Spearman correlations. The statistical significance was set at 0.05. An r of 0.1 was considered a small, 0.3 a medium, and 0.5 a large correlation (55).

RESULTS

Overall, this study included 67 stroke survivors and 50 healthy control participants (**Table 1**). There were no significant differences between the right hemisphere damage and control groups in relation to age, t = 0.782, p = 0.436. The 50 healthy controls completed the course providing participant cutoffs for indicating the presence of neglect. Control participants found on average 84.70% (SD 7.31) of the targets located on the MAC with an asymmetry score of -2.15 targets (SD 4.68). Applying a fifth percentile cutoff criterion for neglect (21) the threshold for neglect was an asymmetry score of >+6.13% and a total target score of <71.30%.

As shown in **Table 2**, the MAC identified more neglect cases than any other paper-and-pencil task. The total number of targets found was a better predictor of neglect than asymmetry scores. The total and asymmetry scores on the MAC exposed a considerable amount of false positives compared to both paper-and-pencil tasks, misclassifying more individuals as affected by neglect when the clinical diagnosis suggested otherwise. Importantly, while the paper-and-pencil tasks showed remarkable specificity values, the TABLE 1 Group demographics divided by subacute and chronic stages of recovery for neglecters and non-neglecting right hemisphere damage participants.

	Subacu	te (<1 month)	Chronie	Chronic (>1 month)		
	Neglecters, $N = 11$	Non-neglecters, $N = 17$	Neglecters, $N = 20$	Non-neglecters, $N = 19$	Controls ($n = 50$)	
Gender (Male/Female)	8/3	11/6	15/5	13/6	16/34	
Age in years, M (SD)	73.82 (7.20)	64.88 (14.54)	67.90 (12.29)	58.37 (18.33)	63.40 (11.95)	
Days since stroke, M (SD)	20.91 (8.23)	21.53 (6.92)	178.10 (301.12)	399.89 (1140.25)	_	
Visual field defect (yes/no)	10/1	11/6	16/4	14/5	-	
Mobility						
Independent no aids	8	17	18	18	50	
Independent (walking cane)	3	0	0	1		
Wheelchair	0	0	2	0		

TABLE 2 | Number of true/false negative/positive calculations for the Star Cancellation using the star ratio and two laterality indexes (<44, <51), the Line Bisection—deviation score, and the MAC total score and asymmetry cutoffs derived from the control data.

	N	Cutoff point	Mean (SD)	% beyond cutoff point	True positives (sensitivity)	False positives	True negatives (specificity)	False negatives
Star cancellation								
Total	66	<51	50.95 (5.84)	22.4	13 (43.3%)	2 (5.6%)	34 (94.4%)	17 (56.7%)
		<44	50.95 (5.84)	10.4	6 (20%)	1 (2.8%)	35 (97.2%)	24 (80%)
Star ratio	66	<0.46	0.48 (0.06)	12.1	8 (26.7%)	0 (0%)	36 (100%)	21 (73.3%)
Line Bisection, deviation score	59	<6.5	7.95 (2.15)	14.9	10 (35.7%)	0 (0%)	31 (100%)	18 (64.3%)
MAC								
Total	67	<71.3%	73.95 (15.00)	50.7	23 (74.2%)	11(30.6%)	25 (69.4%)	8 (25.8%)
Asymmetry (R minus L total)	67	>+6.13%	2.40 (10.71)	31.3	12 (38.7%)	9 (25%)	27 (75%)	19 (61.3%)

The number of participants completing each task differs as the availability of test data varied.

low sensitivity meant a high number of positive neglect cases were overlooked.

Figure 2 displays the AUC as a measure of the diagnostic utility of each task. To investigate the performance as a function of time post stroke, the AUC was computed at two stages of stroke recovery, subacute (<1 month) and chronic (>1 month). The AUC values indicated that no single test was considered to have outstanding accuracy in distinguishing a neglecting participant from a non-neglecting participant. When considering the tests discriminative abilities, the majority of the AUC values fell in the "poor" to "acceptable" range. As per *post hoc* tests, no significant differences existed between tests at subacute or chronic stages of recovery (p > 0.12), or between subacute and chronic groups for individual tasks (p > 0.45).

All MAC measures were significantly related to the Star Cancellation ratio (**Table 3**). Similarly, all measures on the MAC, except for asymmetry, showed moderate to large correlations with the Line Bisection deviation score.

DISCUSSION

The main aim of the current study was to evaluate the diagnostic utility of the MAC compared to a series of paper-and-pencil neglect tests during different stages of stroke recovery. The hypotheses that the MAC measure with greater task demands, relevancy, and transparency could improve detection of neglect, compared to the conventional tests, particularly at more chronic stages of recovery, were not supported. The 95% confidence intervals of the AUC values overlapped across the different test scores and recovery stages. There were no statistically discernable differences

between tasks at subacute or chronic stages or, between subacute and chronic groups for individual tasks. These results suggest, irrespective of time since brain damage, the MAC is just as accurate at detecting neglect as the tasks under question here.

Our results are in contrast to the abundance of literature suggesting a superiority of functional and more demanding tasks over conventional paper-and-pencil neglect tasks (21, 26, 27, 31, 56, 57). An explanation for the discrepancy is that the current study investigated test accuracy by combining the task's sensitivity and specificity into one measure. Indeed, if we only assess the sensitivity of the test, i.e., their ability to detect neglect (true positives), the MAC showed the highest sensitivity values (74.2%). The symptom detection skills of the Star Cancellation (43.3%) and Line Bisection tests (35.7%) are less comparable. However, the MAC's high sensitivity is at the expense of a low specificity, as such, the MAC (based on total targets located) falsely implicated 30.6% of our participants without neglect as affected by neglect. In comparison, the Star Cancellation falsely diagnosed only 2.8% of the sample as affected by neglect.

The different sensitivity and specificity values of the MAC and the conventional tests are, therefore, a likely reason that the combined inspection of these two values in a ROC curve does not reveal statistically significant differences between the tests. Thus, at the very least our results highlight the importance of taking into account sensitivity and specificity when evaluating the diagnostic utility of a test. It is noteworthy that the large body of literature on neglect assessments focuses on sensitivity testing, and thereby neglects specificity (58–61), as such, crucial information is missing that adequately judges the true diagnostic accuracy of these tests.



TABLE 3 | Spearman correlations between MAC, Star Cancellation, Line

 Bisection, contrast sensitivity, and visual acuity.

			MAC targets fou	nd
Outcome	N	Total	Contralesional	Asymmetry
Star Cancellation, star ratio	66	0.40**	-0.42**	-0.27*
Line Bisection, deviation	60	0.58**	0.48**	-0.07
Visual acuity	66	-0.11	-0.14	0.08
Contrast sensitivity	66	0.13	0.05	-0.07

The number of participants completing each task differs as the availability of test data varied.

*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level.

**Correlation is significant at the 0.001 level (two tailed).

MAC, Mobility Assessment Course.

From a clinician's point of view, it might be more acceptable for an assessment tool to be less specific, than less sensitive, since the main purpose of the clinical assessment is to uncover symptoms. The high sensitivity of the MAC has an apparent advantage in circumstances in which significant remaining impairments are monitored safely. For example, the discovery of a contralesional deficit in attention which would affect driving ability and subsequently avoid crashes. What is significantly riskier is a missed diagnosis that denies the person access to vital assisted care or rehabilitation. As a result, the risk of accidents and injuries increases, particularly if a suspended license is reinstated or the individual returns to work.

The AUC values indicate that no single test score has outstanding accuracy in distinguishing a non-neglecting participant from a neglecting participant. The majority of the measures fell into the "poor" to "acceptable" range. Just like the standard practice in current neglect assessments, the implications of the tests suboptimal diagnostic accuracies are clear cut; to guarantee the correct diagnosis of all persons affected by neglect, the administration of a battery of neglect tests is necessary. In other words, the idea that the MAC could potentially justify the reduction of tests required for a neglect diagnosis was not supported. It is important to keep in mind that neglect is a heterogeneous syndrome manifesting in many different ways (62). It is, therefore, unlikely that we will capture neglect in its many forms with just one task. Nevertheless, a quick assessment of neglect (i.e., fewer tasks) would be advantageous since it makes room for further neurological testing while reducing the risk of exhaustion in the participant.

The MAC measures (total and contralesional targets found) were significantly related to performances in the conventional neglect tests. The observed medium to large effect sizes is similar in size to previously reported relationships between the performances in the MAC and standard neglect tests (37, 38). The finding of these relationships across three different studies each with different MAC settings and designs points to the MACs high construct validity and may help to further establish the MAC as an ecologically valid alternative for assessing neglect.

An important novel aspect of this study was the assessment of the effects of basic visual functions on the performance in the MAC. We found no relationship between the patients (corrected) visual acuity, contrast sensitivity, and their ability to spot targets during the MAC. These results need further confirmation with larger and more diverse samples, but low vision impairments commonly found in stroke survivors may not significantly affect the diagnostic properties of the MAC. If this holds true, then this further adds to the validity of the MAC.

An interesting, yet still unanswered question, is whether test accuracy is modulated by the presence or absence of visual

The MAC

field defects. Only a small proportion of participants (15%) were without a visual field defect in this study; we, therefore, were unable to assess its effects on the MAC reliably. Buxbaum et al. (59) found that a virtual reality program (VRLAT) was equally as likely to categorize those with and without visual field defects as being affected by neglect. The VRLAT has many similarities with the MAC. Therefore, the MACs abilities to differentiate between those with and without field defects are promising. Future research is essential to evaluate this likelihood further.

In sum, validating previous studies (37, 38), we conclude that the MAC is an ecologically valid alternative for assessing neglect. Regarding its diagnostic accuracy, there is currently not enough evidence to suggest that it is a big step forward in contrast to the accuracy of more commonly used tasks. However, the high sensitivity of the MAC has an apparent advantage when screening neglect and positive results can be further investigated due to the tests relatively low specificity. Moreover, the MAC is likely to be an insightful exercise for people affected by neglect. The participant can repeat the course allowing the clinician to make visible neglected targets and to provide feedback on performance characteristics, such as walking speed or visual scanning behavior. The MAC does highlight self-awareness in contralesional deficits

REFERENCES

- Mukherjee D, Patil CG. Epidemiology and the global burden of stroke. World Neurosurg (2011) 76(6):S85–90. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2011.07.023
- Heilman KM, Watson RT, Valenstein E. Neglect and related disorders. *Clin Neuropsychol* (1993) 3:279–336.
- 3. Stone S, Halligan P, Greenwood R. The incidence of neglect phenomena and related disorders in patients with an acute right or left hemisphere stroke. *Age Ageing* (1993) 22(1):46–52. doi:10.1093/ageing/22.1.46
- Nijboer TC, Kollen BJ, Kwakkel G. Time course of visuospatial neglect early after stroke: a longitudinal cohort study. *Cortex* (2013) 49(8):2021–7. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2012.11.006
- Stone S, Patel P, Greenwood R, Halligan P. Measuring visual neglect in acute stroke and predicting its recovery: the visual neglect recovery index. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1992) 55(6):431–6. doi:10.1136/jnnp.55.6.431
- Gillen R, Tennen H, McKee T. Unilateral spatial neglect: relation to rehabilitation outcomes in patients with right hemisphere stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* (2005) 86(4):763–7. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2004.10.029
- Jehkonen M, Laihosalo M, Kettunen J. Impact of neglect on functional outcome after stroke-a review of methodological issues and recent research findings. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* (2006) 24(4–6):209–15.
- Stein MS, Kilbride C, Reynolds FA. What are the functional outcomes of right hemisphere stroke patients with or without hemi-inattention complications? A critical narrative review and suggestions for further research. *Disabil Rehabil* (2016) 38(4):315–28. doi:10.3109/09638288.2015.1037865
- Nijboer T, Van de Port I, Schepers V, Post M, Visser-Meily A. Predicting functional outcome after stroke: the influence of neglect on basic activities in daily living, *Front Hum Neurosci* (2013) 7:182. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00182
- Czernuszenko A, Czlonkowska A. Risk factors for falls in stroke patients during inpatient rehabilitation. *Clin Rehabil* (2009) 23(2):176–88. doi:10.1177/0269215508098894
- Buxbaum L, Ferraro M, Veramonti T, Farne A, Whyte J, Ladavas E, et al. Hemispatial neglect subtypes, neuroanatomy, and disability. *Neurology* (2004) 62(5):749–56. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000113730.73031.F4
- Albert ML. A simple test of visual neglect. *Neurology* (1973) 23:658–64. doi:10.1212/WNL.23.6.658
- Schenkenberg T, Bradford D, Ajax E. Line bisection and unilateral visual neglect in patients with neurologic impairment. *Neurology* (1980) 30(5):509– 17. doi:10.1212/WNL.30.5.509

in a more practical sense and, therefore, is considered here to be a step in the right direction.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The University of South Australia's Human Research Ethics Committee granted approval for the study, with all participants signing an agreement to use the results of their vision assessment for the evaluation of Guide Dogs SA/NT assessment procedures.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TL, MG, LW, and TS conceived and designed the study. MG and TS collected data. TL and MG analyzed the data. All authors were involved in the interpretation of the data, writing and drafting of the manuscript, and overlooked the final manuscript before submission.

FUNDING

The author would like to thank the Brain Foundation Australia who supported TL and CC with a grant which aided in this publication.

- Gainotti G, Messerli P, Tissot R. Qualitative analysis of unilateral spatial neglect in relation to laterality of cerebral lesions. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (1972) 35(4):545–50. doi:10.1136/jnnp.35.4.545
- Azouvi P, Olivier S, De Montety G, Samuel C, Louis-Dreyfus A, Tesio L. Behavioral assessment of unilateral neglect: study of the psychometric properties of the Catherine Bergego Scale. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* (2003) 84(1):51–7. doi:10.1053/apmr.2003.50062
- Chen P, Hreha K, Fortis P, Goedert KM, Barrett AM. Functional assessment of spatial neglect: a review of the Catherine Bergego Scale and an introduction of the Kessler Foundation Neglect Assessment Process. *Top Stroke Rehabil* (2012) 19(5):423–35. doi:10.1310/tsr1905-423
- Azouvi P. Functional consequences and awareness of unilateral neglect: study of an evaluation scale. *Neuropsychol Rehabil* (1996) 6(2):133–50. doi:10.1080/713755501
- Menon-Nair A, Korner-Bitensky N, Wood-Dauphinee S, Robertson E. Assessment of unilateral spatial neglect post stroke in Canadian acute care hospitals: are we neglecting neglect? *Clin Rehabil* (2006) 20(7):623–34. doi:10.1191/0269215506cr974oa
- Azouvi P. The ecological assessment of unilateral neglect. Ann Phys Rehabil Med (2017) 60(3):186–90. doi:10.1016/j.rehab.2015.12.005
- Azouvi P, Bartolomeo P, Beis J-M, Perennou D, Pradat-Diehl P, Rousseaux M. A battery of tests for the quantitative assessment of unilateral neglect. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* (2006) 24(4–6):273–85.
- Azouvi P, Samuel C, Louis-Dreyfus A, Bernati T, Bartolomeo P, Beis J, et al. Sensitivity of clinical and behavioural tests of spatial neglect after right hemisphere stroke. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2002) 73(2):160–6. doi:10.1136/ jnnp.73.2.160
- Hasegawa C, Hirono N, Yamadori A. Discrepancy in unilateral spatial neglect between daily living and neuropsychological test situations: a single case study. *Neurocase* (2011) 17(6):518–26. doi:10.1080/13554794.2010. 547506
- van Kessel ME, van Nes IJ, Brouwer WH, Geurts AC, Fasotti L. Visuospatial asymmetry and non-spatial attention in subacute stroke patients with and without neglect. *Cortex* (2010) 46(5):602–12. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2009. 06.004
- Luukkainen-Markkula R, Tarkka I, Pitkänen K, Sivenius J, Hämäläinen H. Comparison of the Behavioural Inattention Test and the Catherine Bergego Scale in assessment of hemispatial neglect. *Neuropsychol Rehabil* (2011) 21(1):103–16. doi:10.1080/09602011.2010.531619

- Jehkonen M, Saunamäki T, Alzamora A-K, Laihosalo M, Kuikka P. Driving ability in stroke patients with residual visual inattention: a case study. *Neurocase* (2012) 18(2):160–6. doi:10.1080/13554794.2011.568504
- Buxbaum LJ, Dawson AM, Linsley D. Reliability and validity of the Virtual Reality Lateralized Attention Test in assessing hemispatial neglect in right-hemisphere stroke. *Neuropsychology* (2012) 26(4):430. doi:10.1037/ a0028674
- Bonato M, Deouell LY. Hemispatial neglect: computer-based testing allows more sensitive quantification of attentional disorders and recovery and might lead to better evaluation of rehabilitation. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2013) 7:162. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00162
- Bonato M, Priftis K, Marenzi R, Umiltà C, Zorzi M. Deficits of contralesional awareness: a case study on what paper-and-pencil tests neglect. *Neuropsychology* (2012) 26(1):20. doi:10.1037/a0025306
- Bonato M, Priftis K, Umiltà C, Zorzi M. Computer-based attention-demanding testing unveils severe neglect in apparently intact patients. *Behav Neurol* (2013) 26(3):179–81. doi:10.3233/BEN-2012-129005
- Bonato M. Neglect and extinction depend greatly on task demands: a review. Front Hum Neurosci (2012) 6:195. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2012. 00195
- Blini E, Romeo Z, Spironelli C, Pitteri M, Meneghello F, Bonato M, et al. Multitasking uncovers right spatial neglect and extinction in chronic left-hemisphere stroke patients. *Neuropsychologia* (2016) 92:147–57. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2016.02.028
- 32. Pflugshaupt T, Bopp SA, Heinemann D, Mosimann UP, von Wartburg R, Nyffeler T, et al. Residual oculomotor and exploratory deficits in patients with recovered hemineglect. *Neuropsychologia* (2004) 42(9):1203–11. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2004.02.002
- Marcotte TD, Grant I. Neuropsychology of Everyday Functioning. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2009).
- 34. Aravind G, Lamontagne A. Dual tasking negatively impacts obstacle avoidance abilities in post-stroke individuals with visuospatial neglect: task complexity matters! *Restor Neurol Neurosci* (2017) 35(4):423–36. doi:10.3233/ RNN-160709
- Bowen A, Lincoln NB. Rehabilitation for spatial neglect improves test performance but not disability. *Stroke* (2007) 38(10):2869–70. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.107.490227
- Bowen A, Hazelton C, Pollock A, Lincoln NB. Cognitive rehabilitation for spatial neglect following stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2013) 7:CD003586. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003586.pub3
- Verlander D, Hayes A, McInnes J, Liddle R, Liddle G, Clarke G, et al. Assessment of clients with visual spatial disorders: a pilot study. *Vis Impair Res* (2000) 2(3):129–42. doi:10.1076/vimr.2.3.129.4422
- Ten Brink AF, Visser-Meily JM, Nijboer TC. Dynamic assessment of visual neglect: the mobility assessment course as a diagnostic tool. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2017):1–12. doi:10.1080/13803395.2017.1324562
- Rengachary J, d'Avossa G, Sapir A, Shulman GL, Corbetta M. Is the posner reaction time test more accurate than clinical tests in detecting left neglect in acute and chronic stroke? *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* (2009) 90(12):2081–8. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2009.07.014
- Pollock A, St George B, Fenton M, Firkins L. Top 10 research priorities relating to life after stroke-consensus from stroke survivors, caregivers, and health professionals. *Int J* (2014) 9(3):313–20. doi:10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00942.x
- Rowe F, Brand D, Jackson CA, Price A, Walker L, Harrison S, et al. Visual impairment following stroke: do stroke patients require vision assessment? *Age Ageing* (2008) 38(2):188–93. doi:10.1093/ageing/afn230
- Halligan PW, Cockburn J, Wilson BA. The behavioural assessment of visual neglect. *Neuropsychol Rehabil* (1991) 1(1):5–32. doi:10.1080/09602019 108401377
- Halligan P, Marshall J, Wade D. Visuospatial neglect: underlying factors and test sensitivity. *Lancet* (1989) 334(8668):908–11. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(89)91561-4
- Friedman PJ. The star cancellation test in acute stroke. *Clin Rehabil* (1992) 6(1):23–30. doi:10.1177/026921559200600104

- Halligan PW, Marshall JC, Wade D. Do visual field deficits exacerbate visuo-spatial neglect? J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1990) 53(6):487–91. doi:10.1136/ jnnp.53.6.487
- Marshall JC, Halligan PW. Does the midsagittal plane play any privileged role in "left" neglect? *Cogn Neuropsychol* (1989) 6(4):403–22. doi:10.1080/02643298908253290
- Menon A, Korner-Bitensky N. Evaluating unilateral spatial neglect post stroke: working your way through the maze of assessment choices. *Top Stroke Rehabil* (2004) 11(3):41–66. doi:10.1310/KQWL-3HQL-4KNM-5F4U
- Bowen A, Gardener E, Cross S, Tyrrell P, Graham J. Developing functional outcome measures for unilateral neglect: a pilot study. *Neuropsychol Rehabil* (2005) 15(2):97–113. doi:10.1080/09602010443000010
- Metz CE, editor. Basic principles of ROC analysis. Semin Nucl Med (1978) 8(4):283–98. doi:10.1016/S0001-2998(78)80014-2
- Zweig MH, Campbell G. Receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) plots: a fundamental evaluation tool in clinical medicine. *Clin Chem* (1993) 39(4):561–77.
- Hanley JA, McNeil BJ. The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. *Radiology* (1982) 143(1):29–36. doi:10.1148/radiology.143.1.7063747
- Zou KH, O'Malley AJ, Mauri L. Receiver-operating characteristic analysis for evaluating diagnostic tests and predictive models. *Circulation* (2007) 115(5):654–7. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.594929
- Hosmer DW Jr, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant RX. Applied Logistic Regression. John Wiley & Sons (2013).
- DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. *Biometrics* (1988) 44:837–45. doi:10.2307/2531595
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Hilsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates (1988). 2 p.
- Appelros P, Nydevik I, Karlsson GM, Thorwalls A, Seiger Å. Assessing unilateral neglect: shortcomings of standard test methods. *Disabil Rehabil* (2003) 25(9):473–9. doi:10.1080/0963828031000071714
- Neguţ A, Matu S-A, Sava FA, David D. Virtual reality measures in neuropsychological assessment: a meta-analytic review. *Clin Neuropsychol* (2016) 30(2):165–84. doi:10.1080/13854046.2016.1144793
- Beis J-M, Keller C, Morin N, Bartolomeo P, Bernati T, Chokron S, et al. Right spatial neglect after left hemisphere stroke qualitative and quantitative study. *Neurology* (2004) 63(9):1600–5. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000142967. 60579.32
- Buxbaum LJ, Palermo MA, Mastrogiovanni D, Read MS, Rosenberg-Pitonyak E, Rizzo AA, et al. Assessment of spatial attention and neglect with a virtual wheelchair navigation task. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* (2008) 30(6):650–60. doi:10.1080/13803390701625821
- Deouell LY, Sacher Y, Soroker N. Assessment of spatial attention after brain damage with a dynamic reaction time test. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2005) 11(6):697–707. doi:10.1017/S1355617705050824
- Eschenbeck P, Vossel S, Weiss PH, Saliger J, Karbe H, Fink GR. Testing for neglect in right-hemispheric stroke patients using a new assessment battery based upon standardized activities of daily living (ADL). *Neuropsychologia* (2010) 48(12):3488–96. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.07.034
- Stone SP, Halligan PW, Marshall JC, Greenwood RJ. Unilateral neglect: a common but heterogeneous syndrome. *Neurology* (1998) 50(6):1902–5. doi:10.1212/WNL.50.6.1902

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Grech, Stuart, Williams, Chen and Loetscher. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Carotid Artery Stenting on Cerebral Perfusion, Functional Connectivity, and Cognition in Severe Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis Patients

Tao Wang, Dong Sun, Yumin Liu, Bin Mei, Huagang Li, Shengming Zhang and Junjian Zhang*

Department of Neurology, Zhongnan Hospital, Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

Background and purpose: Asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis can lead to not only stroke but also cognition impairment. Although it has been proven that carotid artery stenting (CAS) can reduce the risk of future strokes, the effect of CAS on cognition is conflicting. In recent years, pulsed arterial spin labeling (pASL) MRI and resting-state functional MRI (R-fMRI) have been employed in cognitive impairment studies. For the present study, cognition is evaluated in severe asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients undergoing CAS, and the mechanisms underlying the cognitive change are explored by pASL MRI and R-fMRI.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Silver, University of Massachusetts Medical School, United States

Reviewed by:

Nishant K. Mishra, Tulane University, United States Gian Marco De Marchis, University of Basel, Switzerland Sebastien Thielemann contributed to the review of Gian Marco De Marchis

*Correspondence:

Junjian Zhang wdsjkx@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 23 February 2017 Accepted: 26 July 2017 Published: 09 August 2017

Citation:

Wang T, Sun D, Liu Y, Mei B, Li H, Zhang S and Zhang J (2017) The Impact of Carotid Artery Stenting on Cerebral Perfusion, Functional Connectivity, and Cognition in Severe Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis Patients. Front. Neurol. 8:403. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00403 **Materials and methods:** We prospectively enrolled 24 asymptomatic, severe (\geq 70%), unilateral internal carotid artery stenosis patients, who were expecting the intervention of CAS. Cognition assessment (including the Montreal Cognitive Assessment Beijing Version, the Minimum Mental State Examination, the Digit Symbol Test, the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, and the Verbal Memory Test) and an integrated MRI program (pASL MRI, and R-fMRI) were administered 7 days before and 3 months after CAS.

Results: 16 subjects completed the follow-up study. After stenting, significant improvement in the scores of the MMSE, the Verbal Memory test, and the delayed recall was found. No significant difference was found in the scores of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment Beijing Version, the Digit Symbol Test, and the immediate recall. After CAS treatment, asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed increased perfusion in the left frontal gyrus, increased amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (ALFF) in the right precentral gyrus, and increased connectivity to the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) in the right supra frontal gyrus. However, no significant correlations were found between these imaging changes and cognition assessments.

Conclusion: Successful CAS can partly improve cognition in asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients. The cognition improvement may be partly attributed to the increased perfusion in the left frontal gyrus, increased ALFF in the right precentral gyrus, and increased connectivity to the PCC in the right supra frontal gyrus.

Keywords: carotid artery stenting, asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis, cognition, pulsed arterial spin labeling, resting-state functional MRI, default mode network

27

INTRODUCTION

Carotid artery stenosis without transient ischemic attack (TIA) and stroke is considered as "asymptomatic" (1, 2). However, a number of studies have demonstrated that asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients had significantly poorer performance in executive function and memory, indicating that "asymptomatic" carotid stenosis might not be truly asymptomatic (3–7). Carotid endarterectomy (CEA) had been traditionally performed to prevent stroke in patients with high-grade carotid stenosis (8). However, carotid artery stenting (CAS) is now being investigated as an alternative to CEA (9). Although both CEA and CAS have been proven to reduce future strokes, the effect of CEA and CAS on cognition still remained conflicting (9–11).

In past few years, several imaging techniques, such as pulsed arterial spin labeling (pASL) MRI and resting-state functional MRI (R-fMRI), had been increasingly used to study cognitive impairment in humans. In this study, we evaluated the cognition performance in severe asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients undergoing CAS and explored the mechanisms underlying the cognition changes by the integrated MRI techniques including pASL MRI and R-fMRI.

PARTICIPANTS, INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA

From January 2015 to June 2016, successful CAS was performed in 24 asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients, and the followup study was completed for 16 patients. No vascular complications occurred in these 16 subjects. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) age between 55 years and 80 years; (2) unilateral internal carotid artery stenotic degree \geq 70%; (3) right-hand-dominant; (4) free of stroke, TIA, dementia, and depression; (5) modified Rankin Scale: 0 or 1; (6) no major medical conditions; and (7) obtained written informed consent. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) contralateral internal carotid artery stenosis \geq 50%; (2) posterior circulation diseases; (3) MMSE < 26, which is a cutoff value for mild cognitive impairment; (4) functional disability (modified Rankin Scale \geq 2); (5) severe systemic diseases and neuropsychiatric diseases (such as congestive heart failure and history of stroke); (6) any contraindications for MRI scan (e.g., metal implants); (7) low education level (<6 years); (8) evidence of carotid dissection; (9) intracranial aneurysm or arteriovenous malformation; and (10) allergy to heparin, aspirin, or clopidogrel. All procedures involved in this study were approved by Zhongnan Hospital Review Board.

CAS PROCEDURE AND CLINICAL FOLLOW-UP

After stenting, all final residual diameter stenosis was \leq 20%. Systolic blood pressure was carefully maintained between 100 and 140 mmHg, and no complications were found. Aspirin and clopidogrel were continued for at least 3 months after successful intervention.

NEUROCOGNITIVE ASSESSMENT

Cognition assessments were completed within 1 week after MRI scan. The MMSE and MoCA Beijing Version were used to assess the global cognition. In the Digit Symbol Test, subjects were required to translate numbers to symbols in a given time and correct translations within 90 s were recorded. The Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test was used to evaluate the memory and verbal learning ability. In this test, participants had to recall all the words remembered, and this procedure was repeated five times. These were recorded so that the total number of words was immediately recalled during the first five repeats and the delayed recall of the first list. In the Digit Span Test, participants were required to repeat the orally presented lists of numbers, beginning with a twonumber sequence, and each correct performance was followed by one additional number. In the forward span, participants were asked to retell the span in forward order, and in the backward span, the participant was asked to retell the span in reverse order.

BRAIN IMAGING ACQUISITION

MRI images were acquired using a 3.0 T Siemens scanner in Zhongnan Hospital. T1 images were collected using MP-RAGE sequence. Scan parameters were as follows: flip angle = 9°, TR = 2,250 ms, TE = 2.26 ms, slice thickness = 1.0 mm, inversion time = 900 ms, number of slices = 176, data matrix = 215 × 256, and FOV = 256 mm × 224 mm. pASL perfusion images were collected using Q2TIPS II technique. Scan parameters were as follows: TR = 2,500 ms, TE = 11 ms, FOV = 240 mm × 240 mm, matrix = 64 × 64, FA = 90°, and slice thickness = 6 mm. R-fMRI was acquired using EPI sequence: repetition time = 2,000 ms, echo time = 30 ms, flip angle = 90°, number of slices = 33, slice thickness = 3.8 mm, gap = 1 mm, data matrix = 64 × 64, and field of view = 240 mm × 240 mm.

IMAGE PROCESSING

Pulsed arterial spin labeling

relCBF maps were automatically generated by Siemens workstation, and the relCBF correct map of each participant was normalized to EPI template provided by Statistical Parametric Mapping 8 (SPM8). The final voxel size was 3 mm× 3 mm× 3 mm. Each subject's relCBF map was transformed into standard MNI space using these transformation parameters. The normalized relCBF maps were smoothed for comparisons with 8-mm FWHM isotropic Gaussian kernel. These individual maps were then entered into SPM8 to identify significant different regions between two groups.

R-fMRI Preprocessing

Resting-state functional MRI preprocessing was performed with Data Processing Assistant for Resting-State fMRI (DPABI 2.1). The first 10 volumes of each time series were abandoned. Then, the images were corrected for slice timing and realigned. Afterward, images were normalized into standard MNI space and smoothed with 8-mm FWHM isotropic Gaussian kernel.

Amplitude of Low-Frequency Fluctuation (ALFF)

Amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation calculation was performed with Resting-State fMRI Data Analysis Toolkit (REST 1.8). One-sample *t*-test was performed using SPM8 in each group to detect the regions with higher-than-mean ALFF. Two-sample *t*-test was performed to determine differences between these mALFF images. Significantly different regions were shown on MNI templates. The two-sample *t*-test results were restricted within the mask made from the results of one-sample *t*-tests performed for two groups.

Functional Connectivity

All images were filtered with a 0.01-0.08 Hz band-pass filter to reduce the noise before FC analysis. The ROI was located in the bilateral posterior cingulate cortex (PCC). The mean ROI signal was counted by average all voxels in bilateral PCC. The ROI time course was used for correlation analysis with all other voxels in the brain. To normalize the correlation coefficients, Fisher *z*-transform was then applied. One-sample *t*-test was performed using SPM8 in each group to detect the regions with significant connectivity to the PCC. Then, two-sample *t*-test was performed to determine differences between these *z*-FC image groups. Significant different regions were shown on MNI templates. The two-sample *t*-test results were restricted within the mask made from the results of one-sample *t*-tests performed for two groups.

Statistical Analysis

We used IBM SPSS 20.0 and SPM8 to perform statistical analyses. Paired Student's *t*-test was used to detect significant differences, and significance was set at 0.05. Age and education were used as covariates in all tests involving cognition. After analyzing pASL, ALFF, and FC, regions with significant differences were extracted as ROIs, and Spearman correlation was then performed to detect the relationship between imaging differences and cognition scores.

RESULTS

Part 1: **Table 1** shows the demographic information and cognitive test scores at baseline and 3 months after CAS. Significant improvements in the MMSE, Verbal Memory test, and delayed recall were observed. There is no decline in any individual scores (**Table 1**).

Part 2: Difference in CBF between baseline and 3 months after performance. Compared with baseline, the asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed the increased CBF mainly in the left frontal gyrus, anterior cingulate, left occipital gyrus, and left cerebellum (**Table 2**; **Figure 1**).

Part 3: Differences in ALFF between baseline and 3 months after treatment. After treatment, the asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed significantly increased ALFF predominantly in the right precentral gyrus. The asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients also showed decreased ALFF mainly in the left and right cerebellum anterior lobe (**Table 3; Figure 2**).

 TABLE 1 | Demographic information and neuropsychological test scores at baseline and 3 months after CAS.

Characteristics	Baseline	P-value				
Age (years)	6	66.8 ± 5.8				
Male:female		12:4				
Education (years)	ę	9.9 ± 3.0				
Hypertension		15				
Diabetes mellitus		4				
Hypercholesterolemia		7				
Stenotic side						
Left		5				
Right		11				
MMSE	27.0	28.0	0.01*			
MoCA	23.5	24.0	0.05			
Verbal Memory Test						
Forward digit span	6.0	6.0	0.04*			
Backward digit span	4.0	5.0	0.04*			
Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test						
Immediate recall	29.5	34.5	0.19			
Delayed recall	4.0	6.5	0.03*			
Digit Symbol Test	26.5	30.5	0.14			

*Statistically significant difference

CAS, carotid artery stenting.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 2}}\xspace |$ Significant CBF difference between baseline and 3 months after CAS with their location.

	Number of voxels	-	eak MI		Peak MNI coordinate region	Peak T value
		X	Y	Z		
1	1956	-12	-81	-36	Left occipital gyrus, left cerebellum	5.98
2	1212	-3	15	12	Left frontal gyrus, anterior cingulate	3.97

CAS, carotid artery stenting.

Part 4: Differences in FC to PCC between baseline and 3 months after intervention. After intervention, the asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed the increased connectivity to the PCC mainly in the right supra frontal gyrus. There was no region showing decreased connectivity to the PCC (**Table 4**; **Figure 3**).

Part 5: Relationship between imaging changes and cognition scores. No significant correlation was found between imaging differences and cognition scores (P > 0.05 for all).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we found that CAS could improve global cognition (assessed by MMSE) and memory (assessed by Verbal Memory test and delayed recall test) in asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients, which is agreed with previous reports (12, 13). Since cognitive impairment could also predict mortality, it may be misleading that using stroke as the only outcome marker in CEA and CAS (14).

Silent infarction and cerebral hypoperfusion are the main mechanisms in the development of cognitive decline in asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients, indicating that cognition may be improved by reducing silent infarction and restoring CBF.



FIGURE 1 | The CBF was significantly increased in the left frontal gyrus, anterior cingulate, left occipital gyrus, and left cerebellum 3 months after carotid artery stenting. The result was corrected using the AlphaSim program, which was set at P < 0.01 and number of voxels > 611, which was corresponded to a corrected P < 0.05. The left part of the figure represented the patient's right side.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 3}}\xspace$ | Significant ALFF difference between baseline and 3 months after treatment with their location.

			Peak M oordin		Peak MNI coordinate region	Peak <i>T</i> value
		x	Y	Z		
1	267	24	-12	60	Right precentral gyrus	5.24
2	550	6	-57	-27	Left and right cerebellum anterior lobe	-6.92

T>0 indicated increased ALFF 3 months after treatment. T<0 indicated decreased ALFF 3 months after treatment.

ALFF, amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation.

Our results showed the increased regional CBF mainly in the left frontal gyrus, anterior cingulate, left occipital gyrus, and left cerebellum after CAS. The increased CBF found in the occipital gyrus and cerebellum could be explained by the presence of functional circle of Willis. Since frontal gyrus and anterior cingulate consisted of regions that mediated memory and executive function, increased CBF in these regions may contribute to the cognitive improvement after CAS.

In recent years, more and more studies had demonstrated that cognition output was not dependent on the individual brain region, but dependent on network regions (15). A number of studies had already demonstrated this opinion in patients with neurodegenerative diseases (16, 17). The default mode network (DMN) was one of them (18). By functional MRI and PET studies, the most common DMN components are the PCC, the medial prefrontal cortex, the anterior cingulate cortex, the inferior parietal lobule, and other regions (19, 20). The DMN was suggested to play important role in cognition, such as reviewing past knowledge and processing memory (18, 21–23). Another reason



FIGURE 2 | Significant difference in amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (ALFF) between baseline and 3 months after treatment. After treatment, the asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed significantly increased ALFF predominantly in the right precentral gyrus. The asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients also showed decreased ALFF mainly in the left and right cerebellum anterior lobe. Red indicates 3 months after treatment < baseline and blue indicates 3 months after treatment < baseline. The result was corrected using the AlphaSim program, which was set at P < 0.01 and number of voxels > 175, which was corresponded to a corrected P < 0.025.

TABLE 4 | Significant connectivity difference to the posterior cingulate cortex

 between baseline and 3 months after intervention with their location.

	Number of voxels		eak M ordina		Peak MNI coordinate region	Peak <i>T</i> value
		x	Y	Ζ	_	
1	186	24	57	3	Right supra frontal gyrus	3.49

selecting DMN for analysis was that previous study had demonstrated that DMN was especially easily affected by hypoperfusion (24). The PCC, supplied by the precuneal artery from its origins at the ICA, had been shown to be a key point in DMN and involved in cognitive decline (19).

Among the indexes utilized in R-fMRI, ALFF was a useful index to reflect spontaneous neuronal activities (25–28). We noted that the asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed increased ALFF mainly in the right precentral gyrus after CAS, which belonged to the DMN. Thus, cognitive improvement after CAS could also be partially attributed to the increased activities in these regions. Since previous studies had indicated that the cerebellum not only regulated motor control but also involved in cognition tasks (29, 30). The decreased ALFF in the cerebellum anterior lobe may further illustrate the cognition role of cerebellum, but the mechanisms had not been illustrated exactly and needed further more studies.

We compared the FC to the PCC before and after CAS treatment and found that the asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed increased connectivity to the PCC mainly in the right supra frontal gyrus after CAS. There was no region showing decreased connectivity to the PCC. The increased regions were also overlapped with the anterior part of the DMN. Since the anterior part of the DMN was specially associated with executive function and memory, the cognitive improvement



FIGURE 3 | Significant connectivity difference to the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) between baseline and 3 months after intervention. After treatment, the asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients showed the increased connectivity to the PCC mainly in the right supra frontal gyrus. The result was corrected using the AlphaSim program, by setting at P < 0.01 and number of voxels > 142, which corresponded to a corrected P < 0.05.

could also be partially attributed to the increased FC to the PCC in the anterior part of DMN, but no significant correlation was found (31, 32).

Nevertheless, several limitations in this study should be discussed. First, the sample size was not big enough. Second, it was extremely difficult to define the stenosis timing. Longer occlusion duration may potentially affect the cognition reversibility. Third, the follow-up interval was relatively short. Fourth, no control group was included.

In summary, this prospective study demonstrated that successful CAS could partly improve cognition dysfunction in asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients. By the integrated MRI techniques including pASL MRI and R-fMRI, we also found increased perfusion in the left frontal gyrus and anterior cingulate, increased ALFF in the right precentral gyrus, and enhanced connectivity to the PCC in the right supra frontal gyrus after CAS. Since these regions are overlapped with DMN, the cognition improvement by CAS in asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis patients may be partly attributed to these changes.

REFERENCES

- Petty GW, Brown RD Jr, Whisnant JP, Sicks JD, O'Fallon WM, Wiebers DO. Ischemic stroke subtypes: a population-based study of incidence and risk factors. *Stroke* (1999) 30(12):2513–6. doi:10.1161/01.STR.30.12.2513
- 2. Inzitari D, Eliasziw M, Gates P, Sharpe BL, Chan RK, Meldrum HE, et al. The causes and risk of stroke in patients with asymptomatic internal-carotid-artery

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of "Zhongnan Hospital Review Board" with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the "Zhongnan Hospital Review Board."

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TW: analysis and interpretation of data. DS, YL, BM, HL, and SZ: acquisition of data. JZ: study concept and design.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Feng Xiao, Xiaoli Zhong, and Xiaohui Chen for MRI technical support. This work was supported by the science and technology support program of Hubei province, China (Grant number: 2014BCB044 and 2013BCB007).

stenosis. North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial Collaborators. *N Engl J Med* (2000) 342(23):1693–700. doi:10.1056/ NEJM200006083422302

 Mathiesen EB, Waterloo K, Joakimsen O, Bakke SJ, Jacobsen EA, Bønaa KH. Reduced neuropsychological test performance in asymptomatic carotid stenosis: The Tromso Study. *Neurology* (2004) 62(5):695–701. doi:10.1212/01. WNL.0000113759.80877.1F

- Romero JR, Beiser A, Seshadri S, Benjamin EJ, Polak JF, Vasan RS, et al. Carotid artery atherosclerosis, MRI indices of brain ischemia, aging, and cognitive impairment: the Framingham study. *Stroke* (2009) 40(5):1590–6. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.535245
- Sztriha LK, Nemeth D, Sefcsik T, Vecsei L. Carotid stenosis and the cognitive function. J Neurol Sci (2009) 283(1–2):36–40. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2009.02.307
- Popovic IM, Lovrencic-Huzjan A, Simundic AM, Popovic A, Seric V, Demarin V. Cognitive performance in asymptomatic patients with advanced carotid disease. *Cogn Behav Neurol* (2011) 24(3):145–51. doi:10.1097/ WNN.0b013e3182313020
- Wang T, Mei B, Zhang J. Atherosclerotic carotid stenosis and cognitive function. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2016) 146:64–70. doi:10.1016/j. clineuro.2016.03.027
- Halliday A, Mansfield A, Marro J, Peto C, Peto R, Potter J, et al. Prevention of disabling and fatal strokes by successful carotid endarterectomy in patients without recent neurological symptoms: randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2004) 363(9420):1491–502. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16146-1
- Brott TG, Hobson RW II, Howard G, Roubin GS, Clark WM, Brooks W, et al. Stenting versus endarterectomy for treatment of carotid-artery stenosis. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363(1):11–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0912321
- Yadav JS, Wholey MH, Kuntz RE, Fayad P, Katzen BT, Mishkel GJ, et al. Protected carotid-artery stenting versus endarterectomy in high-risk patients. N Engl J Med (2004) 351(15):1493–501. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa040127
- De Rango P, Caso V, Leys D, Paciaroni M, Lenti M, Cao P. The role of carotid artery stenting and carotid endarterectomy in cognitive performance: a systematic review. *Stroke* (2008) 39(11):3116–27. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.108.518357
- Kelly MP, Garron DC, Javid H. Carotid artery disease, carotid endarterectomy, and behavior. Arch Neurol (1980) 37(12):743–8. doi:10.1001/ archneur.1980.00500610023002
- Sasoh M, Ogasawara K, Kuroda K, Okuguchi T, Terasaki K, Yamadate K, et al. Effects of EC-IC bypass surgery on cognitive impairment in patients with hemodynamic cerebral ischemia. *Surg Neurol* (2003) 59(6):455–60. doi:10.1016/S0090-3019(03)00152-6
- Pettigrew LC, Thomas N, Howard VJ, Veltkamp R, Toole JF. Low mini-mental status predicts mortality in asymptomatic carotid arterial stenosis. Asymptomatic Carotid Atherosclerosis Study investigators. *Neurology* (2000) 55(1):30–4. doi:10.1212/WNL.55.7.30A
- Mesulam M. Defining neurocognitive networks in the BOLD new world of computed connectivity. *Neuron* (2009) 62(1):1–3. doi:10.1016/j.neuron. 2009.04.001
- Kozel FA, Rao U, Lu H, Nakonezny PA, Grannemann B, McGregor T, et al. Functional connectivity of brain structures correlates with treatment outcome in major depressive disorder. *Front Psychiatry* (2011) 2:7. doi:10.3389/ fpsyt.2011.00007
- Xie C, Goveas J, Wu Z, Li W, Chen G, Franczak M, et al. Neural basis of the association between depressive symptoms and memory deficits in nondemented subjects: resting-state fMRI study. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2012) 33(6):1352–63. doi:10.1002/hbm.21291
- Raichle ME, MacLeod AM, Snyder AZ, Powers WJ, Gusnard DA, Shulman GL. A default mode of brain function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(2):676–82. doi:10.1073/pnas.98.2.676
- Greicius MD, Krasnow B, Reiss AL, Menon V. Functional connectivity in the resting brain: a network analysis of the default mode hypothesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(1):253–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0135058100

- De Luca M, Beckmann CF, De Stefano N, Matthews PM, Smith SM. fMRI resting state networks define distinct modes of long-distance interactions in the human brain. *Neuroimage* (2006) 29(4):1359–67. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2005.08.035
- Greicius MD, Srivastava G, Reiss AL, Menon V. Default-mode network activity distinguishes Alzheimer's disease from healthy aging: evidence from functional MRI. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(13):4637–42. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308627101
- 22. Gusnard DA, Akbudak E, Shulman GL, Raichle ME. Medial prefrontal cortex and self-referential mental activity: relation to a default mode of brain function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(7):4259–64. doi:10.1073/pnas.071043098
- Binder JR, Frost JA, Hammeke TA, Bellgowan PS, Rao SM, Cox RW. Conceptual processing during the conscious resting state. A functional MRI study. J Cogn Neurosci (1999) 11(1):80–95. doi:10.1162/089892999563265
- Liang X, Zou Q, He Y, Yang Y. Coupling of functional connectivity and regional cerebral blood flow reveals a physiological basis for network hubs of the human brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(5):1929–34. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1214900110
- Hoptman MJ, Zuo XN, Butler PD, Javitt DC, D'Angelo D, Mauro CJ, et al. Amplitude of low-frequency oscillations in schizophrenia: a resting state fMRI study. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 117(1):13–20. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2009.09.030
- Huang XQ, Lui S, Deng W, Chan RC, Wu QZ, Jiang LJ, et al. Localization of cerebral functional deficits in treatment-naive, first-episode schizophrenia using resting-state fMRI. *Neuroimage* (2010) 49(4):2901–6. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2009.11.072
- Liu Y, Liang P, Duan Y, Jia X, Wang F, Yu C, et al. Abnormal baseline brain activity in patients with neuromyelitis optica: a resting-state fMRI study. *Eur J Radiol* (2011) 80(2):407–11. doi:10.1016/j.ejrad.2010.05.002
- Yin Y, Li L, Jin C, Hu X, Duan L, Eyler LT, et al. Abnormal baseline brain activity in posttraumatic stress disorder: a resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neurosci Lett* (2011) 498(3):185–9. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2011.02.069
- Schmahmann JD, Caplan D. Cognition, emotion and the cerebellum. *Brain* (2006) 129(Pt 2):290–2. doi:10.1093/brain/awh729
- Stoodley CJ, Valera EM, Schmahmann JD. Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* (2012) 59(2):1560–70. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065
- Gilbert SJ, Bird G, Brindley R, Frith CD, Burgess PW. Atypical recruitment of medial prefrontal cortex in autism spectrum disorders: an fMRI study of two executive function tasks. *Neuropsychologia* (2008) 46(9):2281–91. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.03.025
- 32. Amodio DM, Frith CD. Meeting of minds: the medial frontal cortex and social cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2006) 7(4):268–77. doi:10.1038/nrn1884

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Wang, Sun, Liu, Mei, Li, Zhang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Midterm Blood Pressure Variability Is Associated with Poststroke Cognitive Impairment: A Prospective Cohort Study

Shan Geng, Na Liu, Pin Meng, Niu Ji, Yong'an Sun, Yingda Xu, Guanghui Zhang, Xiaobing He, Zenglin Cai, Bei Wang, Bei Xu, Zaipo Li, Xiaoqin Niu, Yongjin Zhang, Bingchao Xu, Xinyu Zhou and Mingli He*

Department of Neurology, The Affiliated Lianyungang Hospital of Xuzhou Medical University, Lianyungang, China

Objective: The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between blood pressure variability (BPV) and poststroke cognitive impairment (PSCI).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Silver, University of Massachusetts Medical School, United States

Reviewed by:

Loes C. A. Rutten-Jacobs, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Terence J. Quinn, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Mingli He lyghml@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> **Received:** 20 April 2017 **Accepted:** 11 July 2017 **Published:** 28 July 2017

Citation:

Geng S, Liu N, Meng P, Ji N, Sun Y, Xu Y, Zhang G, He X, Cai Z, Wang B, Xu B, Li Z, Niu X, Zhang Y, Xu B, Zhou X and He M (2017) Midterm Blood Pressure Variability Is Associated with Poststroke Cognitive Impairment: A Prospective Cohort Study. Front. Neurol. 8:365. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00365 **Methods:** Seven-hundred ninety-six patients with acute ischemic stroke were included in this study. Midterm BPV was evaluated by calculating the SD and coefficient of variation (CV, 100 × SD/mean) of systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure during the 7 days after stroke onset. Cognitive function was assessed using the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) at admission and at all follow-up visits. Patients with MoCA scores <26 were considered to have PSCI.

Results: The incidence of PSCI reached its peak (72%) 3 months after stroke onset and decreased to 30.3% at 12 months poststroke. After adjusting for covariables, the increase in the prevalence of PSCI at 3 months was independently associated with increases in the CV of blood pressure during the 7 days after stroke [odds ratios and 95% CI for patients in the second to fifth quintiles of SBP CV were 2.28 (1.18, 4.39), 2.33 (1.18, 4.62), 2.69 (1.31, 5.53), and 4.76 (1.95, 11.67), respectively]. Sub-analysis of the MoCA scores revealed that the patients had impairments in visuoperceptual abilities and executive functions, as well as in naming and delayed recall (p < 0.05).

Conclusion: Midterm BPV during the early phase of acute ischemic stroke is independently associated with PSCI, especially in the visuoperceptual, executive, and delayed recall domains.

Clinical Trial Registration: http://www.chictr.org.cn, identifier ChiCTR-TRC-14004804.

Keywords: stroke, cognitive impairment, Montreal Cognitive Assessment, blood pressure variability, subfactors

INTRODUCTION

Poststroke cognitive impairment (PSCI) involves deficits in memory, comprehension, perception, language, and executive function (1). In the past 10 years, PSCI has been the subject of much attention, as it leads to poor life quality, slow functional recovery, and higher mortality. Current evidence suggests that PSCI occurs is about two-thirds of patients during the acute phase of

34

ischemic stroke (2), and that 20–30% of patients with PSCI will develop dementia (3).

Multiple factors have been found to lead to progression of cognitive impairment and dementia after stroke. These include older age, family history, genetic variations, poor educational status, vascular comorbidities, and depression (4). Recently, a cohort study of 6,506 elderly individuals who were followed up for 8 years indicated that an increase of 1 SD in the coefficient of variability of systolic blood pressure (SBP) or diastolic blood pressure (DBP) is associated with an increase of about 10% in the risk of dementia (5). Higher visit-to-visit blood pressure variability (BPV) has also been proved to be associated with cognitive function impairment in the elderly (6). BPV has also been shown to be associated with neurological impairment (7), progression of brain white matter lesions (8), hemorrhagic transformation after ischemic stroke (9), and poor long-term prognosis (10). However, it is still unclear whether higher BPV is a cause or consequence of PSCI.

Poststroke cognitive impairment is not a unitary disease, but involves deficits in multiple domains. However, prospective follow-up studies regarding long-term domain-specific cognitive impairments are rare (11). The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between BPV and PSCI and the prevalence of domain-specific cognitive impairment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

We carried out a single-center, prospective, observational study. The protocol of this study was registered with Chinese Clinical Trial Registry (ChiCTR-TRC-14004804; http://www.chictr.org. cn/index.aspx) and derived from the expanded content of "stroke risk assessment form" and "follow-up table" determined by "stroke risk factors screening and intervention project," People's Republic of China Health Committee. Acute stroke was defined as the sudden attack of neurological deficit of cerebrovascular cause for more than 24 h. Computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) were used to diagnose stroke, to distinguish hemorrhage and ischemia, and to divide up the infarcts into the anterior and posterior depending on the location and area. The infarct volume was calculated by the Pullicino formula (12). From January 2013 to June 2014, 986 consecutive patients with acute ischemic stroke were registered in the Stroke Registry database. The study was approved by the ethic committee of the First People's Hospital of Lianyungang (No. Lianyungang-2012-06) and written informed consent was obtained from each patient or his/her proxy.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Patients meeting all of the following criteria were eligible to participate in our study: acute ischemic stroke within 24 h of onset, identified signs of focal neurological dysfunction, the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) scores \geq 4, and the total scores \geq 2 of the fifth motor arm and the sixth motor leg on NIHSS, ages between 40 and 75 years and SBP \geq 140 mmHg and/or DBP \geq 90 mmHg.

Patients meeting any of the following criteria were excluded from the study: severe disturbance of consciousness identified by a level of consciousness score >1 on the NIHSS (21 patients); modified Rankin Scale score >1 before stroke onset (no patients); severe mental disorder or dementia (7 patients); serious systemic diseases or expected life span <90 days (24 patients); alanine transaminase or aspartate aminotransferase >2.0, which is at the upper limit of normal, or severe liver disease (23 patients); estimated glomerular filtration rate <30 ml/min/1.73 m² or sever kidney disease (13 patients); aphasia (n = 36), inability to complete the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (n = 41); or being considered inappropriate (living or working non-local and have a lower degree of integrity) for the study (n = 25) (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material).

Management and Measurement of Blood Pressure

Patients with acute ischemic stroke were treated according to the 2010 Chinese Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute ischemic stroke. The antihypertensive strategies were in accordance with the 2010 Chinese Guidelines for Prevention and Treatment of Hypertension (13, 14). During the first 24 h of hospitalization, SBP and DBP were controlled to between 140 and 159 mmHg, and 90 and 99 mmHg, respectively. Patients with SBP \geq 180 mmHg and DBP \geq 120 mmHg were given nitroglycerine or sodium nitroprusside intravenous pump. The rate of blood pressure reduction was controlled at \leq 5 mmHg/h by adjusting the dose of the medication. For patients with SBPs of 160-180 mmHg and/or DBPs of 100-120 mmHg, single or combined antihypertensive drugs were administered. For patients with SBP < 160 mmHg and/or DBP < 100 mmHg at admission, no antihypertensive drugs were given. After the first 24 h of hospitalization, patients with SBP \geq 140 mmHg and $DBP \ge 90 \text{ mmHg}$ were given reasonable antihypertensive drugs.

Supine BP was measured by trained nurses using a standard mercury sphygmomanometer on the non-paralyzed arm on admission and every 4 h on days 1–7. In the stroke unit, BP was measured using a non-invasive BP monitoring system (Philips SureSigns VM6 monitor; Royal Dutch Philips Electronics Ltd., Amsterdam, Netherlands). Midterm BPV was evaluated by calculating the SD and coefficient of variation (CV, 100 \times SD/mean) of SBP and DBP during the 7 days after stroke onset (15).

Clinical Assessment

Ischemic stroke was defined as stroke identified by radiographic diagnosis (CT or MRI) and clinical diagnosis (16). The acute phase of ischemic stroke was defined as the 7 days following symptom onset (17). The infarct volume on CT/MRI (diffusion-weighted imaging/fluid attenuated inversion recovery) images was calculated using the Pullicino equation (net infarct volume = $L \times W \times H/2$; *L*, *W*, and *H* refer to the length, width, and height of the infarct lesion, respectively) (12). Thrombolytic therapy was defined as intravenous administration of recombinant tissue-type plasminogen activator (rt-PA) within 4.5 h of symptom onset or catheter-directed thrombolysis using rt-PA within 12 h of symptom onset.
Judgment of Outcomes and Follow-up

All participants were followed up 14 days, 3 months, 6 months, and 12 months after onset by trained neurologists. In this study, cognitive function was assessed using the MoCA. Patients with MoCA scores \leq 25 and education levels <12 years or those with MoCA scores \leq 26 and education levels >12 years were considered cognitively impaired (18). A study by Nasreddine and his colleagues demonstrated that the MoCA has a sensitivity of 90% and a specificity of 87% when a cutoff score of 26 is used (19). It is also reported that the MoCA is an effective and brief tool for detecting cognitive impairment in the elderly (20) and is more in line with the criteria for mild cognitive impairment than the Mini-Mental State Examination in populations older than 60 years (21).

At the 1-year follow-up, 62 patients had died and 124 patients were lost (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). The patient deaths were due to pulmonary infection, recurrence of cerebral infarction, cerebral hemorrhage, myocardial infarction, gastrointestinal bleeding, liver and kidney failure, or other complications. Loss to follow-up was due to the patients not agreeing to repeat the MoCA, or loss of contact due to changes in residence. Six-hundred ten patients were left at the 12-month follow-up.

Sample Size Estimation

According to the sample size calculation formula for cohort studies:

$$n = \frac{(u_{\alpha/2}\sqrt{2pq} + u_{\beta}\sqrt{p_0q_0 + p_1q_1})^2}{(p_1 - p_0)^2}$$

in which p_0 is the estimated prevalence of cognitive impairment, p_1 is the estimated prevalence of PSCI, $q_0 = 1 - p_0$, $q_1 = 1 - p_1$, $p = (p_0 + p_1)/2$, q = 1 - p. u_{α} and u_{β} are the significance testing statistic, $\alpha = 0.05$, $\beta = 0.10$. The calculated sample size required for the study was 115, based on those estimations that the prevalence of cognitive impairment and PSCI were 12.7 and 30% (22, 23).

Statistical Analysis

Normally distributed continuous variables are presented as means \pm SDs and were compared using Student's *t*-tests. Not normally distributed variables were presented as median (interquartile range) and were compared between groups using Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical variables are expressed as frequency and percentage and were compared using χ^2 tests. To evaluate the association between midterm BPV and cognitive function, patients were divided into quintiles (Q1-Q5) according to the CVs of SBP and DBP during the 7 days after stroke onset. The odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated by logistic regression and the following confounders was adjusted age, gender, education degree (less than 12 years), hypertension, SBP and DBP on admission, CIV, location of infarction (cortex, cortex-subcortical, subcortical, brain stem, and cerebellum), HAMD, and thrombolytic therapy. p Values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Data were analyzed using SPSS.v19.0.1 software package.

RESULTS

Clinical Characteristics

The clinical characteristics of the 708 patients are presented according to the presence of cognitive impairment 3 months after stroke onset, the patients who had died and those lost to follow-up are excluded from the data (Table 1). The average age of these patients was 63.1 ± 10.0 . Three-hundred eighty-three of the patients (54.1%) were men and 561 (79.2%) had less than 12 years of education. Compared to patients with no cognitive impairment, those with cognitive impairment were more likely to be older and have lower education levels and higher blood pressure on admission. They were also more likely to have a history of hypertension and lower NIHSS scores and to have received thrombolysis (Table 1). Patients with cognitive impairment also had higher CVs of blood pressure, cortical and subcortical infarction, large artery atherosclerosis, and small-artery occlusion, as classified by the guidelines of Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment (TOAST) (Table S1 in Supplementary Material).

MoCA Score and Incidence of PSCI

The incidence of PSCI began to rise at 14 days after onset (31.6%) and peaked 3 months after the stroke (72.6%). Six months after stroke onset, the incidence of PSCI began to decrease (66.5%). It reached the baseline level 12 months after the stroke (34.7%) (p < 0.05). A reciprocal trend for MoCA scores is shown in **Figure 1**.

Cognitive Impairment and BPV

Simple comparisons between patients with no cognitive impairment and those with cognitive impairment indicated that the two groups had differences in age, education level (more vs. less than 12 years), hypertension, systolic and DBP at admission, TOAST classification, location of infarction, NIHSS score at admission, and the use of thrombolysis (all p < 0.05) (Table 1; Table S1 in Supplementary Material). Logistic analysis indicated that the CV of SBP had a significant association with PSCI, and that this relationship still existed after multi-parameter adjustments. When compared to patients in Q1, the adjusted ORs and 95% CIs of those in Q2-Q5 were 2.28 (1.18, 4.39), 2.33 (1.18, 4.62), 2.69 (1.31, 5.53), and 4.76 (1.95, 11.67) (Table 2). The risk factors for PSCI are shown in Table S2 in Supplementary Material. Men were more likely to have cognitive impairment than women (OR = 1.08, 95% CI = 1.06, 1.10), and lower education levels (less than 12 years) (OR = 7.72, 95% CI = 4.73, 12.61). These factors are both associated with an increased likelihood of cognitive impairment. Hypertension (OR = 2.07, 95% CI = 1.15, 3.72) and higher NIHSS scores at admission (OR = 1.33, 95% CI = 1.24, 1.44) were also more likely to increase the incidence of PSCI (Table S2 in Supplementary Material).

MoCA Score in Each Cognitive Domain 3 Months after Stroke Onset and CV during the 7 days after Stroke Onset

 Table 3 shows the relationship between MoCA scores in each cognitive domain 3 months after stroke onset and the CV of SBP

TABLE 1 Comparison of ba	aseline characteristics between	patients with and without	t cognitive impairment 3	8 months after onset.
----------------------------	---------------------------------	---------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------

Variable	Total (<i>n</i> = 708)	No cognitive impairment (<i>n</i> = 198)	Cognitive impairment $(n = 510)$	t value, U value χ^2	p-Value
Age (mean \pm SD, years)	63.1 ± 10.0	58 ± 11.6	65.1 ± 8.5	-8.972	<0.001
Males (n, %)	383 (54.1)	115 (58.1)	268 (52.6)	1.758	0.185
Body mass index (mean \pm SD, kg/m ²)	25.7 ± 2.8	25.6 ± 2.9	25.8 ± 2.8	-0.740	0.460
Less than 12 years of education (n, %)	561 (79.2)	115 (58.1)	446 (87.5)	74.783	< 0.001
Hypertension (n, %)	624 (88.1)	160 (80.8)	464 (91.0)	14.114	<0.001
Hyperlipidemia (n, %)	397 (56.1)	112 (56.6)	285 (55.9)	0.027	0.869
Diabetes mellitus (n, %)	161 (22.7)	47 (23.7)	114 (22.4)	0.156	0.693
Coronary heart disease (n, %)	96 (13.6)	26 (13.1)	70 (13.7)	0.043	0.836
Atrial fibrillation (n, %)	139 (19.6)	46 (23.2)	93 (18.2)	2.257	0.133
History of TIA (n, %)	114 (16.1)	32 (16.2)	82 (16.1)	0.001	0.978
Current smoking (n, %)	211 (29.8)	63 (31.8)	148 (29.0)	0.534	0.465
Current drinking (n, %)	152 (21.5)	40 (20.2)	112 (22.0)	0.262	0.609
Systolic blood pressure (mean \pm SD, mmHg)	168 ± 25.0	165 ± 24.8	169.1 ± 25.0	-2.002	0.046
Diastolic blood pressure (mean \pm SD, mmHg)	107.9 ± 16.4	105.7 ± 16.5	108.7 ± 16.3	-2.148	0.032
Homocysteine (mean \pm SD, μ mol/l)	14.1 ± 1.7	14 ± 1.7	14.2 ± 1.7	-1.459	0.145
eGFR (mean \pm SD, ml/min/1.73 m ²)	95.6 ± 10.5	96.6 ± 10.6	95.2 ± 10.4	1.574	0.116
National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale on admission (median, interquartile range)	11.0 (4.0)	9.0 (3.0)	12.0 (4.0)	28,736.5	<0.001
Modified Rankin Scale on admission (median, interquartile range)	3.0 (0)	3.0 (0)	3.0 (0)	48,476.5	0.301
HAMD (mean \pm SD, points)	3.5 ± 2.1	3.7 ± 2.1	3.4 ± 2.0	1.892	0.059
CIV (mean \pm SD, cm ³)	10.1 ± 2.1	10.1 ± 2.1	10.1 ± 2.1	0.273	0.785
Thrombolysis (n, %)	51 (7.2)	23 (11.6)	28 (5.5)	8.007	0.005



during the 7 days after stroke onset. Score in the visuoperceptual/ executive and delayed recall domains were significantly different between patients with different SBPs. In addition, MoCA scores had an inverse relationship with the CV of SBP (all p < 0.05). Patients in Q4 and Q5 had lower scores in the naming domain than those in Q2 and Q3 (p < 0.05). Score on the abstraction domain were lower in patients in Q2 than in those in Q1 (p < 0.05). Patients in Q5 had lower scores in the orientation domain than those in Q1and Q2 (p < 0.05). Patients in Q4 had lower scores in the language domain than those in Q5 (p < 0.05). There were no significant differences in the cognitive domains of attention between the groups (all p > 0.05) (**Table 3**).

Cognitive Impairment and Site of Cerebral Infarction

After adjusting for covariables, Cortical-subcortical and subcortical infarctions were more likely to lead to PSCI than cortical infarctions [ORs and 95% CIs were 2.03 (1.12, 3.65) and 2.86 (1.54, 5.33), respectively] (**Figure 2**).

DISCUSSION

Our findings suggest that high midterm BPV within 7 days of stroke onset is independently associated with an increased

TABLE 2 | Logistic regression analyses of CV during the 7 days following onset and cognitive impairment 3 months after onset.

Variables E/R, n (%)		Unadjusted		Model	Model I		Model II		Model III	
	OR (95% CI)	p-Value	OR (95% CI)	p-Value	OR (95% CI)	p-Value	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -Value		
CV of systolic	blood pressure									
Q1 (4.5–7.7)	85/143 (59.4)	Ref	_	Ref	-	Ref	_	Ref	-	
Q2 (7.8–8.1)	99/136 (72.8)	1.90 (1.11, 3.25)	0.019	1.95 (1.10, 3.43)	0.021	1.87 (1.01, 3.47)	0.047	2.28 (1.18, 4.39)	0.014	
Q3 (8.2–8.5)	106/142 (74.6)	2.21 (1.26, 3.89)	0.006	2.23 (1.22, 4.08)	0.009	2.12 (1.11, 4.04)	0.022	2.33 (1.18, 4.62)	0.015	
Q4 (8.6–9.2)	107/143 (74.8)	2.39 (1.33, 4.27)	0.003	2.40 (1.29, 4.48)	0.006	2.44 (1.24, 4.8)	0.010	2.69 (1.31, 5.53)	0.007	
Q5 (9.3–15.1)	113/144 (78.5)	3.31 (1.61, 6.84)	0.001	3.29 (1.53, 7.08)	0.002	4.08 (1.75, 9.5)	0.001	4.76 (1.95, 11.67)	0.001	
CV of DBP										
Q1 (3.7–6.9)	90/136 (66.2)	Ref	-	Ref	-	Ref	-	Ref	-	
Q2 (7.0–7.5)	100/142 (70.4)	0.89 (0.51, 1.54)	0.675	0.83 (0.46, 1.49)	0.534	0.67 (0.35, 1.28)	0.225	0.57 (0.28, 1.15)	0.116	
Q3 (7.5-8.2)	114/146 (78.1)	1.24 (0.69, 2.21)	0.474	1.14 (0.61, 2.10)	0.685	0.86 (0.43, 1.69)	0.655	0.98 (0.48, 2.01)	0.954	
Q4 (8.2–8.8)	97/140 (69.3)	0.66 (0.36, 1.21)	0.178	0.60 (0.31, 1.13)	0.113	0.41 (0.2, 0.85)	0.017	0.31 (0.14, 0.68)	0.004	
Q5 (8.8–14.6)	109/144 (75.7)	0.72 (0.35, 1.48)	0.369	0.63 (0.29, 1.36)	0.244	0.33 (0.13, 0.86)	0.024	0.27 (0.1, 0.74)	0.011	

Model I was adjusted for age and gender; Model II was based Model I plus education degree (less than 12 years), hypertension, SBP and DBP on admission, CIV and location of infarction (cortex, cortex–subcortical, subcortical, brain stem, and cerebellum); Model III was Model II plus National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale and thrombolytic therapy. *E/R*, event/risk.

TABLE 3 | The relationship of MoCA score in each cognitive domain at 3 months and CV of systolic blood pressure within 7 days of stroke onset.

	Q1 (<i>n</i> = 143)	Q2 (<i>n</i> = 136)	Q3 (<i>n</i> = 142)	Q4 (n = 143)	Q5 (<i>n</i> = 144)	F value	<i>p</i> -Value
Total scores	23.6 ± 3.4	22.1 ± 3.3	21.1 ± 3.6	20.3 ± 3.9	19.0 ± 3.9	32.874	<0.001
Visuoperceptual/executive	3.3 ± 1.3	2.7 ± 1.4	2.1 ± 1.5	1.5 ± 1.5	1.0 ± 1.3	64.339	< 0.001
Naming	2.5 ± 0.7	2.4 ± 0.9	2.4 ± 1	2.6 ± 0.8	2.7 ± 0.6	3.333	0.010
Abstraction	1.8 ± 0.4	1.7 ± 0.6	1.7 ± 0.6	1.7 ± 0.5	1.8 ± 0.4	1.418	0.226
Orientation	5.1 ± 1.3	5 ± 1.3	5.2 ± 1.3	5.2 ± 1.1	5.4 ± 1.1	2.037	0.087
Attention	4.8 ± 1.5	4.7 ± 1.6	4.7 ± 1.6	4.7 ± 1.5	4.5 ± 1.6	0.461	0.764
Language	2.5 ± 0.8	2.5 ± 0.9	2.5 ± 0.9	2.6 ± 0.9	2.4 ± 0.8	1.211	0.305
Delayed recall	3.5 ± 1.6	3.1 ± 1.6	2.5 ± 1.6	1.9 ± 1.7	1.2 ± 1.7	43.874	<0.001

Values are presented as mean \pm SD.



FIGURE 2 | Logistic regression analyses of location of infarction and cognitive impairment 3 months after stroke onset. The multi-parameter model used is the same as that used in Table 2.

risk for PSCI 3 months after the stroke. Our findings also indicate that male sex, low education levels, high NIHSS scores, cortical-subcortical infarction, and subcortical infarction are risk factor for PSCI. In contrast, cardioembolism of TOAST classification has no effects on cognitive impairment after stroke.

BPV and PSCI

Blood pressure variability is a complex phenomenon that includes short-term fluctuations occurring within a 24-h period, midterm fluctuations over different days, and blood pressure changes over weeks, months, and even years (24). These variations in BP are thought to be the result of complex interactions between extrinsic environmental and behavioral factors and intrinsic cardiovascular regulatory mechanisms (central neural, reflexive neural, and humoral influences) that are not yet completely understood (15). Most importantly, high short-term BPV is a predictor of target organ damage and future cardiovascular events (25, 26). High midterm SBP variability in daytime was a predictor of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality (27). In addition, a recent study has reported that higher midterm BPV was associated with progression of brain white matter lesions and lower cognitive function (28). The authors of the above study suggest that higher BPV is a risk factor for lower hippocampal volume and cerebral mircobleeds independent of average systolic and DBPs. In some analyses, therefore, the predictive value of BPV is even greater than that of average BP during treatment.

A recently study reported an increase in the incidence of stroke in China (29), which may result in an increased prevalence of PSCI. In our study, the incidence of PSCI reached its peak 3 months after ischemic stroke onset. Changes in the incidence of PSCI have an inverse relationship with MoCA scores. Consistent with our findings, the incidence of cognitive impairment 3 months after ischemic stroke was reported to be 71% in a study of 409 middle age and elderly patients with cerebral infarction (10). However, in the hospital-based cohort studies of Ihle-Hansen et al. (30) and Kandiah et al. (31), the incidence of PSCI was 37.5% 1 year after stroke and 37.32% 6 months after stroke. The broad range of reported PSCI incidence may be mainly attributed to differences in race, age, education level, location of stroke, and evaluation methods. We found that the prevalence of PSCI reaches its peak 3 months after stroke and decreases thereafter. It is, however, still unclear whether this trend is a consequence of transient cerebral function disorders and the recovery of stress injury.

The relationship between variability in blood pressure during the acute phase of ischemic stroke and lower cognitive performance 3 months after stroke onset was assessed using multiple parameter logistic regression analysis in our study. Independently of the confounding factors, SBP variability, but not DBP variability, was found to significantly predict the occurrence of cognitive decline. Consistent with our results, a recent epidemiological study (32) reported that day-to-day variability in SBP is significantly related to cognitive impairment (OR, 1.51; p = 0.02). In a study of 353 people, McDonald et al. (33) found that daytime variability in blood pressure is independently associated with greater decreases in total Cambridge Cognitive Examination and Mini-Mental State Examination scores after 5 years of fellow-up. Qin et al. (34) have suggested that higher visit-to-visit variability in systolic BP, but not mean systolic BP, is a predictor of cognitive decline. This stronger relationship can be explained by the fact that more information is provided by measuring the variability of BP than mean BP (35). In addition, the white-coat effect can be eliminated (36) and more target organ damage can be revealed than when using conventional BP measurements (37). However, Kilander et al. (38) suggested 24-h SBP was not associated with cognition. Other study of community-living adults also found no association between SBP and cognitive function (39). It may be explain from it, community-living adults were better able to automatically adjust the effect of systemic SBP on cerebral blood perfusion, which keep them with better baseline perfusion. Some studies have found higher DBP variability was related to poorer cognitive function (40), whereas in other studies no associated between variability in DBP and cognitive function was found (41). However, in our study, higher variability in DBP did not seem to be protective for cognitive decline.

Nevertheless, the potential mechanism for the relationship between high BPV and cognitive impairment is still unclear. Recently, a study demonstrated that higher variability in BP, especially in SBP, can predict the progress of arteriosclerosis (42), lead to subcortical lesions (43), and contribute to the pathogenesis of cerebral vascular disease (44). All of the above factors may have negative impacts on cognitive function. Most importantly, hypertension and further decreases in blood pressure may reduce the coupling efficiency of the neurovasculature and impair dynamic cerebral autoregulation, which would then result in cerebral hypoperfusion. This may then lead to neurological impairment (45) and lead to progressive neurodegeneration (46). Considering energy requirements and blood supply, result in a neuronal energy crisis and cerebral hypometabolism, which may in turn lead to Alzheimer's disease-related pathology (47).

Sub-analysis of the MoCA scale scores indicated that scores in the visuoperceptual and executive functions domains, as well as those for delayed recall, were decreased in individuals with high BPV. This suggests that visuoperceptual abilities, executive function, and delayed recall are more vulnerable than other domains of cognition. Consistent with our findings, a recent study showed that basal ganglionic lacunar infarcts and cerebral small vessel injuries are related to dysfunctions in delayed memory (48, 49). In addition, periventricular white matter hyperintensities have significant associations with executive function deficits (50). Using the same cohort as that used here, we have previously reported that patients with large artery atherosclerosis based on TOAST classification have lower scores in the visuoperceptual ability and executive function, and delayed recall and attention domains after correction for covariables (51). The potential mechanisms underlying poststroke cognitive decline are still unclear, although the cerebral cortex and hippocampus are sensitive to cerebral ischemia and anoxia (52), which may be a potential mechanism for impairment of visuoperceptual abilities, executive function, and delayed recall after stroke.

We also observed that cortical-subcortical and subcortical infarctions are more likely to lead to PSCI. Our results are in agreement with those of Hilal et al., who, in a study of 550 patients, reported that subcortical gray matter atrophy, such as that indicated by lacunes and white matter lesions, is not only observed in dementia but is also found in the preclinical stages of cognitive impairment (53). Rocque et al. reported that patients with large carotid plaques are more likely to have

cognitive impairment (54). Pathophysiologically, multi-vessel, extracranial atherosclerotic disease may cause chronic diffuse brain hypoperfusion, which may be associated with cognitive impairment (55).

Our study has some limitations. First, only ages between 40 and 75 years were included in our study and other inclusion and exclusion criteria operated will influence BP variability and could weaken the external validity of results. Second, the use of different antihypertensive agents and other medications may have affected the variability in blood pressure and the relationship between BPV and poststroke cognition. What's more, the study also had selection bias, as only hospitalized patients were enrolled, although this was inevitable. Another limitation of this study is that obstructive sleep apnea, which is associated with both BPV and cognitive dysfunction, could not be measured.

CONCLUSION

Higher midterm SBP variability during the acute stage of cerebral infarction was found to be associated prospectively and independently with increased risk of PSCI, especially in the domains of executive function, naming, and delayed recall. This highlights the need for neurologists to pay more attention to the variability of blood pressure in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Population-based prospective studies are required to confirm our conclusions.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Study on optimizing control strategy of blood pressure for the prevention of stroke in rural community. Ethical Review and Approval Documents. Our hospital is to carry out "Study on optimizing control strategy of blood pressure for the prevention of stroke in rural community," the ethics committee of our hospital has a review of relative medical ethics issue of the project.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: SG, NL, PM, NJ, and MH. Data curation: SG and MH. Formal analysis: SG and MH. Investigation: YS, YX, BX, ZL, XN, YZ, CX, and XZ. Methodology: SG, NL, PM, and MH. Project administration: SG, NL, PM, NJ, and MH. Resources: SG, NL, PM, NJ, YS, YX, GZ, XH, ZC, BW, BX, ZL, XN, YZ, CX, and XZ. Software: SG and NL. Supervision: SG and MH. Validation: GS, NL, PM, NJ, MH, YS, YX, GZ, XH, and ZC. Visualization: SG and NL. Writing—original draft: SG. Writing—review and editing: SG and MH.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the Department of Science and Technology at The Affiliated Lianyungang Hospital at Xuzhou Medical College in China for help in patient enrollment, physician training, and coordination.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Bureau of Science and Technology of Jiangsu Province with Medical Scientific Specific Fund BL 2014062 and the Bureau of Health of Jiangsu Province with grant H 2014061 to MH.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fneur.2017.00365/full#supplementary-material.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Shan Geng et al., study investigators. Midterm BPV Is Associated with poststroke cognitive impairment.

Data Definition

Body mass index was estimated from the equation: height (m)²/ weight (kg). Hypertension was defined as systolic blood pressure of \geq 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure of \geq 90 mmHg or taking antihypertensive drugs. Low density lipoprotein cholesterol of \geq 4.14 mmol/l, and/or high-density lipoprotein cholesterol of <1.04 mmol/l, triglyceride of \geq 2.26 mmol/l or taking lipid-lowering drugs were defined as dyslipidemia. Diabetes mellitus was defined as fasting plasma glucose of \geq 7.0 mmol/l, HbA1c of \geq 6.5%, or treatment with oral antidiabetic drugs or insulin. Diagnosis of atrial fibrillation was confirmed by electrocardiography. Current smoking was defined as smoking in 30 days before the survey. Current drinking was determined as drinking more than 20 g each time and more than once a week.

FIGURE S1 | The flow chart of the study.

FIGURE S2 | Curves of cumulative survival.

TABLE S1 | Comparison of baseline characteristics of patients with and without cognitive impairment 3 months after onset.

TABLE S2 | Logistic regression analyses of CV during the 7 days following onset and cognitive impairment 3 months after onset. Model I was adjusted for age and gender; Model II was based Model I plus education degree (less than 12 years), hypertension, systolic blood pressure and DBP on admission, CIV and location of infarction (cortex, cortex–subcortical, subcortical, brain stem, and cerebellum); Model III was Model II plus National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale and thrombolytic therapy. E/R, event/risk.

TABLE S3 | Comparison of baseline characteristics of patients with and without cognitive impairment 12 months after onset.

TABLE S4 | Logistic regression analyses of CV during the 7 days following onset and cognitive impairment 12 months after onset. Model I was adjusted for age and gender; Model II was based Model I plus education degree (less than 12 years), hypertension, systolic blood pressure and DBP on admission, CIV and location of infarction (cortex, cortex–subcortical, subcortical, brain stem, and cerebellum); Model III was Model II plus TOAST classification, TIA, NHISS, and modified Rankin Scale score. E/R, event/risk.

TABLE S5 | The relationship of the loss at different time points and CV of BP within 7 days of stroke onset.

DATASHEET S1 | Continued Table 1.

REFERENCES

- Petersen RC, Caracciolo B, Brayne C, Gauthier S, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L. Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. *J Intern Med* (2014) 275:214–28. doi:10.1111/joim.12190
- Yu KH, Cho SJ, Oh MS, Jung S, Lee JH, Shin JH, et al. Cognitive impairment evaluated with vascular cognitive impairment harmonization standards in a multicenter prospective stroke cohort in Korea. *Stroke* (2013) 44:786–8. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.668343
- Pendlebury ST, Rothwell PM. Prevalence, incidence, and factors associated with pre-stroke and post-stroke dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol* (2009) 8:1006–18. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09) 70236-4
- Kalaria RN, Akinyemi R, Ihara M. Stroke injury, cognitive impairment and vascular dementia. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2016) 1862:915–25. doi:10.1016/j. bbadis.2016.01.015
- Alperovitch A, Blachier M, Soumare A, Ritchie K, Dartigues JF, Richard-Harston S, et al. Blood pressure variability and risk of dementia in an elderly cohort, the three-city study. *Alzheimers Dement* (2014) 10:S330–7. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2013.05.1777
- Liu K, Yan S, Zhang S, Guo Y, Lou M. Systolic blood pressure variability is associated with severe hemorrhagic transformation in the early stage after thrombolysis. *Transl Stroke Res* (2016) 7:186–91. doi:10.1007/s12975-016-0458-6
- Chung JW, Kim N, Kang J, Park SH, Kim WJ, Ko Y, et al. Blood pressure variability and the development of early neurological deterioration following acute ischemic stroke. *J Hypertens* (2015) 33(10):2099–106. doi:10.1097/ HJH.00000000000675
- Filomena J, Riba-Llena I, Vinyoles E, Tovar JL, Mundet X, Casta X, et al. Shortterm blood pressure variability relates to the presence of subclinical brain small vessel disease in primary hypertension novelty and significance. *Hypertension* (2015) 66:634–40. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.05440
- Ko Y, Park JH, Yang MH, Ko SB, Han MK, Oh CW, et al. The significance of blood pressure variability for the development of hemorrhagic transformation in acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke* (2010) 41:2512–8. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.595561
- Lau KK, Wong YK, Teo KC, Chang RS, Chan KH, Hon SF, et al. Long-term prognostic implications of visit-to-visit blood pressure variability in patients with ischemic stroke. *Am J Hypertens* (2014) 27:1486–94. doi:10.1093/ajh/ hpu070
- Jokinen H, Melkas S, Ylikoski R, Pohjasvaara T, Kaste M, Erkinjuntti T, et al. Post-stroke cognitive impairment is common even after successful clinical recovery. *Eur J Neurol* (2015) 22:1288–94. doi:10.1111/ene.12743
- Pullicino P, Snyder W, Munschauer F, Pordell R, Greiner F. Interrater agreement of computed tomography infarct measurement. *J Neuroimaging* (1996) 6(1):16–9. doi:10.1111/jon19966116
- Committee of Chinese Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute Ischemic Stroke, Department of Cerebrovascular Diseases, Neurology, Chinese Medical Association. China guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute ischemic stroke (2010). *Chin J Neurol* (2010) 43:146–53.
- Committee of Chinese Guideline for Hypertension Prevention and Treatment Modification. Chinese guideline for hypertension prevention and treatment (2010). *Chin J Cardiol* (2011) 39:579–616.
- Parati G, Ochoa JE, Lombardi C, Bilo G. Assessment and management of blood-pressure variability. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2013) 10:143–55. doi:10.1038/ nrcardio.2013.1
- Sacco RL, Kasner SE, Broderick JP, Caplan LR, Connors JJ, Culebras A, et al. An updated definition of stroke for the 21st century: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/ American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2013) 44:2064–89. doi:10.1161/ STR.0b013e318296aeca
- Kraglund KL, Mortensen JK, Grove EL, Johnsen SP, Andersen G. TALOS: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to test the effects of citalopram in patients with acute stroke. *Int J Stroke* (2015) 10:985–7. doi:10.1111/ijs.12485
- Campbell N, Rice D, Friedman L, Speechley M, Teasell RW. Screening and facilitating further assessment for cognitive impairment after stroke: application of a shortened Montreal Cognitive Assessment (miniMoCA). *Disabil Rehabil* (2016) 38:601–4. doi:10.3109/09638288.2015.1047968

- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bedirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2005) 53:695–9. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Horton DK, Hynan LS, Lacritz LH, Rossetti HC, Weiner MF, Cullum CM. An abbreviated Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) for dementia screening. *Clin Neuropsychol* (2015) 29:413–25. doi:10.1080/13854046.2015.1043349
- Ciesielska N, Sokolowski R, Mazur E, Podhorecka M, Polak-Szabela A, Kedziora-Kornatowska K. Is the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) test better suited than the mini-mental state examination (MMSE) in mild cognitive impairment (MCI) detection among people aged over 60? Metaanalysis. *Psychiatr Pol* (2016) 50:1039–52. doi:10.12740/PP/45368
- Nie H, Xu Y, Liu B, Zhang Y, Lei T, Hui X, et al. The prevalence of mild cognitive impairment about elderly population in China: a meta-analysis. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2011) 26:558–63. doi:10.1002/gps.2579
- Frances A, Sandra O, Lucy U. Vascular cognitive impairment, a cardiovascular complication. World J Psychiatry (2016) 6:199–207. doi:10.5498/wjp.v6.i2.199
- 24. Parati G, Ochoa JE, Lombardi C, Bilo G. Blood pressure variability: assessment, predictive value, and potential as a therapeutic target. *Curr Hypertens Rep* (2015) 17:23. doi:10.1007/s11906-015-0537-1
- Tatasciore A, Renda G, Zimarino M, Soccio M, Bilo G, Parati G, et al. Awake systolic blood pressure variability correlates with target-organ damage in hypertensive subjects. *Hypertension* (2007) 50:325–32. doi:10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.090084
- Eguchi K, Ishikawa J, Hoshide S, Pickering TG, Schwartz JE, Shimada K, et al. Night time blood pressure variability is a strong predictor for cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Am J Hypertens* (2009) 22:46–51. doi:10.1038/ajh.2008.294
- Stevens SL, Wood S, Koshiaris C, Law K, Glasziou P, Stevens RJ, et al. Blood pressure variability and cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* (2016) 354:i4098. doi:10.1136/bmj.i4098
- Liu Z, Zhao Y, Zhang H, Chai Q, Cui Y, Diao Y, et al. Excessive variability in systolic blood pressure that is self-measured at home exacerbates the progression of brain white matter lesions and cognitive impairment in the oldest old. *Hypertens Res* (2016) 39:245–53. doi:10.1038/hr.2015.135
- Tang X, Hu Y, Chen D, Zhan S, Zhang Z, Dou H. The Fangshan/family-based ischemic stroke study in China (FISSIC) protocol. *BMC Med Genet* (2007) 8:60. doi:10.1186/1471-2350-8-60
- Ihle-Hansen H, Thommessen B, Bruun Wyller T, Engedal K, Øksengård AR, Stenset V, et al. Incidence and subtypes of MCI and dementia 1 year after firstever stroke in patients without pre-existing cognitive impairment. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2011) 32:401–7. doi:10.1159/000335361
- Kandiah N, Chander RJ, Lin X, Ng A, Poh YY, Cheong CY, et al. Cognitive impairment after mild stroke: development and validation of the SIGNAL2 risk score. J Alzheimer Dis (2015) 49:1169–77. doi:10.3233/JAD-150736
- 32. Matsumoto A, Satoh M, Kikuya M, Ohkubo T, Hirano M, Inoue R, et al. Day-to-day variability in home blood pressure is associated with cognitive decline: the Ohasama study. *Hypertension* (2014) 63:1333–8. doi:10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.01819
- McDonald C, Pearce MS, Kerr SR, Newton JL. Blood pressure variability and cognitive decline in older people: a 5-year longitudinal study. *J Hypertens* (2016) 35(1):140–7. doi:10.1097/HJH.000000000001120
- Qin B, Viera AJ, Muntner P, Plassman BL, Edwards LJ, Adair LS, et al. Visit-to-visit variability in blood pressure is related to late-life cognitive decline. *Hypertension* (2016) 68:106–13. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.07494
- Imai Y, Kario K, Shimada K, Kawano Y, Hasebe N, Matsuura H, et al. The Japanese Society of Hypertension guidelines for self-monitoring of blood pressure at home (second edition). *Hypertens Res* (2012) 35:777–95. doi:10.1038/hr.2012.56
- 36. Parati G, Stergiou GS, Asmar R, Bilo G, de Leeuw P, Imai Y, et al. European Society of Hypertension guidelines for blood pressure monitoring at home: a summary report of the second international consensus conference on home blood pressure monitoring. *J Hypertens* (2008) 26:1505–26. doi:10.1097/ HJH.0b013e328308da66
- 37. Hara A, Ohkubo T, Kikuya M, Shintani Y, Obara T, Metoki H, et al. Detection of carotid atherosclerosis in individuals with masked hypertension and whitecoat hypertension by self-measured blood pressure at home: the Ohasama study. J Hypertens (2007) 25:321–7. doi:10.1097/HJH.0b013e3280115bbf

- Kilander L, Nyman H, Boberg M, Hansson L, Lithell H. Hypertension is related to cognitive impairment: a 20-year follow-up of 999 men. *Hypertension* (1998) 31:780–6. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.31.3.780
- Conway KS, Forbang N, Beben T, Criqui MH, Ix JH, Rifkin DE. Relationship between 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure and cognitive function in community-living older adults: the UCSD ambulatory blood pressure study. *Am J Hypertens* (2015) 28:1444–52. doi:10.1093/ajh/hpv042
- Crichton GE, Elias MF, Dore GA, Torres RV, Robbins MA. Measurement-tomeasurement blood pressure variability is related to cognitive performance: the Maine-Syracuse study. *Hypertension* (2014) 64:1094–101. doi:10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.04282
- Epstein NU, Lane KA, Farlow MR, Risacher SL, Saykin AJ, Gao S. Cognitive dysfunction is associated with increased visit to visit systolic blood pressure variability. J Am Geriatr Soc (2013) 6:2168–73. doi:10.1111/jgs.12542
- Sander D, Kukla C, Klingelhofer J, Winbeck K, Conrad B. Relationship between circadian blood pressure patterns and progression of early carotid atherosclerosis: a 3-year follow-up study. *Circulation* (2000) 102:1536–41. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.102.13.1536
- Goldstein IB, Bartzokis G, Guthrie D, Shapiro D. Ambulatory blood pressure and the brain: a 5-year follow-up. *Neurology* (2005) 64:1846–52. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000164712.24389.BB
- 44. Diaz KM, Veerabhadrappa P, Kashem MA, Thakkar SR, Feairheller DL, Sturgeon KM, et al. Visit-to-visit and 24-h blood pressure variability: association with endothelial and smooth muscle function in African Americans. *J Hum Hypertens* (2013) 27:671–7. doi:10.1038/jhh.2013.33
- Alrawi YA, Panerai RB, Myint PK, Potter JF. Pharmacological blood pressure lowering in the older hypertensive patients may lead to cognitive impairment by altering neurovascular coupling. *Med Hypotheses* (2013) 80:303–7. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2012.12.010
- Silvestrini M, Viticchi G, Altamura C, Luzzi S, Balucani C, Vernieri F. Cerebrovascular assessment for the risk prediction of Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2012) 32:689–98. doi:10.3233/JAD-2012-121240
- Lattanzi S, Luzzi S, Provinciali L, Silvestrini M. Blood pressure variability in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal dementia: the effect on the rate of cognitive decline. J Alzheimers Dis (2015) 45:387–94. doi:10.3233/JAD-142532
- Benisty S, Gouw AA, Porcher R, Madureira S, Hernandez K, Poggesi A, et al. Location of lacunar infarcts correlates with cognition in a sample of nondisabled subjects with age-related white-matter changes: the LADIS study. *J NeurolNeurosurgPsychiatry* (2009) 80:478–83. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2008.160440

- van Es AC, van der Grond J, de Craen AJ, Westendorp RG, Bollen EL, Blauw GJ, et al. Cerebral microbleeds and cognitive functioning in the PROSPER study. *Neurology* (2011) 77:1446–52. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318232ab1d
- Gregoire SM, Smith K, Jäger HR, Benjamin M, Kallis C, Brown MM, et al. Cerebral microbleeds and long-term cognitive outcome: longitudinal cohort study of stroke clinic patients. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (2012) 33:430–5. doi:10.1159/ 000336237
- Na L, Ping M, Shan G, Niu J, Yongan S, Yingda X, et al. Relationship between characteristics of MoCA and subtypes of TOAST in patient with post-stroke cognitive impairment[J]. *Chin J Geriatr Heart Brain Vessel Dis* (2016) 18:345–8. doi:10.3969/j.issn.1009-0126.2016.04.003
- Ishibashi S, Kuroiwa T, LiYuan S, Katsumata N, Li S, Endo S, et al. Longterm cognitive and neuropsychological symptoms after global cerebral ischemia in Mongolian gerbils. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (2006) 96:299–302. doi:10.1007/3-211-30714-1_64
- Hilal S, Amin SM, Venketasubramanian N, Niessen WJ, Vrooman H, Wong TY, et al. Subcortical atrophy in cognitive impairment and dementia. *J Alzheimer Dis* (2015) 48:813–23. doi:10.3233/JAD-150473
- Rocque BG, Jackson D, Varghese T, Hermann B, McCormick M, Kliewer M, et al. Impaired cognitive function in patients with atherosclerotic carotid stenosis and correlation with ultrasound strain measurements. *J Neurol Sci* (2012) 322:20–4. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2012.05.020
- 55. Safouris A, Hambye AS, Sculier C, Papageorgiou SG, Vasdekis SN, Gazagnes MD, et al. Chronic brain hypoperfusion due to multi-vessel extracranial atherosclerotic disease: a potentially reversible cause of cognitive impairment. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2015) 43:23–7. doi:10.3233/JAD-141203

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Geng, Liu, Meng, Ji, Sun, Xu, Zhang, He, Cai, Wang, Xu, Li, Niu, Zhang, Xu, Zhou and He. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Factors Influencing Decision Making for Carotid Endarterectomy versus Stenting in the Very Elderly

Sung Hyuk Heo¹ and Cheryl D. Bushnell^{2*}

¹ Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, Kyung Hee University, Seoul, South Korea, ² Department of Neurology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

As the population ages worldwide, the number of elderly patients with carotid stenosis is also increasing. There have been many large clinical trials comparing carotid endarterectomy (CAE) versus stenting, but the inclusion criteria (i.e., symptomatic or asymptomatic), stenting methods (i.e., protection device), and primary end point (i.e., the definition of myocardial infarction and follow-up period) were different between trials. Therefore, the interpretation of those results is difficult and requires attention. When it comes to age, the patients older than 80 years were excluded or stratified to a high risk group in previous landmark trials. However, a recent guideline recommended that endarterectomy may be associated with lower stroke risk compared with carotid artery stenting in patients older than 70 years with symptomatic carotid disease. The annual risk of stroke in individuals with asymptomatic carotid stenosis is about 1-3% but the risk is about 4-12% with symptomatic stenosis without carotid intervention. Although the outcome of CAE is better than that of carotid stenting in patients older than 70 years, the perioperative risk is higher in older patients. Therefore, it is important to classify high risk patients and consider underlying disability and life expectancy of very elderly patients before deciding whether to undergo a carotid intervention. In addition, we should also consider that the stroke rate with intensive medical treatment is unknown and is currently being investigated in randomized controlled trials. Intensive medical treatment includes high intensity statins, diabetes and blood pressure control, and aggressive antiplatelet treatment. The aim of this review is to report the factors that may be responsible for the variability in the treatment of carotid stenosis, particularly in the elderly population. This will allow the readers to integrate the current available evidence to individualize the treatment of carotid stenosis in this challenging population.

Keywords: carotid stenosis, carotid endarterectomy, carotid stenting, stroke, elderly

INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease of the arterial wall that slowly progresses pathologically causing arterial stenosis, resulting in cerebrovascular or coronary artery diseases (1, 2). It usually arises at the bifurcation of blood vessels having a disruption of laminar flow, and the carotid bulb or sinus is the region where most atherosclerotic plaques are found. Stroke caused by carotid stenosis is more severe in neurological deficits and has a high risk of recurrence (3).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Muhib Khan, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Ronen R. Leker, Hadassah University Hospital, Israel Eitan Auriel, Partners HealthCare, United States

> *Correspondence: Cheryl D. Bushnell cbushnel@wakehealth.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 15 March 2017 Accepted: 08 May 2017 Published: 26 May 2017

Citation:

Heo SH and Bushnell CD (2017) Factors Influencing Decision Making for Carotid Endarterectomy versus Stenting in the Very Elderly. Front. Neurol. 8:220. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00220

43

The basic treatment of carotid atherosclerosis is management of risk factors such as hypertension, dyslipidemia, diabetes, and smoking with lifestyle modification, and antiplatelet medications. However, current guidelines recommend carotid revascularization procedures such as carotid endarterectomy (CEA) or carotid artery stenting (CAS) depending on the presence of symptoms and the degree of stenosis (4, 5). Various other conditions such as age and patient factors, features of atherosclerotic lesions, anatomical characteristics of cerebral and extracerebral vessels, and medical comorbidity should also be considered. In the past, either because of the concern of excessive risk or decreased post-procedure life expectancy, elderly patients (usually >80 years) have been excluded from randomized trials (6-10). However, recent trials showed more favorable outcomes after CEA versus CAS in elderly patients, so the guideline changed the recommendation for symptomatic older patients (i.e., older than \approx 70 years) to undergo CEA rather than CAS (4, 11–13).

In western countries, there has been a remarkable increase in the population of those over 80 years. In non-western countries, one study predicts there is more than a 50% probability that by 2030, national female life expectancy will break the 90 year barrier in South Korea, a level that was deemed unattainable by some at the turn of the twenty-first century (14). Stroke is the fifth leading cause of death in the United States and is a major cause of serious disability for the elderly (15). Extracranial carotid artery disease is responsible for up to 20% of these strokes and accounts for a higher proportion in elderly patients (16, 17). The numbers of elderly patients with carotid stenosis will increase exponentially, and the results of medical treatment and CAS are getting better. Therefore, the selection of treatment method for carotid stenosis in elderly patients will be more complex.

In this review article, our aim is to describe the selection criteria for the appropriate treatment methods in elderly patients and the considering factors that affect it, based on current literature.

SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM OUTCOMES AFTER CAROTID REVASCULARIZATION IN SYMPTOMATIC AND ASYMPTOMATIC PATIENTS

Treatment of Asymptomatic Carotid Stenosis

Asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis is a very important health issue, as out of the 135,701 carotid revascularizations performed in the US in 2005, 122,986 (92%) were for asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis (18). Since the results of large clinical trials comparing CEA with drug therapy in the treatment of asymptomatic carotid stenosis was published in 1990s, CAS, optimal medical treatment, and variations of surgical approaches to CEA have been also developed (8, 19). In the Asymptomatic Carotid Atherosclerosis Stenosis (ACAS) and Asymptomatic Carotid Surgery (ACST) trials, the 5-year risk of stroke or procedural morbidity was estimated to be 6.5% for CEA patients and 11.0% for patients treated medically among asymptomatic patients with carotid artery stenosis of greater than 60% (8, 20). The meta-analysis of the Veterans Administration Cooperative Study (VA), ACAS, and ACST trials shows that in patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis, despite about a 3% perioperative stroke or death rate, CEA reduces the risk of ipsilateral stroke and any stroke, by approximately 30% over 3 years (21). In the case of asymptomatic stenosis, CEA is beneficial if the incidence of surgical complication is less than 3% in patients with stenosis of 60% or more, but some researchers claim that the complication rate should be lower than 3% because of improved drug treatment results. In recent studies, the annual rate of stroke in medically treated patients with an asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis has fallen to $\leq 1\%$ (22, 23).

The National Institute of Neurological disorders and Strokesponsored Carotid Revascularization Endarterectomy versus Stenting Trial (CREST) included symptomatic patients only at baseline, but expanded inclusion criteria for asymptomatic patients (final proportion of asymptomatic patients was 47.2% of the total) (12). In the analysis among patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis, there was no difference in the primary outcome between CAS and CEA [5.6 versus 4.9%; hazard ratio (HR) 1.17, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.69–1.98, p = 0.56]. All stroke cases within 30 days and the occurrence of ipsilateral stroke between 30 days and 4 years were 4.5% in CAS group and 2.7% in CEA group so there was no statistical difference (HR 1.86; 95% CI 0.95–3.66, p = 0.07). The incidence of ipsilateral stroke between 30 days and 4 years (i.e., durability of the intervention) was similar, with 2.0% in the CAS group and 2.4% in the CEA group. The durability was favorable in long-term follow-up for both groups (12). The Asymptomatic Carotid Trial (ACT)-1, which compared the outcomes of CEA versus CAS in patients with asymptomatic severe carotid artery stenosis who were at standard risk for surgical complications, revealed that CAS was non-inferior to CEA with regard to the primary composite end point (3.8 and 3.4%, respectively; p = 0.01 for non-inferiority), but this study excluded patients who were 80 years of age or older (24).

ACST-1 was a 10-year follow-up study that investigated the long-term prognosis after the ACST trial (25). The incidence of stroke or death within 30 days of CEA was 3.0% (95% CI 2.4-3.9) in all patients undergoing CEA. Excluding perioperative events and non-stroke mortality, stroke risks (immediate versus deferred CEA) were 4.1 versus 10.0% at 5 years (gain 5.9%, 95% CI 4.0-7.8) and 10.8 versus 16.9% at 10 years (gain 6.1%, 2.7-9.4); ratio of stroke incidence rates 0.54, 95% CI 0.43–0.68, *p* < 0.0001. Combining perioperative events and strokes, net risks were 6.9 versus 10.9% at 5 years (gain 4.1%, 2.0-6.2) and 13.4 versus 17.9% at 10 years (gain 4.6%, 1.2-7.9). In spite of stroke or death associated with surgery, the surgical outcome was excellent. In addition, more than half of the patients with stroke (166/287) died of or were disabled by stroke, and the proportional reduction in disabling or fatal stroke seemed to be similar to that for any stroke.

Treatment for Symptomatic Carotid Stenosis

In the North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial (NASCET), CEA reduced the two-year risk of ipsilateral stroke from 26% in the medical arm to 9% in the surgical group, yielding an absolute risk reduction of 17% (6). This result was similar to other randomized clinical trials comparing CEA with medical treatment such as the European Carotid Surgery Trial (ECST) and the Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study (VACS) (7, 26). Pooled analysis of the VACS, NASCET, and ECST found a 30-day stroke and death rate of 7.1% in the CEA arm in patients with transient ischemic attack (TIA) or stroke within 6 months, and CEA was highly beneficial in those with 70–99% stenosis (27). The role of CEA is less clear in the symptomatic patients with moderate stenosis (50–69%). In NASCET patients with a stenosis of 50–69%, the 5-year rate of any ipsilateral stroke was 15.7% in CEA arm compared with 22.2% in medical arm (p = 0.045).

Comparative studies between CEA and CAS such as the Stent-Protected Angioplasty of the Carotid Artery versus Endarterectomy (SPACE), the Endarterectomy Versus Angioplasty in patients with Symptomatic Severe carotid Stenosis trial (EVA-3S), and the International Carotid Stenting Study (ICSS) showed better periprocedural outcomes in CEA rather than CAS, especially in older patients (11, 13, 28, 29). Meta-analysis from these trials revealed any stroke or death occurred significantly more often in the CAS group (8.9%) than in the CEA group (5.8%) in the first 120 days after randomization [risk ratio 1.53 (95% CI 1.20–1.95), p = 0.0006] (11). Subgroup analysis from ICSS trial using MRI showed the presence of at least one new ischemic brain lesion on diffusion weighted imaging 1–3 days after treatment was more common in CAS group than CEA group (50 versus 17%; p < 0.0001) (30).

However, because CAS was potentially favorable in the Carotid And Vertebral Artery Transluminal Angioplasty Study (CAVATAS) and the Stenting and Angioplasty with Protection in Patients at High Risk of Endarterectomy (SAPPHIRE) trials, CREST was designed to compare the efficacy of CAS with that of CEA (31, 32). In this non-inferiority trial, 2,502 symptomatic and asymptomatic patients with carotid stenosis were enrolled and randomized to CAS or CEA. There was no significant difference in the composite primary outcome [30-day rate of stroke, death, and myocardial infarction (MI) and 4-year ipsilateral stroke] in patients treated with CAS versus CEA (7.2 versus 6.8%; HR for stenting, 1.1; 95% CI 0.81–1.51; p = 0.51). In symptomatic patients, the 4-year rate of the primary end point was 8.6% with CAS versus 8.4% with CEA (HR, 1.08; 95% CI 0.74-1.59; p = 0.69) (12, 33). Periprocedural rates of individual components of the end points differed between the CAS group and CEA group: for death (0.7 versus 0.3%, p = 0.18), for stroke (4.1 versus 2.3%, p = 0.01), for MI (1.1 versus 2.3%, p = 0.03), and for cranial nerve palsies (0.3 versus 4.7%; p = 0.0001).

In most studies evaluating long-term outcome after CEA versus CAS, there was no difference in major vascular outcomes between the treatment methods after the periprocedural period (34–39). In the SPACE trial, the rate of ipsilateral ischemic strokes up to 2 years including any periprocedural strokes or deaths after procedure was similar for CEA and CAS groups (9.5 and 8.8%; HR 1.10 (0.75–1.61); log rank p = 0.62). In addition, the rate of ipsilateral ischemic stroke within 31 days and 2 years was not different between CAS (2.2%) and CEA (1.9%) (35). In the 4-year follow-up of EVA-3S trial, the risk of ipsilateral stroke was low and similar in both treatment groups after

the periprocedural period (37). In the ICSS trial, the cumulative 5-year risk of fatal or disabling stroke did not differ significantly between CAS and CEA groups (6.4 versus 6.5%; HR 1.06, 95% CI 0.72–1.57) (34). Over 10 years of follow-up in the CREST trial, there was no significant difference in the rate of the primary end point between CAS group (11.8%) and CEA group (9.9%) (HR 1.10; 95% CI 0.83–1.44) (38).

Overall, there have been more periprocedural vascular events in CAS compared with CEA, but there was no significant difference in long-term results of randomized controlled trials. It is possible that the inclusion of asymptomatic patients could have offset the risk of high periprocedural events from symptomatic patients in the trials that enrolled both symptomatic and asymptomatic patients. In addition, we should consider the possibility that the difference in treatment effect was diminished by death from other causes in patients with higher atherosclerotic burden and comorbidity at the long-term follow-up. However, long-term prognosis and complications were not different in studies that followed patients for more than 2 years. Therefore, CAS seems to have the similar effect to CEA in the long-term period. We summarized the main randomized clinical trials comparing CEA and CAS in Tables 1 and 2. We did not include the CAVATAS study because only 25 patients (10%) actually underwent CAS among the endovascular group (n = 251) (31).

In conclusion, CEA is recommended in patients with symptomatic carotid artery stenosis (>50%), especially in elderly patients when periprocedural complications are considered. CAS is indicated as an alternative to CEA for those who are asymptomatic, younger, and have higher operative risk. These trials have also shown that the efficacy of CAS was influenced by the patient's age, medication, and the experience of the interventionists, and was similar to that of CEA in long-term follow-up.

AGE ISSUES FOR SELECTING A CAROTID REVASCULARIZATION METHOD

The current guidelines, based on the results of previous clinical trials, emphasize that the presence of symptoms and the degree of stenosis are most important factors that impact the treatment of carotid stenosis (4, 5). Some review articles stated that patients aged 80 years or more are high risk for both CEA and CAS (Table 3) (40, 41). However, previous randomized clinical trials excluded patients over 80 years old, so the exact benefits and risks of CEA versus CAS in the very elderly are not well known. In subgroup analysis of NASCET and ECST, the risk of stroke and death in patients \geq 75 years was higher in the medical treatment group than the CEA group and it suggested indirect favorable effects of CEA in the very elderly (42). In elderly patients, life expectancy is shorter than that of younger patients, so concerns about operative risk and vascular outcome are critical. However, patients in the medical arm had a higher risk of recurrent stroke, so the limitation of medical treatment used at the time of the trial also exists. Recent clinical trials comparing CEA with CAS included a substantial proportion of elderly patients. The rate of periprocedural and long-term vascular events was more prevalent in CAS group rather than

TABLE 1 | Major carotid revascularization trials comparing carotid endarterectomy with stenting.

Trial	Sample size, n (CEA/CAS)	Old age, n (%)	Symptomatic (%)	Protection device (%)	30-Day total stroke (%)	30-Day composite outcome (%)	Follow-up period (years)	Long-term outcome; all stroke (%)	Long-term outcome; periprocedural stroke or death plus ipsilateral stroke postprocedural ipsilateral stroke or (%)
SAPPHIRE (32, 39)	167/167	19.5ª	29	100	3.1/3.6	9.8/4.8 ^f	3	10.7/10.1	10.2/9.0
SPACE (28, 35)	584/599	21.6 ^b	100	27	6.2/7.5	6.5/7.7 ⁹	2	10.1/10.9	8.8/9.5
EVA-3S (29, 37)	259/261	36.3°	100	92	2.7/8.7	3.9/9.6 ⁹	4	7.3/12.8	5.3/10.9
ICSS (13, 34)	858/855	53.3d	100	72	4.1/7.7°	5.2/8.5°	5	9.4/15.2	7.2/11.8
CREST (12, 33, 38)	1,240/1,262	9.6ª	53	96	2.3/4.1	2.3/4.4 ^g	4	7.9/10.2	4.7/6.4
CREST-S	653/668		100		3.2/5.5	3.2/6.0 ^g	4	6.4/7.6	6.4/8.0
CREST-A	587/594		0		1.4/2.5	1.4/2.5 ^g	4	2.7/4.5	2.7/4.5
ACT-1 (24)	364/1,089	0	0	100	1.4/2.8	2.6/3.3	1	2.2/3.3 ^h	3.3/3.8 ^j

^aThe cutoff age for old age group is more than 80 years old.

^bThe cutoff age for old age group is more than 75 years old.

°The cutoff age for old age group is 75 or more years old.

^dThe cutoff age for old age group is 70 or more years old.

eA composite of stroke, death, or myocardial infarction within 120 days.

^tA composite of death, stroke, or myocardial infarction within 30 days.

PA composite of death or stroke within 30 days.

^hA composite of all stroke within 30 days plus ipsilateral stroke within 31 days to 1 year.

A composite of stroke or death at 30 days plus ipsilateral stroke or death from neurological causes within 31 days to 3 years.

A composite of death, stroke, or myocardial infarction within 30 days plus ipsilateral stroke within 31 days to 1 year.

SAPPHIRE, the Stenting and Angioplasty with Protection in Patients at High RIsk for Endarterectomy; SPACE, Stent-Supported Angioplasty of the Carotid Artery versus Endarterectomy; EVA-3S, Endarterectomy versus Angioplasty in Patients with Symptomatic Severe Carotid Stenosis; ICSS, International Carotid Stenting Study; CREST, the Carotid Revascularization Endarterectomy versus Stenting Trial; CREST-S, CREST symptomatic carotid stenosis group; CREST-A, CREST-asymptomatic carotid stenosis group; ACT-1, Asymptomatic Carotid Trial 1.

Trial	Primary outcome	Definition of myocardial infarction for primary end point
SAPPHIRE (32)	A composite of death, stroke, or myocardial infarction within 30 days after the intervention or death or ipsilateral stroke between 31 days and 1 year	A CK level higher than two times the upper limit of normal with a positive MB fraction
SPACE (28)	Ipsilateral ischemic stroke or death from time of randomization to 30 days after the procedure	
EVA-3S (29)	The incidence of any stroke or death within 30 days after treatment	
ICSS (13)	The 3-year rate of fatal or disabling stroke in any territory	
CREST (12)	Stroke, myocardial infarction, or death from any cause during the periprocedural period or any ipsilateral stroke within 4 years after randomization	A CK-MB or troponin level that was twice the upper limit of the normal range or higher according to the center's laboratory, in addition to either chest pain or symptoms consistent with ischemia or ECG evidence of ischemia, including new ST segment depression or elevation of more than 1 mm in two or more contiguous leads according to the core laboratory
ACT-1 (24)	The composite of death, stroke (ipsilateral or contralateral, major or minor), or myocardial infarction during the 30 days after the procedure or ipsilateral stroke within 1 year	Q-wave myocardial infarction—the development of new pathological Q waves in two or more contiguous leads with post-procedure CK or CK-MB levels elevated above normal
		Non Q-wave myocardial infarction—elevation of CK levels to greater than two times the upper limit of normal in the presence of elevated CK-MB and in the absence of new pathological Q waves. (WHO definition)

SAPPHIRE, the Stenting and Angioplasty with Protection in Patients at High Rlsk for Endarterectomy; SPACE, Stent-Supported Angioplasty of the Carotid Artery versus Endarterectomy; EVA-3S, Endarterectomy versus Angioplasty in Patients with Symptomatic Severe Carotid Stenosis; ICSS, International Carotid Stenting Study; CREST, the Carotid Revascularization Endarterectomy versus Stenting Trial; ACT-1, Asymptomatic Carotid Trial; CK, creatine kinase; ECG, electrocardiography; WHO, World Health Organization.

CEA group, likely because of the vascular tortuosity and severe vascular calcification in the very elderly patients (**Table 1**) (43).

The age definition of "elderly" was different between studies. In meta-analysis, comparing early outcomes of CEA or CAS in old and young age groups was published in 2013 (44). Among 54 studies included, 38 studies used age 80 years as the cutoff for elderly, 13 studies used age 75 years, 2 studies used age 70 years, and another study used age 65 years. Of note, NASCET and CREST were the only RCTs included in the analysis, whereas the rest were observational studies. CAS was associated with increased incidence of stroke in elderly patients compared with younger patients [odds ratio (OR), 1.56; 95% CI 1.40–1.75], whereas CEA had equivalent cerebrovascular outcomes in old and young age groups (OR, 0.94; 95% CI 0.88–0.99). CAS had

TABLE 3 High risk condition or contraindication for carotid intervention
of very elderly patients (40, 41).

	CEA	CAS
Anatomic	Prior CEA Prior neck surgery Prior neck irradiation Symptomatic ICA lesion High ICA lesion Low CCA lesion Neck immobility Tracheostomy Contralateral laryngeal nerve palsy Contralateral ICA occlusion Intraluminal thrombus Long subtotal ICA occlusion (string sign)	Symptomatic ICA lesion Steep aortic arch, tortuous CCA, tortous distal ICA Long subtotal ICA occlusion (string sign) Poor femoral access Extensive intracranial microvascular disease Circumferential ICA calcification Intraluminal thrombus Chronic ICA occlusion Intracranial aneurysm or AVM requiring treatment
Medical factors	Age > 80 Class III or IV heart failure Non-revascularized left main or multivessel coronary disease Class III or IV angina Myocardial infarction within 30 days Severe renal insufficiency Severe pulmonary disease Female sex Concomitant cardiac surgery Recent implantation of a coronary drug eluting stent	Age > 80 Severe renal insufficiency Major stroke within 4–6 weeks Intolerance to aspirin and/or clopidogrel

CEA, carotid endarterectomy; CCA, common carotid artery; ICA, internal carotid artery; AVM, arteriovenous malformation.

similar peri-interventional mortality risks in old and young patients (OR, 0.86; 95% CI 0.72–1.03), whereas CEA was associated with heightened mortality in elderly patients (OR, 1.62; 95% CI 1.47–1.77).

A pooled analysis of EVA-3S, SPACE, and ICSS showed that age was the only factor which significantly altered the relative risk of stroke or death between CAS and CEA in the short term (45). Whereas risk estimates were similar with both treatments among patients <70 years old, a twofold increase in risk with CAS over CEA was observed in the older age group. Age also significantly modified the effect of treatment on disabling stroke or death. The exploratory analysis of relative treatment risks across six age levels was consistent with the assumption of a linear increase in risk of periprocedural stroke risk associated with CAS. In CREST, there was an interaction between age and treatment efficacy (p = 0.02) (46). For the primary outcome, the hazard for CAS compared with CEA rose from 0.6 (95% CI 0.31-1.18) for patients aged under 65 to 1.08 (95% CI 0.65-1.78) for patients 65-74 years old to 1.63 (95% CI 0.99-2.69) for patients aged \geq 75 years. The effect of age appeared primarily in the stroke risk, which increased with age more in the CAS group than in the CEA group. The age at which the HR was 1.0 was 70 years old for the primary outcomes and 65 years old for stroke.

In asymptomatic patients, the elderly (especially those over 80 years old) is a group in which the benefit of revascularization is controversial because in both the ACAS and ACST, the benefit from revascularization was seen after five-year follow-up (8, 20). ACAS did not enroll subjects greater than 80 years of age, and there was no benefit seen in those over 75 years in ACST. A report from the national cardiovascular data registry related to CEA showed elderly patients > 85 years of age were at increased risk for death or perioperative complications of stroke, death, and MI after CEA compared with those who were relatively younger. Among asymptomatic elderly patients, mortality rate was significantly higher in those older than 75 years (47). However, age cannot be an absolute contraindication with increasing life expectancy, because excellent outcomes after both CEA and CAS have been demonstrated in prudently selected patients (48, 49).

Therefore, if other conditions are similar, it is likely that CEA is more recommended than CAS for symptomatic patients older than 65–70 years old and it is difficult to determine which is better for asymptomatic patients in comparison with medical treatment. Meta-regression analysis investigating potential effects of publication time of each study on perioperative adverse events after CEA revealed no significant relationship. However, a significant effect of publication time on peri-interventional stroke and mortality in the patients who underwent CAS was reported (44). We need to consider comorbid medical conditions of the individual patients and wait for the results of research in progress.

RISKS AND SPECIFIC CONSIDERATIONS FOR CAROTID REVASCULARIZATION OF VERY ELDERLY PATIENTS

In elderly patients, it is necessary to know and confirm various situations that improve the outcomes after carotid revascularization. We reviewed specific considerations in very elderly patients undergoing CEA or CAS. However, we do not mention anatomic or medical conditions which is well known to be more appropriate for CAS or CEA in general population. We describe the conditions associated with an increased procedural risk and contraindications for CEA and CAS in **Table 3** (40, 41).

Sex

The effect of sex on carotid revascularization has been controversial. Previous studies such as NASCET and ECST showed a higher benefit in men than in women on perioperative stroke and death from CEA (42). Another study suggested that women were more likely to have less favorable outcomes, including surgical mortality, neurological morbidity, and recurrent carotid stenosis after CEA (50).

In general, surgical risk was higher in women than in men, whereas risk of CAS was virtually unaffected by sex (4, 51). There was no significant difference in treatment effects from CEA or CAS between men and women in the meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials of symptomatic patients (11). In CREST, the rates of the primary end point for CAS compared with CEA were similar, and there was no significant interaction between sexes (52, 53). However, periprocedural risk of events seems to be higher in women who have CAS than those who have CEA (6.8 versus 3.8%, p = 0.047) whereas there is little difference in men. A retrospective study based on a national database of carotid revascularizations in the United States found that women and men had equivalent rates of periprocedural stroke when

undergoing CEA (1.0 versus 1.0%) and CAS (2.7 versus 2.0%) (54). Nevertheless, symptomatic women had a significantly higher rate of periprocedural stroke than symptomatic men (3.8 versus 2.3%; p = 0.03). Among those with symptomatic stenosis, there was no difference between CAS and CEA in periprocedural events among men, but there was a non-significant trend toward fewer events with women who received CEA versus CAS (3.4 versus 6.2%, p = 0.1). In asymptomatic women, rates of periprocedural strokes were significantly lower after CEA than after CAS (0.9 versus 2.1%, p < 0.001) Therefore, in elderly women, CEA is recommended rather than CAS.

However, the Italian study of carotid revascularization for patients greater than 80 years old showed a 5-year mortality of 49.4%, higher in males (39.5% for females and 52.5% for males) and ischemic stroke-related mortality of 20.2%, higher in females (40.0% for females and 15.6% for males) (55). Comparing data from octogenarian residents of the same geographical territory, ischemic stroke-related mortality hazard was significantly higher in the study females: OR 3.2 95% CI 1.16–9.17; p = 0.029 (for males: OR 0.97, 95% CI 0.89–1.10; p = 0.99). Five-year Kaplan–Meier estimates of any stroke was 84.8% (78.7% symptomatic versus 90.3% asymptomatic; p = 0.003). Therefore, invasive treatment of carotid stenosis may not be warranted in patients more than 80 years of age with carotid stenosis, especially when female and asymptomatic.

Because the proportion of women is higher in older patients, various medical conditions including age and sex should be considered together in the selection of CAS and CEA. In addition, for elderly women with asymptomatic carotid stenosis, some researchers asserted medical treatment is recommended as a priority (5, 23, 52).

Coronary Artery Disease Risk

Because atherosclerosis is a systemic disease, coronary and carotid artery disease frequently coexist. The older the patient's age, the greater the likelihood of coronary disease. The performance of either combined or staged coronary artery bypass grafting and CEA consistently has been associated with increased likelihoods of perioperative stroke, death, and MI compared with standalone CEA. In contrast, CAS among patients with concomitant severe coronary disease seems relatively safe in comparison with CEA (40).

Inclusion of MI in the primary end point was different across trials, and the results were influenced by this component (**Tables 1** and **2**). The SPACE and EVA-3S, which did not include MI for the composite outcome, failed to prove non-inferiority of periprocedural events in CAS group compared with CEA group (28, 29). However, SAPPHIRE, CREST, and ACT-1, which included MI in the primary end point, showed higher risk of MI with CEA during the periprocedural period (12, 24, 32). Especially in CREST, the rate of MI was higher in the CEA group rather than the CAS group (2.3 versus 1.1%, HR 0.50, 95% CI 0.26–0.94, p = 0.03) (12). In addition, both the patients with MI defined as biomarker elevation plus either chest pain or electrocardiography (ECG) evidence of ischemia and the patients with biomarker only (biomarker elevation with neither chest pain nor ECG abnormality) were independently associated with increased future mortality (56).

In some studies, the risk of MI did not increase with age in either treatment group (12, 44, 46, 47, 57). However, in other studies, postoperative MI after CEA or CAS was independently associated with older age (44, 58–60). A meta-analysis showed an increased risk of developing MI in older patients compared with younger patients after CEA [2.2 and 1.4%, respectively; OR 1.64 (95% CI 1.57–1.74)] and CAS [2.3 and 1.5%, respectively; OR 1.30 (95% CI 1.16–1.45)] (44).

To reduce the risk of MI after CEA or CAS, more detailed preoperative cardiovascular evaluation might be needed. Because asymptomatic coronary stenosis can influence periprocedural vascular events, intensive preoperative evaluation such as coronary computed tomography angiography can be helpful (61). In addition, patients in CREST undergoing CEA with regional anesthesia had a similar risk of periprocedural MI as those undergoing CAS, whereas the risk for CEA with general anesthesia was twice that compared with patients undergoing CAS (62). Thorough perioperative management and assignment to CAS instead of CEA may minimize ischemic cardiac complications even in elderly patients (63). In addition, the use of dual antiplatelet therapy, statins, cardioprotective pharmacotherapy with or without coronary revascularization, or regional anesthesia could be recommended in patients with coronary disease.

Atrial Fibrillation

The prevalence of atrial fibrillation increases with age and ranges from 0.1% among adults less than 55 years of age to 9% in those \geq 80 years of age (64). It is well known that atrial fibrillation increases the risk of stroke and is associated with poor stroke outcomes. In general practice, atrial fibrillation is a common comorbid condition among patients who undergo carotid revascularization. The rate of chronic atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing CEA ranges from 4 to 7% (65–67). Because many previous randomized controlled trials have excluded patients with cardiac arrhythmias (NASCET, ACAS, SAPPHIRE, CREST), the effect of atrial fibrillation on outcomes of patients is not well understood (6, 8, 12, 32).

Some studies revealed atrial fibrillation was associated with an increased risk of postoperative stroke in patients undergoing CEA but not in patients undergoing CAS. The relative risk of the composite outcome of postoperative stroke, cardiac complication, and mortality was increased in both groups with atrial fibrillation (65, 66). However, there were no long-term outcome results from the studies of CAS or CEA. The combined use of antiplatelets and anticoagulants in patients with atrial fibrillation after CAS may increase the bleeding risk, so additional studies are needed.

Miscellaneous

The prevalence of concomitant severe steno-occlusion on the contralateral carotid artery and vertebrobasilar artery and/or aortic arch stenosis increases with age. Theoretically, patients with contralateral carotid or vertebrobasilar occlusion have an increased risk of intolerance to ipsilateral carotid clamping, distal cerebral embolization, or cerebral hyperperfusion syndrome. Aortic arch stenosis and severe angulation can induce technical failure of CAS. There have been conflicting data regarding the

relationship between these concomitant atherosclerotic disease and risk of carotid revascularization (40, 68). However, recently both carotid revascularization methods can be applied in most patients, and final selection depends on individual situation.

White matter hyperintensities reflect small vessel burden and is associated with cognitive decline. The development of white matter lesions correlates with age. In a substudy of ICSS, CAS was associated with a higher risk of stroke compared with CEA in patients with moderate to severe white matter changes [an agerelated white matter changes (ARWMC) score of 7 or more, HR for any stroke 2.98, 1.29–6.93; p = 0.011; HR for non-disabling stroke 6.34, 1.45–27.71; p = 0.014], but there was no difference in risk in patients with an ARWMC score of less than 7 (69). Therefore, it is necessary to be careful when selecting CAS in patients with more extensive white matter lesions. Nevertheless, there was a study reporting patients who underwent CAS tended to achieve higher scores in some cognitive function tests (70).

BEST MEDICAL TREATMENT VERSUS CAROTID REVASCULARIZATION

Medical treatment with antihypertensive, single or multiple antiplatelets, and lipid-lowering drugs has advanced since most clinical trials have been completed comparing CEA with best medical therapy alone. Recent studies suggest that the annual rate of stroke in medically treated patients with an asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis has decreased (22, 23).

The population-based Oxford Vascular Study (OXVASC) assessed the risk of TIA and stroke in 1,153 patients with \geq 50% carotid stenosis recruited consecutively in 2002–2009 (23). During 301 patient-years of follow-up (mean of 3 years), there were 6 ischemic events in the territory of an asymptomatic stenosis, 1 minor stroke, and 5 TIAs. The average annual rates on medical treatment were 0.34% for any ipsilateral ischemic stroke, 0% for disabling ipsilateral stroke, and 1.78% for ipsilateral TIA. A systematic review of the stroke risk in the medical treatment group of patients with severe asymptomatic carotid stenosis for the past 25 years was presented (22). The development of pharmacotherapy led to a decrease in the incidence of ipsilateral and total TIA or stroke since the mid-1980s. The risk of stroke in the medical arms in the post-2000 studies has been similar or lower than that of the CEA arms of major clinical trials in the 1990s.

Therefore, there is an urgent need for clinical trials comparing carotid revascularization therapy with optimal medical treatment in the patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis. The aggressive medical treatment evaluation for asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis (AMTEC) study was the first randomized controlled trial comparing CEA and modern medical treatment (aggressive lipid-lowering and antihypertensive medication, and aspirin). However, the trial was stopped after a median follow-up of 3.3 years because of the obvious superiority of CEA (71). CREST 2 and SPACE-2 are now ongoing, and will compare intensive medical management alone versus CEA plus intensive medical management in patients who are asymptomatic (72–74). The results of these trials and a subgroup analysis of elderly patients may be helpful to answer the questions about best management of these patients.

Regardless, it is important to maintain optimal medical treatment in patients with carotid stenosis whether or not carotid revascularization procedures are performed. However, elderly patients may be at greater risk for side effects because adverse drug reactions and drug–drug interactions are more common in older patients than the general population due to polypharmacy, age-related changes in physiology, and/or underlying chronic disease (75). Aggressive antihypertensive treatment in elderly is highly associated with orthostatic hypotension, falls, and dementia (76). Hypoglycemia can lead to worse outcomes in elderly diabetic patients, which leads to a change in the recommended glycated hemoglobin levels (7.5–9% rather than <7%) (77). Therefore, prescription of these medications needs to be carefully performed in these elderly patients.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS FOR THE PATIENTS WITH CAROTID STENOSIS—THE IMPORTANCE OF PLAQUE

Carotid stenosis in the 60–99% range has been an inadequate predictor of future vascular events. The ACAS and ACST trials did not show stenosis degree in this range as a predictor of future events (8, 20). Therefore, stenosis degree alone is not a reliable predictor to be used in decision making, and carotid plaque could be an important factor to improve the prediction of future stroke risk.

The disruption of atherosclerotic plaques precedes the onset of a clinical stroke syndrome. Vulnerability of carotid plaques, characterized by cap rupture, is significantly associated with the development of vascular events such as stroke (78, 79). There were several studies that found clinical indices for identifying high risk carotid plaques. Multiple non-invasive imaging modalities have shown their potential to differentiate high-risk vulnerable plaques from stable plaques. Atherosclerotic plaques can be characterized based on their surface irregularity, ulcerations, echolucency and gray-scale values by ultrasound (80-82). The Asymptomatic Carotid Emboli Study (ACES) investigated 1 h transcranial Doppler recording from the ipsilateral middle cerebral artery, and the absolute annual risk of ipsilateral stroke or TIA between baseline and 2 years was 7.13% in patients with embolic signals and 3.04% in those without, and for ipsilateral stroke was 3.62% in patients with embolic signals and 0.70% in those without (83). MRI has also been used to detect the presence of intraplaque hemorrhage as indicative of a high-risk plaque and vessel wall imaging by high-resolution MRI can be helpful to differentiate vulnerable from stable plaques (84, 85).

Other studies using albumin-binding MRI and 18F-fluoride position emission tomography have also investigated detection of vulnerable plaques, and someday these efforts to differentiate stroke-prone patients will be helpful for the decision of carotid treatment (86, 87). In the future, these approaches will be used for personalized and precision medicine in the treatment of complicated elderly patients (88).

Better understanding of risk factors for periprocedural and long-term outcome would help clinicians offer the best treatment option for carotid artery stenosis in elderly patients. Because individual risks are different according to the treatment method and stroke incidence has been decreasing by advanced drug therapy and medical devices, clinicians should still be thoughtful while selecting patients for carotid revascularization therapy. Current guidelines may be changed in the future, depending on the results of ongoing trials of intensive medical management versus procedures plus medical management.

REFERENCES

- Ross R. Atherosclerosis an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med (1999) 340:115–26. doi:10.1056/NEJM199901143400207
- Lindsberg PJ, Grau AJ. Inflammation and infections as risk factors for ischemic stroke. *Stroke* (2003) 34:2518–32. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000089015. 51603.CC
- Kerber CW, Heilman CB. Flow dynamics in the human carotid artery: I. Preliminary observations using a transparent elastic model. *Am J Neuroradiol* (1992) 13:173–80.
- Kernan WN, Ovbiagele B, Black HR, Bravata DM, Chimowitz MI, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack. *Stroke* (2014) 45:2160–236. doi:10.1161/STR. 00000000000024
- Meschia JF, Bushnell C, Boden-Albala B, Braun LT, Bravata DM, Chaturvedi S, et al. Guidelines for the primary prevention of stroke. *Stroke* (2014) 45: 3754–832. doi:10.1161/STR.00000000000046
- NASCET Collaborators, Barnett HJM, Taylor DW, Haynes RB, Sackett DL, Peerless SJ, et al. Beneficial effect of carotid endarterectomy in symptomatic patients with high-grade carotid stenosis. N Engl J Med (1991) 325: 445–53. doi:10.1056/NEJM199108153250701
- Warlow C. MRC European Carotid Surgery Trial: interim results for symptomatic patients with severe (70-99%) or with mild (0-29%) carotid stenosis. *Lancet* (1991) 337:1235–43. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(91)92916-P
- Walker MD, Marler JR, Goldstein M, Grady PA, Toole JF, Baker WH, et al. Endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis. *JAMA* (1995) 273:1421–8. doi:10.1001/jama.1995.03520420037035
- European Carotid Surgery Trialists' Collaborative Group. Randomised trial of endarterectomy for recently symptomatic carotid stenosis: final results of the MRC European Carotid Surgery Trial (ECST). *Lancet* (1998) 351:1379–87. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(97)09292-1
- Barnett HJ, Taylor DW, Eliasziw M, Fox AJ, Ferguson GG, Haynes RB, et al. Benefit of carotid endarterectomy in patients with symptomatic moderate or severe stenosis. *N Engl J Med* (1998) 339:1415–25. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199811123392002
- Carotid Stenting Trialists' Collaboration; Bonati LH, Dobson J, Algra A, Branchereau A, Chatellier G, et al. Short-term outcome after stenting versus endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis: a preplanned metaanalysis of individual patient data. *Lancet* (2010) 376:1062–73. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(10)61009-4
- Brott TG, Hobson RW II, Howard G, Roubin GS, Clark WM, Brooks W, et al. Stenting versus endarterectomy for treatment of carotid-artery stenosis. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363:11–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0912321
- International Carotid Stenting Study Investigators; Ederle J, Dobson J, Featherstone RL, Bonati LH, van der Worp HB, et al. Carotid artery stenting compared with endarterectomy in patients with symptomatic carotid stenosis (International Carotid Stenting Study): an interim analysis of a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2010) 375:985–97. doi:10.1016/ s0140-6736(10)60239-5
- Kontis V, Bennett JE, Mathers CD, Li G, Foreman K, Ezzati M. Future life expectancy in 35 industrialised countries: projections with a Bayesian model ensemble. *Lancet* (2017) 389:1323–35. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32381-9
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2016) 133:e38–360. doi:10.1161/ CIR.000000000000350
- Nacu A, Fromm A, Sand KM, Waje-Andreassen U, Thomassen L, Naess H. Age dependency of ischaemic stroke subtypes and vascular risk factors in

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SH searched the literature, formulated the topics for the review, and wrote the manuscript. CB provided edits and contributed scientifically to the final draft.

western Norway: the Bergen Norwegian Stroke Cooperation Study. Acta Neurol Scand (2016) 133:202-7. doi:10.1111/ane.12446

- 17. Chen YM, Lin YJ, Po HL. Comparison of the risk factor profile, stroke subtypes, and outcomes between stroke patients aged 65 years or younger and elderly stroke patients: a hospital-based study. *Int J Gerontol* (2013) 7:205–8. doi:10.1016/j.ijge.2012.11.011
- McPhee JT, Schanzer A, Messina LM, Eslami MH. Carotid artery stenting has increased rates of postprocedure stroke, death, and resource utilization than does carotid endarterectomy in the United States, 2005. *J Vasc Surg* (2008) 48:1442–50. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2008.07.017
- Hobson RW, Weiss DG, Fields WS, Goldstone J, Moore WS, Towne JB, et al. Efficacy of carotid endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *N Engl J Med* (1993) 328:221–7. doi:10.1056/NEJM199301283280401
- MRC Asymptomatic Carotid Surgery Trial (ACST) Collaborative Group. Prevention of disabling and fatal strokes by successful carotid endarterectomy in patients without recent neurological symptoms: randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2004) 363:1491–502. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16146-1
- Chambers BR, Donnan G. Carotid endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2005) 4:CD001923. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD001923.pub2
- Abbott AL. Medical (nonsurgical) intervention alone is now best for prevention of stroke associated with asymptomatic severe carotid stenosis: results of a systematic review and analysis. *Stroke* (2009) 40:e573–83. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.556068
- Marquardt L, Geraghty OC, Mehta Z, Rothwell PM. Low risk of ipsilateral stroke in patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis on best medical treatment: a prospective, population-based study. *Stroke* (2010) 41:e11–7. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.561837
- Rosenfield K, Matsumura JS, Chaturvedi S, Riles T, Ansel GM, Metzger DC, et al. Randomized trial of stent versus surgery for asymptomatic carotid stenosis. N Engl J Med (2016) 374:1011–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1515706
- Halliday A, Harrison M, Hayter E, Kong X, Mansfield A, Marro J, et al. 10-year stroke prevention after successful carotid endarterectomy for asymptomatic stenosis (ACST-1): a multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet* (2010) 376:1074–84. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61197-X
- Mayberg MR, Wilson SE, Yatsu F, Weiss DG, Messina L, Hershey LA, et al. Carotid endarterectomy and prevention of cerebral ischemia in symptomatic carotid stenosis. *JAMA* (1991) 266:3289–94. doi:10.1001/jama.266. 23.3289
- Rothwell PM, Eliasziw M, Gutnikov SA, Fox AJ, Taylor DW, Mayberg MR, et al. Analysis of pooled data from the randomised controlled trials of endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis. *Lancet* (2003) 361:107–16. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(03)12228-3
- The SPACE Collaborative Group; Ringleb PA, Allenberg J, Brückmann H, Eckstein HH, Fraedrich G, et al. 30 day results from the SPACE trial of stent-protected angioplasty versus carotid endarterectomy in symptomatic patients: a randomised non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* (2006) 368:1239–47. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(06)69122-8
- MAS JL, Chatellier G, Beyssen B, Branchereau A, Moulin T, Becquemin JP, et al. Endarterectomy versus stenting in patients with symptomatic severe carotid stenosis. *NEnglJ Med* (2006) 355:1660–71. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa061752
- Bonati LH, Jongen LM, Haller S, Flach HZ, Dobson J, Nederkoorn PJ, et al. New ischaemic brain lesions on MRI after stenting or endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis: a substudy of the International Carotid Stenting Study (ICSS). *Lancet Neurol* (2010) 9:353–62. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(10) 70057-0
- 31. CAVATAS Investigators. Endovascular versus surgical treatment in patients with carotid stenosis in the Carotid and Vertebral Artery Transluminal

Angioplasty Study (CAVATAS): a randomised trial. *Lancet* (2001) 357: 1729–37. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(00)04893-5

- 32. Yadav JS, Wholey MH, Kuntz RE, Fayad P, Katzen BT, Mishkel GJ, et al. Protected carotid-artery stenting versus endarterectomy in high-risk patients. N Engl J Med (2004) 351:1493-501. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa040127
- 33. Silver FL, Mackey A, Clark WM, Brooks W, Timaran CH, Chiu D, et al. Safety of stenting and endarterectomy by symptomatic status in the Carotid Revascularization Endarterectomy Versus Stenting Trial (CREST). *Stroke* (2011) 42:675–80. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.610212
- 34. Bonati LH, Dobson J, Featherstone RL, Ederle J, van der Worp HB, de Borst GJ, et al. Long-term outcomes after stenting versus endarterectomy for treatment of symptomatic carotid stenosis: the International Carotid Stenting Study (ICSS) randomised trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385:529–38. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736 (14)61184-3
- 35. Eckstein HH, Ringleb P, Allenberg JR, Berger J, Fraedrich G, Hacke W, et al. Results of the stent-protected angioplasty versus carotid endarterectomy (SPACE) study to treat symptomatic stenoses at 2 years: a multinational, prospective, randomised trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2008) 7:893–902. doi:10.1016/ s1474-4422(08)70196-0
- 36. Ederle J, Bonati LH, Dobson J, Featherstone RL, Gaines PA, Beard JD, et al. Endovascular treatment with angioplasty or stenting versus endarterectomy in patients with carotid artery stenosis in the Carotid And Vertebral Artery Transluminal Angioplasty Study (CAVATAS): long-term follow-up of a randomised trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2009) 8:898–907. doi:10.1016/ s1474-4422(09)70228-5
- MAS JL, Trinquart L, Leys D, Albucher JF, Rousseau H, Viguier A, et al. Endarterectomy versus angioplasty in patients with symptomatic severe carotid stenosis (EVA-3S) trial: results up to 4 years from a randomised, multicentre trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2008) 7:885–92. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422 (08)70195-9
- Brott TG, Howard G, Roubin GS, Meschia JF, Mackey A, Brooks W, et al. Longterm results of stenting versus endarterectomy for carotid-artery stenosis. *N Engl J Med* (2016) 374:1021–31. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1505215
- Gurm HS, Yadav JS, Fayad P, Katzen BT, Mishkel GJ, Bajwa TK, et al. Longterm results of carotid stenting versus endarterectomy in high-risk patients. *N Engl J Med* (2008) 358:1572–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0708028
- Narins CR, Illig KA. Patient selection for carotid stenting versus endarterectomy: a systematic review. J Vasc Surg (2006) 44:661–72. doi:10.1016/j.jvs. 2006.05.042
- Roffi M, Mukherjee D, Clair DG. Carotid artery stenting vs. endarterectomy. Eur Heart J (2009) 30:2693–704. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehp471
- Rothwell PM, Eliasziw M, Gutnikov SA, Warlow CP, Barnett HJM. Endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis in relation to clinical subgroups and timing of surgery. *Lancet* (2004) 363:915–24. doi:10.1016/ s0140-6736(04)15785-1
- Chiam PT, Roubin GS, Iyer SS, Green RM, Soffer DE, Brennan C, et al. Carotid artery stenting in elderly patients: importance of case selection. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* (2008) 72:318–24. doi:10.1002/ccd.21620
- Antoniou GA, Georgiadis GS, Georgakarakos EI, Antoniou SA, Bessias N, Smyth JV, et al. Meta-analysis and meta-regression analysis of outcomes of carotid endarterectomy and stenting in the elderly. *JAMA Surg* (2013) 148:1140–52. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2013.4135
- Bonati L, Fraedrich G. Age modifies the relative risk of stenting versus endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis-a pooled analysis of EVA-3S, SPACE and ICSS. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2011) 41:153–8. doi:10.1016/j. ejvs.2011.01.001
- 46. Voeks JH, Howard G, Roubin GS, Malas MB, Cohen DJ, Sternbergh WC III, et al. Age and outcomes after carotid stenting and endarterectomy: the carotid revascularization endarterectomy versus stenting trial. *Stroke* (2011) 42:3484–90. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.624155
- Rajamani K, Kennedy KF, Ruggiero NJ, Rosenfield K, Spertus J, Chaturvedi S. Outcomes of carotid endarterectomy in the elderly: report from the National Cardiovascular Data Registry. *Stroke* (2013) 44:1172–4. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.000513
- Ballotta E, Toniato A, Da Roit A, Lorenzetti R, Piatto G, Baracchini C. Carotid endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid stenosis in the very elderly. *J Vasc* Surg (2015) 61:382–8. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2014.07.090

- Chiam PT, Roubin GS, Panagopoulos G, Iyer SS, Green RM, Brennan C, et al. One-year clinical outcomes, midterm survival, and predictors of mortality after carotid stenting in elderly patients. *Circulation* (2009) 119:2343–8. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.805465
- Hugh B, Oldenburg WA, Neuhauser B, Hakaim AG. Effect of age and gender on restenosis after carotid endarterectomy. *Ann Vasc Surg* (2006) 20:602–8. doi:10.1007/S10016-006-9028-9
- Touzé E, Trinquart L, Felgueiras R, Rerkasem K, Bonati LH, Meliksetyan G, et al. A clinical rule (sex, contralateral occlusion, age, and restenosis) to select patients for stenting versus carotid endarterectomy. *Stroke* (2013) 44:3394–400. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.002756
- De Rango P, Brown MM, Didier L, Howard VJ, Moore WS, Paciaroni M, et al. Management of carotid stenosis in women consensus document. *Neurology* (2013) 80:2258–68. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318296e952
- Howard VJ, Lutsep HL, Mackey A, Demaerschalk BM, Sam AD, Gonzales NR, et al. Influence of sex on outcomes of stenting versus endarterectomy: a subgroup analysis of the carotid revascularization endarterectomy versus stenting trial (CREST). *Lancet Neurol* (2011) 10:530–7. doi:10.1016/ s1474-4422(11)70080-1
- Rockman CB, Garg K, Jacobowitz GR, Berger JS, Mussa FF, Cayne NS, et al. Outcome of carotid artery interventions among female patients, 2004 to 2005. J Vasc Surg (2011) 53:1457–64. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2011.02.029
- 55. De Rango P, Lenti M, Simonte G, Cieri E, Giordano G, Caso V, et al. No benefit from carotid intervention in fatal stroke prevention for > 80-year-old patients. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2012) 44:252–9. doi:10.1016/j.ejvs.2012.06.006
- Blackshear JL, Cutlip DE, Roubin GS, Hill MD, Leimgruber PP, Begg RJ, et al. Myocardial infarction after carotid stenting and endarterectomy: results from the carotid revascularization endarterectomy versus stenting trial. *Circulation* (2011) 123:2571–8. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.008250
- Ballotta E, Da Giau G, Ermani M, Meneghetti G, Saladini M, Manara R, et al. Early and long-term outcomes of carotid endarterectomy in the very elderly: an 18-year single-center study. *J Vasc Surg* (2009) 50:518–25. doi:10.1016/j. jvs.2009.04.053
- Kueh SH, Livingstone V, Thomson IA. Carotid endarterectomy in octogenarians. N Z Med J (2012) 125:77–82.
- Khatri R, Chaudhry SA, Vazquez G, Rodriguez GJ, Hassan AE, Suri MFK, et al. Age differential between outcomes of carotid angioplasty and stent placement and carotid endarterectomy in general practice. *J Vasc Surg* (2012) 55:72–8. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2011.08.007
- Jim J, Rubin BG, Ricotta JJ, Kenwood CT, Siami FS, Sicard GA, et al. Society for Vascular Surgery (SVS) Vascular Registry evaluation of comparative effectiveness of carotid revascularization procedures stratified by Medicare age. J Vasc Surg (2012) 55:1313–21. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2011.11.128
- Kim JH, Heo SH, Nam HJ, Youn HC, Kim EJ, Lee JS, et al. Preoperative coronary stenosis is a determinant of early vascular outcome after carotid endarterectomy. J Clin Neurol (2015) 11:364–71. doi:10.3988/jcn.2015.11.4.364
- 62. Hye RJ, Voeks JH, Malas MB, Tom M, Longson S, Blackshear JL, et al. Anesthetic type and risk of myocardial infarction after carotid endarterectomy in the carotid revascularization endarterectomy versus stenting trial (CREST). *J Vasc Surg* (2016) 64:3–8.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2016.01.047
- Miyawaki S, Maeda K. Surgical treatment for cervical carotid artery stenosis in the elderly: importance of perioperative management of ischemic cardiac complications. *Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo)* (2014) 54:120–5. doi:10.2176/nmc. oa2012-0436
- 64. Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby JV, et al. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. *JAMA* (2001) 285:2370–5. doi:10.1001/ jama.285.18.2370
- 65. Watanabe M, Chaudhry SA, Adil MM, Alqadri SL, Majidi S, Semaan E, et al. The effect of atrial fibrillation on outcomes in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy or stent placement in general practice. *J Vasc Surg* (2015) 61:927–32. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2014.11.001
- Harthun NL, Stukenborg GJ. Atrial fibrillation is associated with increased risk of perioperative stroke and death from carotid endarterectomy. J Vasc Surg (2010) 51:330–6. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2009.08.068
- McGirt MJ, Perler BA, Brooke BS, Woodworth GF, Coon A, Jain S, et al. 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors reduce the risk

of perioperative stroke and mortality after carotid endarterectomy. J Vasc Surg (2005) 42:829–36. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2005.08.039

- Yang SS, Kim YW, Kim DI, Kim KH, Jeon P, Kim GM, et al. Impact of contralateral carotid or vertebral artery occlusion in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy or carotid artery stenting. *J Vasc Surg* (2014) 59:749–55. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2013.10.055
- 69. Ederle J, Davagnanam I, van der Worp HB, Venables GS, Lyrer PA, Featherstone RL, et al. Effect of white-matter lesions on the risk of periprocedural stroke after carotid artery stenting versus endarterectomy in the International Carotid Stenting Study (ICSS): a prespecified analysis of data from a randomised trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2013) 12:866–72. doi:10.1016/s1474-4422(13)70135-2
- da Paz Oliveira G, Guillaumon AT, Lopes TM, Weiler M, Cendes F, Balthazar MLF. Carotid stenting versus endarterectomy cognitive outcomes. *Ann Vasc Surg* (2014) 28:893–900. doi:10.1016/j.avsg.2013.10.010
- Kolos I, Troitskiy A, Balakhonova T, Shariya M, Skrypnik D, Tvorogova T, et al. Modern medical treatment with or without carotid endarterectomy for severe asymptomatic carotid atherosclerosis. *J Vasc Surg* (2015) 62:914–22. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2015.05.005
- Chaturvedi S, Sacco RL. Are the current risks of asymptomatic carotid stenosis exaggerated? Further evidence supporting the CREST 2 Trial. *JAMA Neurol* (2015) 72:1233–4. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.2196
- Pahigiannis K, Kaufmann P, Koroshetz W. Carotid Intervention. Stroke (2014) 45:e40–1. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.003891
- 74. Reiff T, Amiri H, Eckstein H, Fraedrich G, Jansen O, Mudra H, et al. Modification of SPACE-2 study design. *Int J Stroke* (2014) 9:E12–3. doi:10.1111/ijs.12253
- Mangoni AA, Jackson SH. Age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: basic principles and practical applications. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* (2004) 57:6–14. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2125.2003.02007.x
- Moretti K, Torre P, Antonello RM, Manganaro D, Vilotti C, Pizzolato G. Risk factors for vascular dementia: hypotension as a key point. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* (2008) 4:395–402. doi:10.2147/VHRM.S2434
- Lipska KJ, Krumholz H, Soones T, Lee SJ. Polypharmacy in the aging patient: a review of glycemic control in older adults with type 2 diabetes. *JAMA* (2016) 315:1034–45. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.0299
- Heo SH, Cho CH, Kim HO, Jo YH, Yoon KS, Lee JH, et al. Plaque rupture is a determinant of vascular events in carotid artery atherosclerotic disease: involvement of matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9. *J Clin Neurol* (2011) 7: 69–76. doi:10.3988/jcn.2011.7.2.69
- Spagnoli LG, Mauriello A, Sangiorgi G, Fratoni S, Bonanno E, Schwartz RS, et al. Extracranial thrombotically active carotid plaque as a risk factor for ischemic stroke. *JAMA* (2004) 292:1845–52. doi:10.1001/ jama.292.15.1845

- Nicolaides AN, Kakkos SK, Kyriacou E, Griffin M, Sabetai M, Thomas DJ, et al. Asymptomatic internal carotid artery stenosis and cerebrovascular risk stratification. J Vasc Surg (2010) 52:.e1–5. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2010.07.021
- Griffin MB, Kyriacou E, Pattichis C, Bond D, Kakkos SK, Sabetai M, et al. Juxtaluminal hypoechoic area in ultrasonic images of carotid plaques and hemispheric symptoms. *J Vasc Surg* (2010) 52:69–76. doi:10.1016/j.jvs. 2010.02.265
- Kwee R, Van Oostenbrugge R, Hofstra L, Teule G, van Engelshoven J, Mess W, et al. Identifying vulnerable carotid plaques by noninvasive imaging. *Neurology* (2008) 70:2401–9. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000314697.76580.cb
- Markus HS, King A, Shipley M, Topakian R, Cullinane M, Reihill S, et al. Asymptomatic embolisation for prediction of stroke in the Asymptomatic Carotid Emboli Study (ACES): a prospective observational study. *Lancet Neurol* (2010) 9:663–71. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70120-4
- Paraskevas KI, Spence JD, Veith FJ, Nicolaides AN. Identifying which patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis could benefit from intervention. *Stroke* (2014) 45:3720–4. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.006912
- Choi YJ, Jung SC, Lee DH. Vessel wall imaging of the intracranial and cervical carotid arteries. J Stroke (2015) 17:238–55. doi:10.5853/jos.2015.17.3.238
- Phinikaridou A, Andia ME, Lavin B, Smith A, Saha P, Botnar RM. Increased vascular permeability measured with an albumin-binding magnetic resonance contrast agent is a surrogate marker of rupture-prone atherosclerotic plaque. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging* (2016) 9:e004910. doi:10.1161/CIRCIMAGING. 116.004910
- Joshi NV, Vesey AT, Williams MC, Shah ASV, Calvert PA, Craighead FHM, et al. 18F-fluoride positron emission tomography for identification of ruptured and high-risk coronary atherosclerotic plaques: a prospective clinical trial. *Lancet* (2014) 383:705–13. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(13)61754-7
- Hinman JD, Rost NS, Leung TW, Montaner J, Muir KW, Brown S, et al. Principles of precision medicine in stroke. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2017) 88:54–61. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2016-314587

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Heo and Bushnell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Determining the Association between Language and Cognitive Tests in Poststroke Aphasia

Kylie J. Wall^{1*}, Toby B. Cumming² and David A. Copland¹

¹ Centre for Clinical Research, School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ²The Florey Institute for Neuroscience and Mental Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Background: Individuals with aphasia are often excluded from studies exploring poststroke cognition because so many of the standard cognitive assessments rely on language ability. Our primary objective was to examine the association between performance on cognitive tests and performance on comprehension and naming tests in poststroke aphasia. Second, we aimed to determine the association between language performance and a real-life measure of cognition (Kettle Test). Third, we explored the feasibility of administering cognitive tests in aphasia.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Silver, University of Massachusetts Medical School, USA

Reviewed by:

Velandai Srikanth, Monash University, Australia Hidetoshi Kasuya, Tokyo Women's Medical University, Japan

> *Correspondence: Kylie J. Wall k.wall1@uq.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 24 December 2016 Accepted: 31 March 2017 Published: 05 May 2017

Citation:

Wall KJ, Cumming TB and Copland DA (2017) Determining the Association between Language and Cognitive Tests in Poststroke Aphasia. Front. Neurol. 8:149. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00149 **Methods:** Thirty-six participants with poststroke aphasia and 32 controls were assessed on a battery of pen-and-paper cognitive tests recommended in stroke. Auditory comprehension was measured using the Comprehensive Aphasia Test and naming was measured using the Boston Naming Test. Twenty-two community dwelling participants with aphasia and controls were also asked to complete the Kettle Test. Multiple linear regressions were used to explore the relationship between language performance and performance on the cognitive tests. Feasibility was determined by quantifying missing data.

Results: The cognitive tests with the highest variance accounted for by auditory comprehension and naming were animal fluency ($R^2 = 0.67$, $R^2 = 0.78$) and the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test (recognition discrimination index) ($R^2 = 0.65$, $R^2 = 0.78$). All cognitive tests were significantly associated with auditory comprehension and naming, except for the Star Cancellation Test and the Kettle Test. Thirty-three percent of participants with aphasia were unable to complete all the cognitive tests.

Conclusion: Language and non-linguistic cognitive processes are often interrelated. Most pen-and-paper cognitive tests were significantly associated with both auditory comprehension and naming, even in tests that do not require a verbal response. Language performance was not significantly associated with a real-life cognitive performance measure. Task instructions, stimuli, and responses for completion need to be tailored for individuals with aphasia to minimize the influence of language deficits when testing non-linguistic cognitive performance.

Keywords: aphasia, cognition, cognitive impairments, stroke, neuropsychological tests, pen-and-paper tests

INTRODUCTION

Up to 30% of stroke survivors experience difficulty with receptive and expressive language—called aphasia (1). There is an assumed relationship between language and non-linguistic cognitive performance in poststroke aphasia, but the nature and management of this relationship is poorly understood. Studies show that impaired executive skills, working memory, and attention can adversely influence aphasia rehabilitation outcomes (2-4), and cognitive performance may predict aphasia recovery better than language performance (5). El Hachioui et al. (6) explored cognitive deficits in aphasia during the first year poststroke and the association with functional outcome. Participants with persisting aphasia had poorer cognitive performance, poorer functional outcome, and they were more depressed compared to participants with resolved aphasia. To optimize aphasia therapy, clinicians need to measure linguistic and non-linguistic performance to ensure all aspects of cognitive impairments are considered.

International guidelines recommend that all stroke survivors should be screened for cognitive impairments using valid and reliable tools, and comprehensive neuropsychological testing should be undertaken for those that fail screening (7–9). Pen-and-paper screening tools and assessments are used more frequently than alternative methods for assessing cognition poststroke (10, 11). Such tools are often linguistically loaded, and aphasic deficits may confound non-linguistic cognitive performance (12, 13). Consequently, patients with aphasia are often excluded from studies validating cognitive assessments and exploring cognitive outcomes in stroke (10, 14, 15).

A reliance on verbal response is an obvious barrier to obtaining accurate measures of non-linguistic cognitive performance in aphasia. For example, verbal fluency is task often used in standard language assessments (16), but it is also used to measure executive skills in stroke (17). This highly language-dependent task (18) is unlikely to accurately represent executive skills in aphasia. Yet, eliminating verbal responses may not resolve language deficits confounding non-linguistic cognitive performance in aphasia. Comprehension deficits associated with aphasia may also confound results. Cognitive tests are often complex, with detailed instructions requiring sophisticated comprehension skills to understand the tasks (19). Increased syntactical complexity negatively influences comprehension in aphasia (20), and the linguistic complexity of instructions needs consideration in this stroke subgroup.

To quantify the association between language performance and cognitive tests without a verbal response, Fucetola et al. (21) explored how much variance in the non-verbal subtests from the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III (block design, matrix reasoning, and picture arrangement) and Wechsler Memory Scale-III (spatial span) was accounted for by auditory comprehension and oral expression in aphasia. Auditory comprehension accounted for 41% of the total variance (p < 0.001), whereas no significant relationship was found with naming performance. This study suggests that non-verbal cognitive performance is related to auditory comprehension severity, but 59% of the variance remains unexplained. Cognitive tests vary in the cognitive domain being tested, the task complexity, the delivery of instructions, and the responses needed for completion. There has been no systematic analysis of the relationship between language performance in poststroke aphasia (naming and comprehension) and performance on a broad range of widely used neuropsychological tasks. Exploring the potential variability in the association between language and scores on cognitive tests (including an everyday real-life measure of cognition, such as making a hot drink) in aphasia is necessary to better inform clinical practice.

Our primary objective was to examine the association between performance on cognitive tests and assessments of comprehension and naming in poststroke aphasia. Our second aim was to determine the association between auditory comprehension and naming performance and a validated real-life cognitive performance assessment in aphasia and controls. Our last aim was to determine the feasibility of all cognitive tests used by quantifying missing data in patients with aphasia compared to controls.

PARTICIPANTS AND METHODS

Participants

Thirty-six participants with poststroke aphasia and 32 controls were recruited from three Brisbane Hospitals, the Communication Registry at The University of Queensland, community posters, social groups, and newsletters. Participants with aphasia had diagnostic imaging evidence of stroke (or a clinical diagnosis if imaging was unavailable) and a diagnosis of aphasia according to the Comprehensive Aphasia Test (CAT) (using auditory comprehension subtests' cutoff scores) (16) or the Language Screening Test (cutoff < 15) (22). Patients were excluded if they: (1) had visual and hearing impairments that impeded testing; (2) needed an interpreter to participate if English was their second language; or (3) were too medically unwell. The included control participants passed a mood screen (The Patient Health Questionnaire) (23) to eliminate the potential influence of depression on cognitive performance (24, 25). Controls were excluded if they had a history of neurological disease or acquired injury, or if they needed an interpreter to participate if English was their second language.

Assessments

Demographic data collected included age, sex, education level, handedness, time poststroke, and clinical setting. We did not report localization of stroke lesion(s) because detailed neurological data could not be sourced for all community participants.

Language performance and severity of aphasia were assessed using the CAT (16) (auditory comprehension total score) and the 15-item abbreviated Boston Naming Test (26). The Boston Naming Test is one of the most widely used standardized aphasia measures in clinical practice (27). The 15-item abbreviated Boston Naming Test strongly correlates with the full Boston Naming Test (r = 0.93) (28), and it was recommended as part of neuropsychological testing for stroke survivors (17). Fifty percent of stroke survivors experience fatigue irrespective of time poststroke (29). The practicality of testing individuals with fatigue was considered in selecting our battery. Our battery of pen-and-paper neuropsychological tests has been validated in stroke. The battery included as follows.

Star Cancellation (30)

A visual neglect test that includes small stars on an A4 sheet with visual distractors (large stars and letters). Participants are provided with a visual demonstration, along with brief verbal instruction, to cross out all the small stars using a pen.

The Brixton Spatial Anticipation Test (31)

An executive function test with a 56-page stimulus booklet. It is a visuospatial sequencing task with rule changes where participants are required to detect rules in sequences of stimuli. Each page contains 2 rows of 5 circles, numbered from 1 to 10. On each page, a single circle is colored blue, and the position of the blue circle changes from one page to the next, based on a series of patterns. Participants are provided with lengthy verbal instructions and a practice. The examiner clarifies understanding. Participants are required to point to where they predicted the filled circle will be on the following page, based on the pattern inferred from the previous page.

Trail Making Test (Parts A and B) (32)

Part A is often used to test attention. Participants are verbally instructed to connect circles numbered 1–25 in correct order as quickly as possible using a pen. Part B is an executive task where participants are verbally instructed to connect numbered and lettered circles in correct alternating order (i.e., 1-A-2-B, etc.) as quickly as possible. Both parts have practice trials for familiarization.

Digit Span Test (Forwards and Backwards) (33)

The forwards test is used to measure verbal short-term memory. Participants are verbally instructed to repeat strings of numbers of increasing length. The backwards test is used to measure verbal working memory and executive skills. Participants are presented with more number of strings, and they are verbally instructed to recall each number string in reverse order.

Hopkins Verbal Learning Test (HVLT)-Revised (34)

Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised is used to assess verbal memory. The examiner reads a list of 12 words (from 3 taxonomic categories). Participants are instructed to try to remember, and verbally repeat, as many words as possible from the list. The examiner then reads the same list twice more, with recall each time. The immediate recall score is the total number of words recalled over these three trials. Subsequently, the participants are asked to recall the word list 20–25 min later (delayed recall). A retention score is calculated to determine the percentage of words retained (delayed recall as a percentage of the best immediate recall from trial 2 or 3). This is followed by a forced-choice recognition test [recognition discrimination index (RDI)], where 12 target words from the learning trials are included with 12 distractor words (six semantically related and six semantically unrelated). Participants are instructed to provide a yes/no response.

Rey Complex Figure (Copy, Immediate, and Delayed Recall) (35)

Rey Complex Figure (copy, immediate, and delayed recall) is used to assess visuospatial, visual memory, and executive skills.

Participants are provided with a pen and paper and asked to reproduce the complex figure. The stimulus figure and reproduction are then removed. After a 5 min delay, the participants are verbally instructed to reproduce the figure from memory. Then, after a 20–30 min delay, the participants are instructed to reproduce the figure from memory again.

Animal Fluency (36)

A verbal fluency task where participants are verbally instructed to name as many different animals as possible within a minute. While fluency tasks (such as animal fluency) undoubtedly include facets of executive function in planning search and retrieval, they are predominantly a reflection of language skills (18).

Kettle Test (37)

Kettle Test is a real-life everyday performance measure designed to detect cognitive processes needed for independent community living. Observations are rated on 13 distinct steps to complete the hot drink making task and guidelines for cueing are provided. The participants are scored according to the degree of cueing needed to complete the individual steps (0-4). Total scores range from 0 to 52, with higher scores indicating more assistance.

Statistical Analysis

The relationships between auditory comprehension, naming, and cognitive function were tested using separate multivariate linear regressions (controlling for age and education) for each cognitive test. To determine the distinct effects of auditory comprehension and naming, the independent variables were entered into different models. Demographic variables included in the models were years of education and age. If assumptions were not met to perform the multiple linear regressions, logistic regressions were used. To explore the feasibility of performing cognitive tests in aphasia compared to controls, we recorded reasons for missing data and the frequency for each individual test. All analyses were performed with Stata 14 software.

RESULTS

The characteristics of the 36 participants with poststroke aphasia and 32 controls are shown in **Table 1**. Of the 36 participants with aphasia, 22 community dwelling participants and the controls were also asked to complete the Kettle Test. The Kettle Test was not performed in the acute phase of stroke due to practical restrictions on the ward.

The severity of auditory comprehension and naming impairments in the aphasia group ranged from very severe to mild language deficits. Total scores for auditory comprehension ranged from 5/66 to 63/66 (median = 53, interquartile range = 29–58) as measured by the CAT. The results from the Boston Naming Test ranged from 0/15 to 15/15 (median = 10, interquartile range = 1–12). Control participants completed all tests, while 33% (n = 12) of participants with aphasia had missing data. All participants completed the auditory comprehension and naming tasks. There were a total of 32 missed cognitive test scores.

Figure 1 shows the number and frequency of missing data for the cognitive tests. The Trail Making Test (part B) had more

missing data than any other test (28%). The non-verbal cognitive tests had more missing data compared to the tests that required a verbal response. For example, verbal fluency (0%) and the HVLT (0–2.8%) compared to the Brixton (8.3%) and the Rey immediate and delayed recall (8.3%). Reasons for missing data in the penand-paper tests were (1) refusal to attempt test (n = 3 participants), (2) incomplete due to task complexity (n = 3 participants), (3) unable to understand instructions (n = 3 participants), and (4) incomplete due to difficulty using a pen (n = 2 participants). Four of the 22 community dwelling participants with aphasia (15%) had missing data for the Kettle Test due to upper and lower limb hemiparesis. Participants with missing data had more severe

TABLE 1	Characteristics of the aphasia and control groups.
---------	--

	Aphasia	Controls
Age in years, mean \pm SD	70.1 ± 9.0	67.3 ± 12.3
Sex, n (%)		
Female	12 (33)	17 (53)
Male	24 (67)	15 (47)
Handedness, n (%)		
Right-handed	34 (94)	30 (85.7)
Left-handed	2 (5.5)	2 (6.3)
Ambidextrous	1 (2.7)	0
Education in years, mean \pm SD	11.0 ± 2.6	15.1 ± 3.4
Premorbid neurological disease/injury (n)	3	-
Time poststroke, mean \pm SD by clinical setting		_
Acute setting $(n = 12)$	9.2 ± 13.2 days	_
Inpatient rehabilitation $(n = 2)$	23.5 ± 11.5 days	_
Community dwelling ($n = 22$)	6.35 ± 5.2 years	-

auditory comprehension deficits (median = 27.5, interquartile range = 25.0-49.0) and more severe naming deficits (median = 1, interquartile range = 0-7.5), compared to participants without missing data (auditory comprehension median = 53, interquartile range = 45.8-58.0; naming median = 6.5-13.5, interquartile range = 7.0). The clinical setting did not influence missing data, where there was an equal distribution of participants in the acute versus community setting.

Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics for the language and cognitive tests. As expected, there was minimal variance in the auditory comprehension and the Boston Naming Test scores of the control group, and therefore no regressions associating language and cognitive performance were run in this group. The data for the regressions were sourced only from the participants with aphasia. We conducted a pairwise regression between the independent variables (auditory comprehension and naming), and confirmed that they were too closely related (pairwise correlation = 0.86) to be included in the same regression model.

Figure 2 shows that all cognitive tests were significantly associated with auditory comprehension (all p < 0.01) with a variance ranging from 40 to 67%, except for the Kettle Test [F(3,14) = 0.75, p = 0.54] with a variance of 14%, and the Star Cancellation [F(3) = 4.9, p = 0.18] with a variance of 24%. A multiple logistic regression was used for Star Cancellation due to a ceiling effect (refer to **Table 2**), and a pseudo R^2 was reported. Animal fluency had the highest variance explained by auditory comprehension (67%), closely followed by HVLT RDI (65%) and immediate recall (63%).



TABLE 2 | Descriptive statistics of the language and cognitive tests.

Test		Aphasia group		Controls			
	Mean (SD)	Median	Range	Mean (SD)	Median	Range	
Auditory comprehension	46.1 (15.5)	52.0	5–63	61.4 (3.2)	62.0	55–66	
Boston Naming Test	8.2 (5.3)	9.5	0–15	13.8 (1.2)	14.0	11–15	
Kettle Test	4.6 (4.0)	4.0	0–15	1.5 (1.6)	1.0	0–5	
Star Cancellation	51.6 (6.3)	54.0	24–54	53.9 (0.4)	54.0	52–54	
Brixton	28.9 (12.4)	28.0	4–52	22.6 (8.8)	20.0	7–40	
Trails B	181.9 (85.4)	178.0	44.2-300	87.4 (33.7)	83.8	33–160	
Trails A	91.9 (60.6)	75.0	20-300	36.6 (9.8)	35.6	17.5-63.7	
Digits backwards	3.3 (2.9)	4.0	0-11	7.4 (2.6)	7.0	2-14	
Digits forwards	5.8 (4.1)	6.0	0-14	10.2 (2.2)	10.0	6–14	
HVLT (RDI)	6.0 (3.9)	7.0	0-12	9.7 (1.8)	10.0	6–12	
HVLT (delayed)	3.6 (2.9)	3.5	0–9	7.3 (2.8)	7.0	3–12	
HVLT (total)	11.6 (7.8)	13.0	0–23	23.3 (4.9)	23.5	13–32	
Rey Complex Figure (delay)	10.0 (9.2)	8.5	0–30	18.2 (6.6)	17.8	7–32	
Rey Complex Figure (immediate)	11.2 (9.0)	9.0	0–29	19.5 (6.6)	19.3	7.5–32	
Rey Complex Figure (copy)	23.9 (11.7)	26.0	0–36	34.5 (2)	35.0	28.5–38	
Animal fluency	10.2 (7.5)	10.5	0–25	24.7 (7)	24.0	16–44	

HVLT, Hopkins Verbal Learning Test; RDI, recognition discrimination index.



Figure 3 displays the results of the multiple linear regressions used to determine the relationship between the naming and the cognitive tests, with age and education included in the models. A multiple logistic regression was again used for the Star Cancellation Test. All cognitive tests were significantly associated with naming (all p < 0.01) with a variance ranging from 33 to 78%, except for the Kettle Test [F(1,16) = 3.44, p = 0.08] with a variance of 18%, and the Star Cancellation [F(3) = 3.8, p = 0.28] with a variance of 18%. Animal fluency and the HVLT RDI had the highest variance explained by naming (both 78%).



DISCUSSION

Both auditory comprehension and naming performance in aphasia were significantly associated with all pen-and-paper cognitive tests, with the lone exception of Star Cancellation. The total variance explained by auditory comprehension performance differed between the cognitive tests. The cognitive tests requiring a verbal response showed more variance explained by naming compared to the non-verbal cognitive tests. We also confirmed that auditory comprehension and naming were not significantly associated with an everyday real-life measure of cognition (Kettle Test). Feasibility was an issue, with substantial missing data for the pen-and-paper cognitive tests, and also missing data for the Kettle Test due to upper and lower limb hemiparesis, in aphasia. While non-linguistic cognitive impairments co-occur with aphasia (2-4), non-verbal cognitive tests may not necessarily overcome the potential confounding influence of aphasia-related deficits. The Kettle Test shows that individuals with aphasia can undertake a real-life cognitive task without the confounding influence of language impairments.

Animal fluency and the HVLT RDI had the highest variance explained by both auditory comprehension and naming. Our

animal fluency results are supported by Whiteside et al. (18) where factor analysis was used to verify that animal fluency loaded exclusively to language, rather than executive functioning. Although executive skills may be impaired in aphasia (38) using the animal fluency task to determine executive skills in people with aphasia may mislead diagnoses.

The RDI component of the HVLT requires a yes/no response to identify previously learned words. Eliciting a yes/no response from a person with aphasia is a suggested technique to overcome verbal barriers and facilitate communication (39), yet the variance was largely explained by auditory comprehension (65%) and naming (78%). These results may not be surprising given the HVLT requires participants to remember linguistic targets, thus impaired language will influence recognition performance. Also, to identify a correct response, participants need to discriminate between semantically related distractors. The literature supports observed semantic deficits in both auditory comprehension and naming in aphasia (40). Thus, using semantically related distractors in a verbal recognition task will likely be confounded in aphasia, even when the response is restricted to a yes/no response.

The total variance explained by auditory comprehension for the pen-and-paper cognitive tests without language stimuli or a verbal response (i.e., Star Cancellation, Rey Complex Figure, and the Brixton) was variable (24–56%). This means a large amount of variance remains unexplained, which may be attributed to concomitant non-linguistic cognitive deficits. Auditory comprehension was not significantly associated with the Star Cancellation Test. A weak association between neglect and language comprehension stroke is verified in the literature (41), but the simplicity of the Star Cancellation's instructions, and the simplicity of the response (crossing out stars with a pen), will assist comprehension in aphasia. The Star Cancellation Test was able to be completed by all participants with aphasia, and it is a reliable assessment to use poststroke (30) where visual spatial screening is recommended.

There was a significant association between all subtests of the Rey and auditory comprehension. Pyun et al. (42) explored visuospatial skills in 23 participants with aphasia and found that the Rey copy scores were significantly correlated with the severity of the overall language performance (r = 0.654, p < 0.05). Visual perceptual deficits may be underestimated in aphasia. While the Rey copy is supported by simple verbal instructions, the complex copy task has been shown to involve planning and organization skills for successful completion (43). Thus, the relationship with language performance and the Rey copy task could be partly explained by concomitant executive deficits in aphasia. The association between non-linguistic memory performances in the Rey immediate task can be compared with Lang and Quitz (44), where 99 participants poststroke (49 with aphasia and 50 without aphasia) were assessed using linguistic and nonlinguistic memory tests. Participants with aphasia performed worse than participants without aphasia in the memory tests, even when participants had similar cerebral lesions, which the authors attributed to a common working memory impairment in aphasia.

The total variance explained by auditory comprehension for the Brixton was 53%. The aphasia group, and to a lesser degree the controls, experienced difficulty understanding the Brixton's lengthy verbal instructions. This was evidenced by the need to repeat instructions for clarity. However, as part of the Brixton assessment, direct feedback is provided for each response (e.g., participants are aware of a correct or incorrect response based on where the blue dot appears on the following sheet). This immediate visual feedback may have assisted with participants learning what is needed. Thus, executive tests that necessitate lengthy verbal instructions can incorporate non-linguistic prompts to facilitate understanding.

Fucetola et al. (21) explored the association between auditory comprehension and non-verbal subtests of the WAIS-III and WMS-III [e.g., block design (constructional), matrix reasoning (reasoning by visual analogy), picture arrangement (sequencing), and spatial span (visual working memory)]. Auditory comprehension accounted for 41% of the total variance in the non-verbal cognitive tests. Naming was also significantly associated with the non-verbal cognitive tests in the present study, which contrasts with the findings of Fucetola et al. (21). It is difficult to distinguish between a confounding language influence and a co-occurring non-linguistic cognitive impairment in cognitive tests that are not tailored for individuals with aphasia.

Auditory comprehension was not significantly associated with the Kettle Test. This everyday real-life cognitive test contains verbal instructions, but understanding is maximized by using a meaningful task with familiar everyday objects. The kitchen setting may further support understanding by incorporating a multisensory environment. Using multiple sensory modalities facilitates the ability to identify, discriminate, and recognize stimuli, and learning can be optimized (45, 46). Our results demonstrate that using a familiar, real-life functional measure of cognitive performance may minimize the language skills needed to complete the task. The Kettle Test may be appropriate for individual with aphasia, but participants needed adequate motor skills to complete the task. Upper and lower limb hemiparesis was the sole reason for missing data associated with the Kettle Test. While the Kettle Test is regarded as an executive task (37), it may underestimate the potential association between language and cognitive skills needed for more complex community living activities. Further testing using functional cognitive performance measures in aphasia is needed.

Testing cognition in aphasia was not feasible in a number of participants, particularly those with more severe language impairments. There were no missing data for the language tests in both the aphasia and control group. Primary reasons for missing data in the pen-and-paper cognitive tests were participant refusal and an inability to understand the tasks. Chapman (47) explored the association between semantic comprehension deficits and executive skills in aphasia and semantic dementia and reported that participants found many executive tests too difficult to understand. If an individual is unable to undertake task instructions, performance may reflect comprehension deficits rather than the target non-linguistic cognitive domain intended for testing. This may result in inaccurate information being used to guide cognitive therapy, inaccurate education given to stroke survivors and their families, and the potential for misinformed discharge planning. Missing data associated with the Kettle Test were due to upper and lower limb hemiparesis. Participants with aphasia were particularly resistant to participate in the Trail Making Test (part B). This executive task has linguistic stimuli and requires a more complex response (i.e., participants use a pen to sequentially track the alternate numbers and letters). In contrast to another executive task, the Brixton, a simple response is required (i.e., pointing to a colored circle), and participants were more likely to attempt and complete it. It appears that feasibility of testing participants with aphasia not only relates to complexity of instructions but it may also be influenced by the complexity of the response needed for completion.

To determine feasibility of cognitive testing, we minimized the exclusion criteria to be inclusive of participants that represent clinical practice. A limitation is that the high frequency of missing data for the cognitive tests may have biased the regression findings to exclude the association of participants with profound comprehension deficits and cognitive performance.

Assessing non-linguistic cognitive skills in aphasia is challenging, which results in people with aphasia being excluded from studies that have validated cognitive assessments in stroke (10). Using non-verbal cognitive tests may not ensure accurate results due to potentially confounding auditory comprehension

impairments observed in aphasia. Difficulty understanding the tasks may also influence an individual's willingness to participate in testing, creating feasibility barriers for both clinical and research practice. Clinical guidelines for poststroke aphasia (48, 49) require further evidence of the association between linguistic and non-linguistic cognitive skills in aphasia, to warrant the inclusion of non-linguistic cognitive assessment in clinical recommendations. The Star Cancellation Test and the Kettle Test were the only cognitive assessments not significantly associated with auditory comprehension and naming performance in aphasia. To maximize the accuracy and feasibility of cognitive testing in aphasia, cognitive tests need to be tailored to enhance understanding of the tasks. Multidisciplinary expertise is needed to look beyond typical pen-and-paper methods and consider multisensory input for cognitive testing in aphasia.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical clearance was obtained through relevant Human Research Ethics Committees in Brisbane, Australia, including

REFERENCES

- Engelter ST, Gostynski M, Papa S, Frei M, Born C, Ajdacic-Gross V, et al. Epidemiology of aphasia attributable to first ischemic stroke: incidence, severity, fluency, etiology, and thrombolysis. *Stroke* (2006) 37(6):1379. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000221815.64093.8c
- Lambon Ralph MA, Snell C, Fillingham JK, Conroy P, Sage K. Predicting the outcome of anomia therapy for people with aphasia post CVA: both language and cognitive status are key predictors. *Neuropsychol Rehabil* (2010) 20(2):289–305. doi:10.1080/09602010903237875
- Harnish SM, Lundine JP. Nonverbal working memory as a predictor of anomia treatment success. Am J Speech Lang Pathol (2015) 24(4):S880. doi:10.1044/2015_AJSLP-14-0153
- Murray LL. Attention and other cognitive deficits in aphasia: presence and relation to language and communication measures. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol* (2012) 21(2):S51–64. doi:10.1044/1058-0360(2012/11-0067)
- van de Sandt-Koenderman WM, van Harskamp F, Duivenvoorden HJ, Remerie SC, van der Voort-Klees YA, Wielaert SM, et al. MAAS (multi-axial aphasia system): realistic goal setting in aphasia rehabilitation. *Int J Rehabil Res* (2008) 31(4):314–20. doi:10.1097/MRR.0b013e3282fc0f23
- El Hachioui H, Visch-Brink EG, Lingsma HF, van de Sandt-Koenderman MW, Dippel DW, Koudstaal PJ, et al. Nonlinguistic cognitive impairment in poststroke aphasia: a prospective study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2014) 28(3):273–81. doi:10.1177/1545968313508467
- 7. National Stroke Foundation. National Stroke Foundation Clinical Guidelines Stroke Management. Canberra, ACT: National Stroke Foundation (2010).
- Katharina D, Ritchie R, Fenu E, Macdermott K, Playford ED. Guidelines: Rehabilitation after stroke: summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ* (2013) 346(7912):34–6.
- Winstein CJ, Stein J, Arena R, Bates B, Cherney LR, Cramer SC, et al. Guidelines for adult stroke rehabilitation and recovery: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2016) 47(6):e98–169. doi:10.1161/STR.00000000000098
- Wall KJ, Isaacs ML, Copland DA, Cumming TB. Assessing cognition after stroke. Int J Stroke (2015) 10(5):665–71. doi:10.1111/ijs.12506
- Lees R, Fearon P, Harrison JK, Broomfield NM, Quinn TJ. Cognitive and mood assessment in stroke research: focused review of contemporary studies. *Stroke* (2012) 43(6):1678. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.653303
- 12. Gorelick PB, Scuteri A, Black SE, Decarli C, Greenberg SM, Iadecola C, et al. Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia: a

the Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital. Written consent was sourced for all participants and a substitute decision maker was used for patients with cognitive deficits that precluded informed consent.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KW, TC, and DC contributed to the conception and design of the work. KW was responsible for data collection, data analysis, and drafting the manuscript. TC and DC critically revised the work and contributed to the interpretation of the data. All authors gave their final approval of the version to be published and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to express their appreciation for the statistical assistance provided by David Smith and Anita Pelecanos at QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute and Asad Khan at the University of Queensland.

statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/ American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2011) 42(9):2672–713. doi:10.1161/ STR.0b013e3182299496

- de Koning I. Neuropsychological assessment: sense and sensibility. Stroke (2009) 40(9):2949–50. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.556050
- Sachdev PS, Brodaty H, Valenzuela MJ, Lorentz L, Looi JCL, Wen W, et al. The neuropsychological profile of vascular cognitive impairment in stroke and TIA patients. *Neurology* (2004) 62(6):912. doi:10.1212/01. WNL.0000115108.65264.4B
- Pendlebury ST, Chen P-J, Bull L, Silver L, Mehta Z, Rothwell PM. Methodological factors in determining rates of dementia in transient ischemic attack and stroke: impact of baseline selection bias. *Stroke* (2015) 46(3):641–6. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.008043
- 16. Swinburn K, Porter G, Howard D. *The Comprehensive Aphasia Test*. Hove, UK: Psychology Press (2005).
- Hachinski V, Iadecola C, Petersen RC, Breteler MM, Nyenhuis DL, Black SE, et al. National institute of neurological disorders and stroke-Canadian stroke network vascular cognitive impairment harmonization standards. *Stroke* (2006) 37(9):2220–41. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000237236.88823.47
- Whiteside DM, Kealey T, Semla M, Luu H, Rice L, Basso MR, et al. Verbal fluency: language or executive function measure? *Appl Neuropsychol* (2016) 23(1):29. doi:10.1080/23279095.2015.1004574
- Keil K, Kaszniak AW. Examining executive function in individuals with brain injury: a review. *Aphasiology* (2002) 16(3):305–35. doi:10.1080/ 02687030143000654
- DeDe G. Reading and listening in people with aphasia: effects of syntactic complexity. Am J Speech Lang Pathol (2013) 22(4):579–90. doi:10.1044/ 1058-0360(2013/12-0111)
- Fucetola R, Connor LT, Strube MJ, Corbetta M. Unravelling nonverbal cognitive performance in acquired aphasia. *Aphasiology* (2009) 23(12):1418–26. doi:10.1080/02687030802514938
- Flamand-Roze C, Falissard B, Roze E, Maintigneux L, Beziz J, Chacon A, et al. Validation of a new language screening tool for patients with acute stroke: the Language Screening Test (LAST). *Stroke* (2011) 42(5):1224–9. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.609503
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med (2001) 16(9):606–13. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Thomas AJ, O'Brien JT. Depression and cognition in older adults. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2008) 21(1):8–13. doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e3282f2139b

- Wang S, Blazer DG. Depression and cognition in the elderly. Annu Rev Clin Psychol (2015) 11:331. doi:10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032814-112828
- Kent PS, Luszcz MA. A review of the Boston Naming Test and multipleoccasion normative data for older adults on 15-item versions. *Clin Neuropsychol* (2002) 16(4):555–74. doi:10.1076/clin.16.4.555.13916
- Vogel AP, Maruff P, Morgan AT. Evaluation of communication assessment practices during the acute stages post stroke. *J Eval Clin Pract* (2010) 16(6):1183–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2009.01291.x
- Franzen M, Haut M, Rankin E, Keefover R. Empirical comparison of alternate forms of the Boston Naming Test. *Clin Neuropsychol* (1995) 9(3):225–9. doi:10.1080/13854049508400484
- Cumming TB, Packer M, Kramer SF, English C. The prevalence of fatigue after stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Stroke* (2016) 11(9):968. doi:10.1177/1747493016669861
- Bailey MJ, Riddoch MJ, Crome P. Test-retest stability of three tests for unilateral visual neglect in patients with stroke: Star Cancellation, Line Bisection, and the Baking Tray Task. *Neuropsychol Rehabil* (2004) 14(4):403–19. doi:10.1080/09602010343000282
- 31. Burgess PW, Shallice T. *The Hayling and Brixton Tests*. Thurston, Suffolk: Thames Valley Test Company (1997).
- Reitan R, Wolfson D. The Halstead-Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery: Theory and Clinical Interpretation. 2nd ed. Tucson, AZ: Neuropsychology Press (1993).
- 33. Wechsler D. WAIS-III Administration and Scoring Manual. New York: The Psychological Corporation (1997).
- Brandt J, Benedict R. Verbal Learning Test-Revised Professional Manual. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc (2001).
- Osterrieth P. Le Test de copie d'une figure complexe. Arch Psychol (1944) 30:206–356.
- Rosen WG. Verbal fluency in aging and dementia. J Clin Neuropsychol (1980) 2(2):135–46. doi:10.1080/01688638008403788
- Hartman-Maeir A, Harel H, Katz N. Kettle test brief measure of cognitive functional performance: reliability and validity in stroke rehabilitation. *Am J Occup Ther* (2009) 63(5):592–9. doi:10.5014/ajot.63.5.592
- Fridriksson J, Nettles C, Davis M, Morrow L, Montgomery A. Functional communication and executive function in aphasia. *Clin Linguist Phon* (2006) 20(6):401–10. doi:10.1080/02699200500075781
- Stein J, Brady Wagner LC. Is informed consent a "yes or no" response? Enhancing the shared decision-making process for persons with aphasia. *Top Stroke Rehabil* (2006) 13(4):42–6. doi:10.1310/tsr1304-42

- Butterworth B, Howard D, Mcloughlin P. The semantic deficit in aphasia: the relationship between semantic errors in auditory comprehension and picture naming. *Neuropsychologia* (1984) 22(4):409–26. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(84)90036-8
- Timpert DC, Weiss PH, Vossel S, Dovern A, Fink GR. Apraxia and spatial inattention dissociate in left hemisphere stroke. *Cortex* (2015) 71:349–58. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2015.07.023
- Pyun SB, Yi HY, Hwang YM, Ha J, Yoo SD. Is visuospatial cognitive function preserved in aphasia? J Neurol Sci (2009) 283(1):304–304. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2009.02.245
- Schwarz L, Penna S, Novack T. Factors contributing to performance on the Rey Complex Figure Test in individuals with traumatic brain injury. *Clin Neuropsychol* (2009) 23(2):255–67. doi:10.1080/13854040802220034
- 44. Lang C, Quitz A. Verbal and nonverbal memory impairment in aphasia. *J Neurol* (2012) 259(8):1655–61. doi:10.1007/s00415-011-6394-1
- Johansson BB. Multisensory stimulation in stroke rehabilitation. Front Hum Neurosci (2012) 6:60. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2012.00060
- 46. Tinga AM, Visser-Meily JM, van der Smagt MJ, Van der Stigchel S, van Ee R, Nijboer TC. Multisensory stimulation to improve low- and higher-level sensory deficits after stroke: a systematic review. *Neuropsychol Rev* (2016) 26(1):73–91. doi:10.1007/s11065-015-9301-1
- Chapman C. The role of executive function in the semantic comprehension deficits of stroke aphasia and semantic dementia. *Front Psychol* (2015) 6. doi:10.3389/conf.fpsyg.2015.65.00004
- RCSLT. RCSLT Clinical Guidelines: Aphasia. Bicester: Speechmark Publishing Ltd (2005).
- Simmons-Mackie N, Worrall L, Murray LL, Enderby P, Rose ML, Paek EJ, et al. The top ten: best practice recommendations for aphasia. *Aphasiology* (2016) 31(2):1–21. doi:10.1080/02687038.2016.1180662

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Wall, Cumming and Copland. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Apolipoprotein E ε4: A Possible Risk Factor of Intracranial Pressure and White Matter Perfusion in Good-Grade Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients at Early Stage

Jian-hua Peng¹, Xing-hu Qin^{1,2}, Jin-wei Pang¹, Yue Wu³, Jin-hu Dong¹, Chang-ren Huang¹, Wei-feng Wan¹, Xiao-bo Yang¹, Xiao-chuan Sun³, Li-gang Chen¹ and Yong Jiang^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, The Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Medical University, Luzhou, China, ² Department of Neurosurgery, People's Hospital of Deyang City, Deyang, China, ³ Department of Neurosurgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Silver, University of Massachusetts Medical School, USA

Reviewed by:

Marc Malkoff, University of Tennessee Health Sciences Center, USA Henry Ma, Monash University, Australia

> *Correspondence: Yong Jiang jiangyong@swmu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 10 December 2016 Accepted: 31 March 2017 Published: 19 April 2017

Citation:

Peng J-h, Qin X-h, Pang J-w, Wu Y, Dong J-h, Huang C-r, Wan W-f, Yang X-b, Sun X-c, Chen L-g and Jiang Y (2017) Apolipoprotein E &4: A Possible Risk Factor of Intracranial Pressure and White Matter Perfusion in Good-Grade Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients at Early Stage. Front. Neurol. 8:150. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00150 Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) is a devastating and complicated disease with significant morbidity and mortality. Previous studies have shown that genetic susceptibility may play an important role in the outcome of a given individual with aSAH. This study evaluates the potential association in effects of the APOE allele on the early brain injury (EBI) in light of elevated intracranial pressure (ICP) and cerebral perfusion disorders in a consecutive series of non-comatose Chinese patients with aSAH. A total of 122 patients with aSAH (54 males and 68 females) were enrolled in this study. Demographic and clinical data were collected. We measured ICP before microsurgical clipping or endovascular coiling during the first 72 h after aneurysm rupture. Computed tomography perfusion (CTP) examination in patients was performed before treatment. The distributions of APOE genotypes and alleles matched Hardy–Weinberg law (p > 0.05). In this study, 68 patients (55.7%) had a normal ICP, whereas 54 (44.3%) had an elevated ICP. Fourteen of 21 patients with APOE £4 had an elevated ICP, which was significantly different from those without APOE $\varepsilon 4$ (p = 0.03). The patients with the $\varepsilon 4$ allele had a higher incidence of elevated ICP [p = 0.009, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.481–15.432, odds ratio = 4.780] than those without this allele. For CTP measurements, a lower mean cerebral blood flow (difference, -4.74; 95% CI, 0.53–8.94 s, p = 0.03), longer mean transit time (difference, 0.47; 95% CI, -0.87 to -0.78, p = 0.02), and time-to-peak (difference, 2.29; 95% CI, -3.64 to -0.93 s, p = 0.02) were observed in patients with ε4 allele than in those without in the internal capsule regions. In conclusion, the APOE ε4 allele predisposes patients to elevated ICP and perfusion disorders in white matter regions during the first 72 h after aSAH. The presence of an APOE ε 4 allele plays an important role in the EBI response to aSAH.

Keywords: apolipoprotein E, subarachnoid hemorrhage, early brain injury, intracranial pressure, computed tomography perfusion, white matter injury

INTRODUCTION

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) is a devastating and complicated disease with significant morbidity and mortality (1). Traditionally, cerebral vasospasm (CVS) and aneurismal rebleeding have been considered to be major complications that significantly worsen the prognosis of aSAH (2). In recent years, early brain injury (EBI) during the first 72 h after aSAH has been shown to play an important determinant of clinical outcome (3). Notably, global cerebral ischemia as a hallmark of EBI is thought to be related to raised intracranial pressure (ICP) and cerebral perfusion (4–6). Cerebral perfusion is related to mean arterial blood pressure and ICP, which reduces the cerebral perfusion and threatens the brain function.

Increasing evidence has shown that aSAHs with similar pathologies might have different clinical statuses and outcomes. However, the Hunt and Hess grade, sex, and age of the patient can explain only part of this variability. Alternatively, genetic susceptibility may play an important role in the outcome of a given individual with aSAH (7, 8). Recently, apolipoprotein E (APOE = gene; apoE = protein) has become one of the most widely studied genes in aSAH research (9). There are three common isoforms (apoE2, apoE3, and apoE4) encoded by three gene alleles (APOE ε 2, APOE ε 3, and APOE ε 4) (10). Although the presence of the APOE ε 4 allele predisposes poorer outcome in patients with aSAH, the conclusions of investigations are still conflicting (11, 12).

Increased ICP is common after SAH, even in patients with a good clinical H–H grade. Elevated ICP post-SAH is associated with a worse patient outcome (13). Patients with good-grade aSAH (Hunt and Hess grades I–III) can also die or present severe deficit due to increased ICP leading to cerebral ischemia (14). Elevated ICP post-SAH is associated with good-grade patient outcomes (13). Our previous study indicated that APOEe4 as an independent risk factor for cerebral perfusion dysfunction (6). However, the risk of APOE genotype on ICP and cerebral perfusion of good-grade aSAH patients has never been investigated in detail. The present study aimed to evaluate the potential association between APOE allele and the progression of EBI in light of increased ICP and cerebral perfusion in a consecutive series of good-grade Chinese patients with aSAH.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

A total of 122 consecutive patients with onset of aSAH shorter than 72 h were enrolled to the two departments of neurosurgery in this prospective pilot study from December 2014 to July 2016 (The Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Medical University: 67 patients and The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University: 55 patients). aSAH was confirmed using CT scans and lumbar puncture. The sample group of adult patients included 54 males and 68 females, aged 48–72 years old, with a diagnosis of SAH from a ruptured cerebral aneurysm, which was verified using digital subtraction angiography or CT angiography. The following inclusion criteria were applied: (i) the clinical grade before treatment was I–III, according to the Hunt and Hess grading system (e.g., good-grade non-comatose patients); (ii) all of the patients were treated within 72 h with early microsurgical clipping; and (iii) clinical data were recorded completely.

We excluded patients with the following characteristics: (i) cerebral lesions other than aneurysms because they can be independent predictors of ICP increases and can render the attribution of ICP less reliable; (ii) displayed symptomatic CVS with a PMV \geq 120 cm/s (15) or severe narrowing of the involved artery on cerebral angiogram within the first 72 h; and (iii) aneurysmal rebleeding, intra-ventricular hemorrhage, or hydrocephalus observed by CT scan within 72 h.

Recording of Clinical Information

The clinical data of the included patients were recorded; this information included the patient's age, sex, neurological condition before treatment (Hunt–Hess grade), and Fisher grade on admission as well as the site of the ruptured aneurysm, and the type of treatment (clipping or coiling).

APOE Genotype

APOE genotype was determined from genomic DNA extracted from venous blood that was collected from the patients upon admission. DNA was extracted from frozen blood using standard techniques, and APOE ε_2 , ε_3 , and ε_4 genotyping was performed using the polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism method, as previously described (16). Briefly, a 250-bp fragment containing the coding region was amplified. The following primers were used: P1: 5'-TAAGCTTG-GCACGGCTGTCCAAGGA-3' (upstream) and P2: 5'-ACAGA-ATTCGCCCCGGCCTGGTACAC-3' (downstream). The PCR products were digested using the *Hha*I restriction enzyme, and the fragments were separated by electrophoresis on 4% ethidium bromide-containing agarose gels for genotype determination.

ICP Monitoring

Lumbar puncture allowed us to gage the ICP of the SAH patients (17). Thus, lumbar pressure (LP) was used in this study as a surrogate measurement of ICP. After the source of SAH was identified, either aneurysm clipping or coiling was performed within 72 h. Before the operation, a silicon lumbar catheter was introduced through a 16-G lumbar needle into the subarachnoid space at the L4–L5 level. This catheter was connected to a sterile collecting system fixed above the point of catheter insertion. The LP was measured *via* a hydrostatic pressure transducer, which was immediately connected to the drainage system. The zero reference pressure was the atmospheric pressure at the level of the foramen of Monro. The ICP threshold was set at 20 mmHg because this pressure is the recommended threshold for routine initiation of ICP treatment in neurosurgery in adults.

Computed Tomography Perfusion (CTP) Screening

To characterize the region-specific response to cerebral perfusion, CTP examination in patients was performed before treatment. After injection 30 ml of non-ionic contrast agent (iopromide Ultravist, 370 mg iodine/ml; Schering, Berlin, Germany) and 15 ml of normal saline through the cubital vein (4 ml/s), head scanning was performed by a Lightspeed VCT 64-slice CT machine. The following parameters were used: 80 kVp, 200 mAs, 5 mm slice thickness. Original data were transferred to an Adw4.2 workstation for subsequent analysis. The measurements of arterial input (anterior cerebral artery) and venous output (superior sagittal sinus) functions were semiautomatic. We cooperated with the clinical radiologists because they will likely become expert in distinguishing CT images on a region-by-region basis. Hand-drawn, multi regions of interest (ROIs) were defined by prespecified anatomical boundaries on CT images. One side and the contralateral mirror area of caudate nucleus, internal capsule, thalamus, external capsule, and whole cortex were scanned as the ROI. The cerebral blood volume, cerebral blood flow (CBF), mean transit time (MTT), and time-to-peak (TTP) were obtained. To ensure the accuration of each ROI, we narrowed ROIs in regions with indistinguishable boundary, and all the ROIs of each patient were drawn by the same assessor.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS software (version 19.0) was used for statistical analyses. After counting the number of alleles, the allele frequencies in aSAH patients were calculated from the sample proportions. The constituent ratio of each correlation factor in the clinical data between the groups (with $\varepsilon 4$ allele and without $\varepsilon 4$ allele) was analyzed using the χ^2 test for nominal variables. Univariate logistic regression was performed to analyze the associations of age (≤ 65 years old vs. >65 years old), Hunt-Hess grade (1 and 2 vs. 3), Fisher grade (1 and 2 vs. 3 and 4), aneurysm site (anterior communicating artery vs. other sites), type of treatment (clipping vs. coiling), and APOE genotype (with $\varepsilon 4$ vs. without $\varepsilon 4$) with elevated ICP. After adjusting the clinical data, further multivariate logistic regression analyses (stepwise backward conditional and Wald functions, as appropriate) were used to analyze the associations of the APOE genotype (with $\varepsilon 4$ vs. without $\varepsilon 4$) with elevated ICP. Variables entered into the multivariate regression at p < 0.05, while some variables were removed at p > 0.1. Adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated from the logistic regression model coefficients. In addition, we compared differences in mean values of cerebral perfusion between patients with and without $\varepsilon 4$ allele by calculating the 95% CIs of the mean difference. The statistical significance of the correlation between the investigated quantitative variables was determined by the *p* value, and a *p* value <0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

The department admitted 210 patients with aSAH during the study period. Seventy-one patients were not included in the study because their clinical conditions were classified as IV or V on the Hunt and Hess grading scale. Seventeen good-grade patients met the exclusion criteria and were disqualified: two patients had cerebral lesions other than aneurysms, six patients had aneurysmal rebleeding or hydrocephalus within 72 h, three patients had intracerebral hematomas, and six patients displayed

symptomatic CVS, with a PMV \geq 120 cm/s, or suffered from severe narrowing of the involved artery as observed on cerebral angiography within 72 h. The remaining 122 aSAH patients were enrolled in the current study.

Of the 122 patients, allele frequencies were 9.4% for the ε 4 allele and 90.6% for the non- ε 4 allele. The distributions of the APOE allele frequencies and genotypes are presented in **Table 1**. The samples demonstrated Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (p > 0.05).

The clinical data of the included patients are summarized in **Table 2**; these data include age, sex, Hunt and Hess grade and Fisher grade of CT scans, aneurysm site, and the type of treatment. The distribution of the baseline characteristics between the groups of patients with and without an APOE ε 4 allele was not different (p > 0.05).

Effect of APOE £4 Allele on ICP

All of the ICP analyses were based on values obtained from lumbar drainage. The patients were separated into two groups based on their LP values before treatment. ICP values of 20 mmHg were chosen because an ICP greater than 20 mmHg is a well-known threshold for treating patients with neurosurgery. Therefore, the normal ICP group included patients who had an ICP less than 20 mmHg, and the elevated ICP group consisted of patients with an ICP greater than 20 mmHg. In this study, 68 patients (55.7%) had a normal ICP, whereas 54 (44.3%) had an elevated ICP. The ICP was increased in good-grade patients with a Hunt and Hess grade of I–III. Fourteen of 21 patients with APOE ϵ 4

TABLE 1 | Distribution of APOE genotype.

		Gen	otype			Allele frequency			
ε2/2	ε2/3	ε2/4	ε3/3	ε3/4	ε4/4	ε2	εЗ	ε4	
0	15	4	86	15	2	7.8%	82.8%	9.4%	

TABLE 2 | Baseline characteristics of patients with and without ϵ 4 allele.

	Total series (n = 122)	Patients with $\varepsilon 4$ allele ($n = 21$)	Patients without ε4 allele (n = 101)
Age			
≤65 years	80	10	70
>65 years	42	11	31
Sex			
Male	54	9	45
Female	68	12	56
H–H grade			
1 and 2	64	11	53
3	58	10	48
Fisher grade			
1 and 2	53	13	40
3	69	8	61
Site			
AcoA	50	9	41
Other	72	12	60
Treatment			
Clipping	98	16	81
Coiling	24	5	19

had an elevated ICP, which was significantly different from those without APOE $\varepsilon 4$ (p = 0.03). According to the univariate analysis, patients with the $\varepsilon 4$ allele had a higher incidence of elevated ICP than those without this allele (p = 0.03, 95% CI = 1.132–8.217, OR = 3.1). When the data were adjusted for significant risk factors in the multivariate analysis (age, sex, Hunt and Hess grade, Fisher grade, etc.), the association of the $\varepsilon 4$ allele with the risk of elevated ICP was even more significant (p = 0.009, 95% CI = 1.481–15.432, OR = 4.780). Furthermore, elevated ICP was also associated with a worse Hunt–Hess grade (p = 0.004, 95% CI = 1.536–9.116, OR = 3.742) (**Table 3**). The patient's age, sex, Fisher grade, and aneurysm site were not statistically associated with ICP.

Assessment of the APOE ε4 Allele and Cerebral Perfusion

As shown in **Table 4**, in the internal capsule area, CBF was 33.03 mL/100 g/min in patients with ε 4 allele and 37.77 mL/ 100 g/min in those without ε 4 allele (difference, -4.74; 95% CI, 0.53-8.94 s, p = 0.03). In patients with APOE ε 4, MTT was 6.29 s, and in those without ε 4 allele, MTT was 5.33 s in internal capsule (difference, 0.47; 95% CI, -0.87 to -0.78 s, p = 0.02). As was TTP, patients with ε 4 allele had a significantly longer TTP than patients without ε 4 allele both in internal capsule (difference, 2.29; 95% CI, -3.64 to -0.93 s, p = 0.02) and external capsule (difference, 1.09; 95% CI, -2.16 to -0.01 s, p = 0.04). These results suggested that patients with ε 4 allele had a significant abnormality in brain cerebral perfusion in internal capsule and other whiter matter regions, such as external capsule (**Figure 1**).

DISCUSSION

From the study of 122 good-grade aSAH patients, our major finding is that those aSAH patients carrying the APOE ε 4 allele are predisposed to elevate ICP within 72 h of the ictus, after controlling for age, the severity of the hemorrhage, the aneurysm location, and other factors. Moreover, patients with ε 4 allele had a significant abnormality in brain cerebral perfusion in white matter (especially in the internal capsule area). The current study provides some initial clinical evidence that the APOE ε 4 allele is associated with a detrimental effect on a patient's early response to aSAH.

Recently, particular attention has been paid to the APOE gene. apoE is associated with complex neuroprotective functions

in the biochemical network of SAH (10, 18, 19). However, the neuroprotective effectiveness of the apoE4 isoform is reduced when compared with the other isoforms, and this decreased effectiveness has designated the ε 4 allele as a sort of "frailty protein" and a potential risk factor. Several possible mechanisms might be involved in different ways (10, 18): (i) apoE4 might be a defective free radical scavenger; (ii) patients with the apoE4 protein could have impaired modulation of the brain inflammatory response to SAH, due to unregulated cytokine cascades; or (iii) reduced membrane repair and synaptic plasticity might occur.

Although controversial, increasing evidence indicates that the APOE $\varepsilon 4$ genotype predisposes the patient to a poor outcome following aSAH (11, 12). In the Chinese population, the $\varepsilon 4$ allele is also thought to be a possible risk factor for poor outcomes following aSAH (20). In our previous work, a series of follow-up clinical studies also demonstrated that patients with the APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele were prone to CVS and brain dysfunction, instead of rebleeding, after spontaneous SAH, which can also contribute to poor outcomes (21, 22).

In aSAH patients, global hypoperfusion caused by increased ICP and focal ischemia induced by vasospasm are common and devastating outcomes. In recent decades, CVS has become the focus of a large number of clinical and experimental research efforts. Although vasospasm is regarded as the primary cause of mortality and neurological morbidity in patients initially surviving aSAH, therapies designed to prevent and treat vasospasm remain limited (4, 23). Increasing evidence has led researchers to cast doubt on the importance of vasospasm in the setting of SAH. In recent years, EBI has been suggested to play a key role in aSAH patients' clinical deterioration and subsequent poor outcomes.

A previous study conducted on non-comatose patients with aSAH found that the presence of the ɛ4 allele increased the risk of clinical vasospasm, enhanced cognitive morbidity, and delayed ischemic neurologic deficit recovery (24). As increased ICP is common after aSAH, even in patients with good clinical grades, outcomes are negatively correlated with increased ICP. ICP appears to be a stronger predictor than the influence of vasospasm (25). To our knowledge, this relationship has not been reported in the clinical studies exploring the APOE gene's influence on ICP in the early stages of aSAH. In the present study, we measured ICP using lumbar drainage before surgery as a surrogate measurement, and we demonstrated that patients with the APOE ɛ4 polymorphism

Characteristic		Univariate			Multivariate	
	<i>p</i> Value	OR	95% CI	p Value	OR	95% CI
APOE _ε 4	0.027*	3.1	1.132-8.217	0.009*	4.780	1.481–15.432
Sex	0.256	0.7	0.320-1.355	0.438	0.717	0.309-1.664
Age	0.821	0.9	0.432-1.947	0.416	0.669	0.254-1.762
H–H grade	0.022*	2.4	1.132-4.879	0.004*	3.742	1.536-9.116
Fisher grade	0.866	1.1	0.517-2.189	0.133	2.013	0.809-5.008
Site	0.247	1.5	0.740-3.218	0.022	3.013	1.176-7.717

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval.

*Significant difference (p < 0.05).

TABLE 3 | Intracranial pressure logistic regression

Peng e	et al.
--------	--------

were predisposed to the presence of elevated ICP during the early phases of aSAH. In one TBI study, APOE&4 could increase cellular and tissular vulnerability (26), Olivecrona and coworkers found that there was no statistically significant difference in the ICP or cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) of &4 and non-&4 patients with severe TBI who were treated with an ICP-targeted therapy (24). These results are apparently in contrast with those of our study. However, the two reports are not actually comparable because of their different neurological diseases, inclusion/exclusion criteria, and so on. Early brain injury is believed to arise from significant patho-

physiological mechanisms that occur in the brain during aSAH (2, 3). The acute rise in ICP, which has been demonstrated in both clinical studies and experimental animal models, results from the initial mass effect of the blood flowing into the subarachnoid space (27, 28), impeded CSF drainage (29), cerebrovascular dysfunction (30), and the development of cerebral edema (31). Elevated ICP may be correlated with the extent of EBI (32). As the pressure rises, a compensatory decrease in CPP occurs. The mechanism behind this relationship may be related to the Monroe-Kelly hypothesis. If the compensatory mechanism is not sufficient to support critical levels of brain perfusion, increased ICP and subsequently decreased CPP can result in significant reductions in CBF, leading to the deterioration of neurological function. apoE4 exerts a strong influence of cerebrovasculature dysfunction and disrupts CBF (33). In our previous study, APOEɛ4 carriers exhibit MTT prolongation in CTP scanning within 24 h (6). We further measured the region-specific response to cerebral perfusion in this study. We found a significant prolongation of MTT and TTP in the internal capsule and TTP in the external capsule of patients with ɛ4 allele. Although the reduction of values are of small differences, the ɛ4 aSAH patients presented a lower CBF in regions measured in this study, while the internal capsule region presented a significant difference. Furthermore, the MTT prolonged over 5.9 s in some regions, such as internal capsule. Our previous study indicated APOEE4 as an independent risk factor for prolonged MTT over 5.9 s, suggestive of increased risk of DCI and poor outcome in APOEɛ4 patients (6). Meanwhile, a significant reduction of CBF was seen in internal capsule of patients with ε4 allele. Previous study demonstrates that astrocytes are capable of eliciting both vasoconstriction and vasodilation, then control of CBF in brain (34). The apoE4-induced detrimental changes may be linked to astrocyte activation (33). Although several limitations of CTP should be considered, this technology may reflect the white matter injury indirectly according to regional perfusion. The abnormality in brain cerebral perfusion in white matter regions suggested that patients with ɛ4 allele might suffer more serious white matter injury after aSAH.

White matter injury has recently been reported in clinical and experimental SAH (35, 36). Victims of SAH suffer most from global emotional and cognitive dysfunction and associated diffuse cerebral atrophy, and diffuse axonal injury may also be an important feature of SAH (37, 38). van Asch and coworkers also observed an abnormalities perfusion of white matter in acute hydrocephalus aSAH patients (39). Studies support the hypothesis that white matter injury is due to CVSs and perfusion disorders after a brain injury (40–42). Although this has been

TABLE 4 | Cerebral perfusion in patients with and without ${\scriptscriptstyle \mathcal{B}}4$ allele.

APOE ₆ 4	Mean CBV	Mean CBV (mL/100 g)	Mean CBF (n	Mean CBF (mL/100 g/min)	Mean	Mean MTT (s)	Mean TTP (s)	TP (s)
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
Caudate nucleus Difference of means (95% Cl; <i>p</i> value)	4.28 ± 2.36 0.09 (−1.79 to	.28 ± 2.36 4.19 ± 2.58 0.09 (-1.79 to 1.61; <i>p</i> = 0.91)	52.01 ± 6.56 -2.44 (-2.59 to	$\begin{array}{l} .01 \pm 6.56 \\ -2.46 \ (-2.59 \ \text{to} \ 7.46; \ p = 0.33) \end{array}$	4.58 ± 2.93 0.41 (−2.08 to	.58 ± 2.93 4.17 ± 1.7 0.41 (−2.08 to 1.26; <i>p</i> = 0.62)	24.36 ± 1.52 $23.43 \pm .000$ 0.033 (-1.91 to -0.52; p = 0.00	23.43 ± 0.52; <i>p</i> = 0.0
Internal capsule Difference of means (95% CI; <i>p</i> value)	3.07 ± 0.86 0.08 (-0.69 to	$.07 \pm 0.86$ 3.15 \pm 1.29 0.08 (-0.69 to 0.85; $p = 0.83$)	33.03 ± 5.50 -4.74 (0.53 to	$.03 \pm 5.50 \qquad 37.77 \pm 6.49 \\ -4.74 (0.53 to 8.94; *p = 0.03)$	6.29 ± 0.71 0.47 (-0.87 to -	5.29 ± 0.71 5.82 ± 0.25 0.47 (-0.87 to -0.78; *p = 0.02)	28.43 ± 1.89 26.14 ± 2.29 (-3.64 to -0.93; * $p = 0.0$	26.14 ± 0.93; * <i>p</i> = 0.0
Thalamus Difference of means (95% CI; <i>p</i> value)	3.78 ± 1.14 0.16 (−0.93 to	$.78 \pm 1.14$ 3.62 ± 1.04 0.16 (-0.93 to 0.61; $p = 0.67$)	41.98 ± 6.93 -4.04 (-2.78 tc	$.98 \pm 6.93$ 43.95 ± 6.68 -4.04 (-2.78 to 6.72; $p = 0.40$)	5.36 ± 0.91 0.32 (-0.98 to	$.36 \pm 0.91$ 5.04 ± 1.01 0.32 (-0.98 to 0.35; p = 0.35)	21.87 ± 1.81 22.11 ± 3 -0.24 (-1.18 to 1.67; $p = 0.7$	22.11 ± 3 1.67; $p = 0.7$
External capsule Difference of means (95% Cl; <i>p</i> value)	3.34 ± 0.86 0.14 (−0.81 to	$.34 \pm 0.86$ 3.20 ± 1.05 0.14 (-0.81 to 0.53; $p = 0.67$)	36.21 ± 7.21 -3.75 (-1.44 to	$.21 \pm 7.21$ 39.96 ± 7.64 -3.75 (-1.44 to 8.94; $p = 0.15$)	6.24 ± 1.41 0.26 (−1.2 to (24 ± 1.41 5.99 ± 1.30 0.26 (-1.2 to 0.69; $p = 0.59$)	$25.69 \pm 1.46 \qquad 24.60 \pm 1.09 (-2.16 \text{ to } -0.01; *p = 0.0.01)$	24.60 ± 0.01 ; * $p = 0.0$
Cortex Difference of means (95% Cl; <i>p</i> value)	4.17 ± 1.13 0.17 (−0.93 to	17 ± 1.13 4.00 ± 1.04 0.17 (-0.93 to 0.57; $p = 0.63$)	50.71 ± 8.40 −1.60 (−3.90 to 7	7.71 ± 8.40 52.31 ± 7.32 -1.60 (-3.90 to 7.10; $p = 0.15$)	4.91 ± 1.21 0.08 (−0.99 to 0.82	.91 \pm 1.21 4.83 \pm 1.39 0.08 (-0.99 to 0.82; $p = 0.86$)	24.08 ± 2.61 22.40 ± 3.10 $1.68 (-3.53 to 0.16; p = 0.00$	22.40 ± 3 0.16; $p = 0.07$
CBV, cerebral blood volume; CBF, cerebral blood flow; MTT, mean transit time; TTP, time-to-peak; CI, confidence interval	ood flow; MTT, mean tr	ansit time; TTP, time-to-	peak; CI, confidence inte	rval.				

(1.128) (1.128) (1.02) (1.02) (1.02) (1.04) (1.04) (1.04) (1.04) (1.04) (1.04)

*Significant difference (p < 0.05)





identified as the only proven drug to improve patients' outcomes after SAH, nimodipine, a kind of calcium antagonist, needed to advance the understanding of its effects on microcirculatory changes and cerebral perfusion after SAH. Thus, development of feasible SAH therapeutic strategies still needs more effort. Our previous study has identified ApoE-mimetic peptide COG1410 in EBI by preventing white matter injury after experimental SAH (43). Because ApoE-mimetic peptide is a modified peptide sequence from human apoE, this could indicate that apoE4 lacks a protective effect found in apoE2 and apoE3 in the biochemical network of SAH. Hence, APOEɛ4 may induce cerebral perfusion impairment via elevated ICP in the early phase, contributing to white matter injury in EBI following aSAH. Furthermore, increased postoperative ICP is common after early clipping, especially in poor-grade aSAH patients, and this might precipitate CVS-induced ischemic events in aSAH patients including the deterioration of neurological function and poor outcomes (44, 45). Patients with symptomatic CVS were excluded in this study, the results indicated that one of the most important factors in predicting the outcomes is correlated with elevated ICP, including good H-H grade aSAH patients with ɛ4 allele.

Although no previous clinical studies have specifically focused their attention on ICP after SAH, these results are supported by the experimental observations that wild-type mice treated with ApoE-mimetic peptide after experimental SAH decreased mortality, functional deficits and vasospasm (25), neurons apoptosis (46), and BBB disruption (47) as compared with vehicle-treated mice. Notably, in that study, SAH-affected mice expressing the human ε 4 allele were prone to higher mortality rates and greater functional deficits compared to their human ε 3 counterparts during the first 72 h after experimental SAH. These deficits were associated with a greater degree of cerebral edema and vasospasm in mice expressing the apoE4 isoform. Modulation of the CNS inflammatory response might be one mechanism by which APOE genotype affects EBI after SAH.

Limitations

There were several potential limitations of the current study. First, as blood is mainly located in the basal cisterns in aSAH patients, CSF outflow from the ventricles into the subarachnoid space should not be substantially impaired. At the same time, the location of the blood clot can present a barrier to the downstream flow of CSF from the convex subarachnoid space of the cerebral hemispheres through the foramen magnum into the spinal compartment. Thus, a partial obstruction might be present and render the LP lower than the actual ICP. Second, although lumbar drainage has been shown to be safe in SAH patients, the formation of pressure gradients remains a potential threat that could result in herniation and rebleeding. Therefore, lumbar drainage was only performed in the present study before aneurysm clipping or coiling. An additional method, such as continuous ICP monitoring, might be needed to verify our findings. Third, abnormality in brain cerebral white matter perfusion of ɛ4 allele aSAH patients was observed in this study. However, the specific reason of white matter injury after SAH is not entirely clear. The detail pathophysiological processes and clinical diagnosis strategy of white matter injury after SAH need to be further investigated both in experimental and clinical studies.

Conclusion and Outlook

We evaluated the association between the presence of the APOE ε 4 allele and elevated ICP *via* invasive (LP) in this prospective study. Despite the limitations of the present study, these preliminary findings provide new evidence that the APOE ε 4 allele predisposes patients to elevated ICP after aSAH. Meanwhile, APOE ε 4 allele aSAH patients suffered more severe perfusion disorders in white matter regions. These clinical observations support the hypothesis that APOE plays an important role in the response of the CNS to EBI, possibly involving the adverse effects of apoE4 on white matter injury, neurobiology, and its potential links to certain risk factors, such as elevated ICP. To improve the precision medicine, further studies are needed to elucidate the mechanisms by which the APOE ε 4 allele can adversely affect a patient's response to EBI after aSAH.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the ethics committee of the coordinating institution and has therefore been performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments. All the patients gave their informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study. Informed consent was obtained from each patient directly.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conception and design: YJ and J-hP. Acquisition of data: J-wP, X-hQ, and X-bY. Analysis and interpretation of data: YW, J-hD, W-fW, and C-rH. Drafting the article: J-hP and YJ. Reviewed

REFERENCES

- Suarez JI, Tarr RW, Selman WR. Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. N Engl J Med (2006) 354:387–96. doi:10.1056/NEJMra052732
- Sehba FA, Hou J, Pluta RM, Zhang JH. The importance of early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Prog Neurobiol* (2012) 97:14–37. doi:10.1016/ j.pneurobio.2012.02.003
- Caner B, Hou J, Altay O, Fujii M, Zhang JH. Transition of research focus from vasospasm to early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurochem (2012) 123(Suppl 2):12–21. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07939.x
- Voldby B, Enevoldsen EM. Intracranial pressure changes following aneurysm rupture. Part 1: clinical and angiographic correlations. *J Neurosurg* (1982) 56:186–96. doi:10.3171/jns.1982.56.2.0186
- Marbacher S, Andereggen L, Neuschmelting V, Widmer HR, Von Gunten M, Takala J, et al. A new rabbit model for the study of early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosci Methods* (2012) 208:138–45. doi:10.1016/j. jneumeth.2012.05.010
- Cheng C, Jiang L, Yang Y, Wu H, Huang Z, Sun X. Effect of APOE gene polymorphism on early cerebral perfusion after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res* (2015) 6(6):446–50. doi:10.1007/s12975-015-0426-6
- Mccolgan P, Thant KZ, Sharma P. The genetics of sporadic ruptured and unruptured intracranial aneurysms: a genetic meta-analysis of 8 genes and 13 polymorphisms in approximately 20,000 individuals. *J Neurosurg* (2010) 112:714–21. doi:10.3171/2009.8.JNS092
- Lad SP, Hegen H, Gupta G, Deisenhammer F, Steinberg GK. Proteomic biomarker discovery in cerebrospinal fluid for cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2012) 21:30–41. doi:10.1016/ j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2010.04.004
- Arati S, Sibin MK, Bhat DI, Narasingarao KV, Chetan GK. Polymorphisms of apolipoprotein E and aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a metaanalysis. *Meta Gene* (2016) 9:151–8. doi:10.1016/j.mgene.2016.06.003
- Mahley RW. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology. *Science* (1988) 240:622–30. doi:10.1126/science.3283935
- Gallek MJ, Conley YP, Sherwood PR, Horowitz MB, Kassam A, Alexander SA. APOE genotype and functional outcome following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Biol Res Nurs* (2009) 10:205–12. doi:10.1177/1099800408323221
- Juvela S, Siironen J, Lappalainen J. Apolipoprotein E genotype and outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2009) 110:989–95. doi:10.3171/2008.11.JNS081266
- D'ambrosio AL, Kreiter KT, Bush CA, Sciacca RR, Mayer SA, Solomon RA, et al. Far lateral suboccipital approach for the treatment of proximal posteroinferior cerebellar artery aneurysms: surgical results and long-term outcome. *Neurosurgery* (2004) 55:39–50; discussion 50–4.

submitted version of manuscript: YJ, X-cS, and L-gC. Statistical analysis: YW, J-hD, and J-wP. Study supervision: YJ, X-cS, and L-gC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Ms. Xiao-cui Tian, Chongqing Key Laboratory of Biochemistry and Molecular Pharmacology at the Chongqing Medical University for statistical analysis and technical support.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81371319 and 81571159), the Program for New Century Excellent Talents in University (NCET-12-1057), and the Foundation for outstanding youth academic technology leaders of Sichuan province (2014JQ0022). Luzhou Government-Southwest Medical University Strategic Cooperation Project (2016LZXNYD-J12).

- Leira EC, Davis PH, Martin CO, Torner JC, Yoo B, Weeks JB, et al. Improving prediction of outcome in "good grade" subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2007) 61:470–3. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000290891.39330.05
- Aaslid R, Huber P, Nornes H. Evaluation of cerebrovascular spasm with transcranial Doppler ultrasound. *J Neurosurg* (1984) 60:37–41. doi:10.3171/jns. 1984.60.1.0037
- Jiang Y, Sun X, Xia Y, Tang W, Cao Y, Gu Y. Effect of APOE polymorphisms on early responses to traumatic brain injury. *Neurosci Lett* (2006) 408:155–8. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2006.08.082
- Speck V, Staykov D, Huttner HB, Sauer R, Schwab S, Bardutzky J. Lumbar catheter for monitoring of intracranial pressure in patients with posthemorrhagic communicating hydrocephalus. *Neurocrit Care* (2011) 14:208–15. doi:10.1007/s12028-010-9459-6
- Lanterna LA, Ruigrok Y, Alexander S, Tang J, Biroli F, Dunn LT, et al. Meta-analysis of APOE genotype and subarachnoid hemorrhage: clinical outcome and delayed ischemia. *Neurology* (2007) 69:766–75. doi:10.1212/01. wnl.0000267640.03300.6b
- Lin B, Dan W, Jiang L, Yin XH, Wu HT, Sun XC. Association of APOE polymorphism with the change of brain function in the early stage of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (2011) 110:39–42. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-0353-1_7
- Tang J, Zhao J, Zhao Y, Wang S, Chen B, Zeng W. Apolipoprotein E epsilon4 and the risk of unfavorable outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Surg Neurol* (2003) 60:391–6; discussion 396–397. doi:10.1016/S0090-3019(03)00323-9
- Wu HT, Zhang XD, Su H, Jiang Y, Zhou S, Sun XC. Association of apolipoprotein E polymorphisms with cerebral vasospasm after spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (2011) 110:141–4. doi:10.1007/ 978-3-7091-0353-1_24
- Yin C, Ruan J, Jiang L, Zhou S, Sun X. The relationship between rebleeding after spontaneous SAH and APOE polymorphisms in a Chinese population. *Int J Neurosci* (2012) 122:472–6. doi:10.3109/00207454.2012.678445
- Nornes H. The role of intracranial pressure in the arrest of hemorrhage in patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysm. *J Neurosurg* (1973) 39:226–34. doi:10.3171/jns.1973.39.2.0226
- Olivecrona M, Wildemyr Z, Koskinen LO. The apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele and outcome in severe traumatic brain injury treated by an intracranial pressure-targeted therapy. *J Neurosurg* (2010) 112:1113–9. doi:10.3171/2009.8. JNS09636
- Gao J, Wang H, Sheng H, Lynch JR, Warner DS, Durham L, et al. A novel apoE-derived therapeutic reduces vasospasm and improves outcome in a murine model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2006) 4:25–31. doi:10.1385/NCC:4:1:025

- Chen L, Sun X, Jiang Y, Kuai L. APOEɛ4 increases trauma induced early apoptosis via reducing delayed rectifier K(+) currents in neuronal/glial co-cultures model. *Exp Cell Res* (2015) 334:294–300. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.03.004
- 27. Grubb RL Jr, Raichle ME, Eichling JO, Gado MH. Effects of subarachnoid hemorrhage on cerebral blood volume, blood flow, and oxygen utilization in humans. *J Neurosurg* (1977) 46:446–53. doi:10.3171/jns.1977.46.4.0446
- Vassilouthis J, Richardson AE. Ventricular dilatation and communicating hydrocephalus following spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1979) 51:341–51. doi:10.3171/jns.1979.51.3.0341
- Rabinstein AA, Weigand S, Atkinson JL, Wijdicks EF. Patterns of cerebral infarction in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2005) 36:992–7. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000163090.59350.5a
- Karnchanapandh K. Effect of increased intracranial pressure on cerebral vasospasm in SAH. Acta Neurochir Suppl (2008) 102:307–10. doi:10.1007/978-3-211-85578-2_58
- Karnchanapandh K. Effect of increased ICP and decreased CPP on DND and outcome in ASAH. Acta Neurochir Suppl (2012) 114:339–42. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-0956-4_65
- Platz J, Guresir E, Wagner M, Seifert V, Konczalla J. Increased risk of delayed cerebral ischemia in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients with additional intracerebral hematoma. *J Neurosurg* (2017) 126(2):504–10. doi:10.3171/2015.12. JNS151563
- Tai LM, Thomas R, Marottoli FM, Koster KP, Kanekiyo T, Morris AW, et al. The role of APOE in cerebrovascular dysfunction. *Acta Neuropathol* (2016) 131:709–23. doi:10.1007/s00401-016-1547-z
- Howarth C. The contribution of astrocytes to the regulation of cerebral blood flow. Front Neurosci (2014) 8:103. doi:10.3389/fnins.2014.00103
- Yeo SS, Choi BY, Chang CH, Kim SH, Jung YJ, Jang SH. Evidence of corticospinal tract injury at midbrain in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2012) 43:2239–41. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.661116
- Egashira Y, Zhao H, Hua Y, Keep RF, Xi G. White matter injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage: role of blood-brain barrier disruption and matrix metalloproteinase-9. *Stroke* (2015) 46:2909–15. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA. 115.010351
- Jang SH, Choi BY, Kim SH, Chang CH, Jung YJ, Kwon HG. Injury of the mammillothalamic tract in patients with subarachnoid haemorrhage: a retrospective diffusion tensor imaging study. *BMJ Open* (2014) 4:e005613. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2014-005613
- Kummer TT, Magnoni S, Macdonald CL, Dikranian K, Milner E, Sorrell J, et al. Experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage results in multifocal axonal injury. *Brain* (2015) 138:2608–18. doi:10.1093/brain/awv180
- van Asch CJ, van der Schaaf IC, Rinkel GJ. Acute hydrocephalus and cerebral perfusion after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2010) 31:67–70. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A1748

- Tomimoto H, Ihara M, Wakita H, Ohtani R, Lin JX, Akiguchi I, et al. Chronic cerebral hypoperfusion induces white matter lesions and loss of oligodendroglia with DNA fragmentation in the rat. *Acta Neuropathol* (2003) 106:527–34. doi:10.1007/s00401-003-0749-3
- Alosco ML, Brickman AM, Spitznagel MB, Griffith EY, Narkhede A, Cohen R, et al. Reduced cerebral blood flow and white matter hyperintensities predict poor sleep in heart failure. *Behav Brain Funct* (2013) 9:42. doi:10.1186/1744-9081-9-42
- Barker R, Ashby EL, Wellington D, Barrow VM, Palmer JC, Kehoe PG, et al. Pathophysiology of white matter perfusion in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Brain* (2014) 137:1524–32. doi:10.1093/brain/awu040
- Pang J, Chen Y, Kuai L, Yang P, Peng J, Wu Y, et al. Inhibition of blood-brain barrier disruption by an apolipoprotein E-mimetic peptide ameliorates early brain injury in experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res* (2016). doi:10.1007/s12975-016-0507-1
- Lanterna LA, Rigoldi M, Tredici G, Biroli F, Cesana C, Gaini SM, et al. APOE influences vasospasm and cognition of noncomatose patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurology* (2005) 64:1238–44. doi:10.1212/01.WNL. 0000156523.77347.B4
- Soehle M, Chatfield DA, Czosnyka M, Kirkpatrick PJ. Predictive value of initial clinical status, intracranial pressure and transcranial Doppler pulsatility after subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* (2007) 149:575–83. doi:10.1007/s00701-007-1149-6
- 46. Wu Y, Pang J, Peng J, Cao F, Vitek MP, Li F, et al. An apoE-derived mimic peptide, COG1410, alleviates early brain injury via reducing apoptosis and neuroinflammation in a mouse model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosci Lett* (2016) 627:92–9. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2016.05.058
- 47. Pang J, Wu Y, Peng J, Yang P, Kuai L, Qin X, et al. Potential implications of apolipoprotein E in early brain injury after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: involvement in the modulation of blood-brain barrier integrity. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(35):56030–44. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10821

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Peng, Qin, Pang, Wu, Dong, Huang, Wan, Yang, Sun, Chen and Jiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score Infarct Location Predicts Outcome Following M2 Occlusion

Muhib Khan^{1,2*}, Grayson L. Baird³, Richard P. Goddeau Jr.⁴, Brian Silver⁵ and Nils Henninger^{4,6}

¹ Neuroscience Institute, Division of Neurology, Spectrum Health, Grand Rapids, MI, USA, ² Michigan State University College of Human Medicine, Grand Rapids, MI, USA, ³Lifespan Biostatistics Core, Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, RI, USA, ⁴ Department of Neurology, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA, USA, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, USA, ⁶ Department of Psychiatry, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA, USA

Background: Although it is generally thought that patients with distal middle cerebral artery (M2) occlusion have a favorable outcome, it has previously been demonstrated that a substantial minority will have a poor outcome by 90 days. We sought to determine whether assessing the Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score (ASPECTS) infarct location allows for identifying patients at risk for a poor 90-day outcome.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jean-Claude Baron, Université Paris Descartes, France

Reviewed by:

Daniel Strbian, Helsinki University Hospital, Finland Alexander Tsiskaridze, Tbilisi State University, Georgia

*Correspondence: Muhib Khan muhib.khan@spectrumhealth.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> Received: 01 November 2016 Accepted: 28 February 2017 Published: 14 March 2017

Citation:

Khan M, Baird GL, Goddeau RP Jr., Silver B and Henninger N (2017) Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score Infarct Location Predicts Outcome Following M2 Occlusion. Front. Neurol. 8:98. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00098 **Methods:** We retrospectively analyzed patients with isolated acute M2 occlusion admitted to a single academic center between January 2010 and August 2012. Infarct regions were defined according to ASPECTS system on the initial head computed tomography. Discriminant function analysis was used to define specific ASPECTS regions that are predictive of the 90-day functional outcome as defined as a modified Rankin Scale score of 3–6. In addition, logistic regression was used to model the relationship between each individual ASPECT region with poor outcome; for evaluation and comparison, odds ratios, *c*-statistics, and Akaike information criterion values were estimated for each region.

Results: Ninety patients with isolated M2 were included in the final analysis. ASPECTS score ≤ 6 predicted poor outcome in this cohort (sensitivity = 0.591, specificity = 0.838, p < 0.001). Using multiple approaches, we found that infarction in ASPECTS regions M3 and M6 were strongly associated with poor functional status by 90 days.

Conclusion: Infarction in ASPECTS regions M3 and M6 are key predictors of functional outcome following isolated distal M2 occlusion. These findings will be helpful in stratifying outcomes if validated in future studies.

Keywords: M2 occlusions, outcome, Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score, stroke, thrombolysis

INTRODUCTION

The site of arterial occlusion represents one of the most important factors determining outcome after anterior circulation ischemic stroke (1, 2). However, relatively little is known regarding outcome predicting variables in patients with distal middle cerebral artery (MCA) occlusion.

70

The Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score (ASPECTS) was introduced to provide a structured infarct size and location analysis to aid clinical decision making (3). Its availability on initial evaluation of non-contrast head computed tomography (CT) makes it a relevant neuroimaging marker that does not require complex image post-processing. Its utility for acute treatment decision making in acute stroke patients with MCA occlusion has previously been documented (4). Specifically, stroke patients with a high pre-treatment ASPECTS are more likely to have a favorable outcome. However, because patients with distal MCA occlusion (M2) tend to have a high ASPECTS related to the sparing of subcortical tissues (5–7), a more granular understanding of the association of the ASPECTS with outcome in these patients is needed.

A better understanding of this issue is highlighted by the transformative results from the recent positive endovascular stroke trials (2, 4, 8-10). However, less than 3% of enrolled patients had an isolated M2 occlusion and the majority of patients experience a favorable outcome irrespective of endovascular therapy (4, 7, 11). Hence, identifying imaging parameters that predict poor outcome in this population may aid in the proper patient selection for therapy.

Therefore, we sought to determine whether information regarding infarct location encoded in the ASPECTS allows for defining patients at high risk for a poor functional outcome after isolated M2 occlusion in addition to the total ASPECTS score. We hypothesized that infarction in distinct ASPECTS location will be associated with a poor outcome.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Sample

We performed a retrospective analysis of consecutive acute ischemic stroke patients admitted to a single academic center from January 2010 to August 2012. Only patients with isolated M2 occlusion on admission CT-angiography (CTA) were included. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Massachusetts Medical School. Because this was a retrospective analysis the consent requirement was waived. Included patients have been described as part of a prior study (12).

All patients had head CT performed on presentation to the emergency room. Patient demographics, comorbidities, preadmission medications, laboratory data, treatment modality [conservative management versus acute intervention (intravenous thrombolysis and endovascular recanalization)], and stroke etiology (according to the Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment classification) (13) after completion of diagnostic evaluation, were collected on all patients. Admission National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale and modified Rankin Scale (mRS) scores were assessed at the time of presentation and at 90 days by a stroke-trained physician or study nurse certified in the mRS (12). Good outcome at 90 days was defined as mRS ≤ 2 .

Neuroimaging Protocol

All CT sequences were obtained on a 64-row detector Philips scanner. NCCT was performed in a non-helical mode at 120 KvP

and 200 mA with data reconstruction at 5 mm axial slices. CTA was performed using 64 mm \times 0.625 mm detector configuration with a pitch of 0.673, from the arch of aorta to the vertex using 120 KvP, 300 mA, and 0.5-s rotation time. Patients received 60–80 mL of Isovue 370 (Bracco Diagnostics, Princeton, NJ, USA) in the antecubital vein at a rate of 4 mL/s through a power injector followed by 40 mL saline. Three-dimensional orthogonal maximum intensity projection images were created in three planes.

Image Review and Analysis

Image review and analysis has been described in detail earlier (12). Briefly, CT and CTA were reviewed independently by study physicians masked to clinical data, follow-up scans, patient variables, and outcomes. The M2 segment was defined as the segment extending from the bifurcation/trifurcation of the MCA to the top of the Sylvian fissure to further division (12). For the purpose of this study, we performed an infarct location analysis on the initial head CT as defined by ASPECTS system (3). These areas included the insula (I), caudate nucleus (C), lentiform nucleus (L), internal capsule (IC), superior parietal lobe (M6), precentral and superior frontal lobe (M5), anterior superior frontal lobe (M4), inferior parietal and posterior temporal lobe (M1) (14). Scoring was conducted by an experienced reader (Muhib Khan) trained in ASPECTS (http://www.aspectsinstroke.com).

Statistical Methods

All analyses were conducted using SAS Software 9.4 (SAS Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Poor outcome (mRS 3-6) was modeled with ASPECTS score using multivariable logistic regression, both as an ordinal measure and dichotomized >6 versus ≤ 6 . Discriminant function analysis (DFA) was used to derive a single statistical function from all ASPECTS regions that distinguishes between a poor and favorable outcome; ASPECT regions were then evaluated by how well each region correlated with the derived discriminant function distinguishing between a poor and favorable outcome. DFA was used as it is more robust than multivariable logistic regression for small sample sizes. DFA was produced using the CANDISC procedure. In order to confirm and quantify the relationship between each region and outcome, logistic regression was used to model the relationship between each individual ASPECT region with poor outcome using the LOGISTIC procedure; odds ratios (OR) (effect size), c-statistics [area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC)], and Akaike information criterion (AIC) (AIC-relative model fit) values were, therefore, estimated for each region. In addition, sensitivity, specificity, as well as positive and negative predictive values and likelihood ratios were determined for each ASPECTS region predicting poor outcome using generalized estimating equations (GEE), which allowed multiple observations (regions) to be nested within patients, using the GLIMMIX procedure. Group differences examined in Table 1 were compared using the χ^2 -square test or Wilcoxon test. A two sided p < 0.05 (when applicable) was considered significant and all estimates were calculated for 95% confidence interval (95% CI).
RESULTS

Overall, 90 patients with isolated M2 occlusions were included for analysis. Among these, 66 (73%) patients had an ASPECTS of >6 and the majority of patients (69%) had a good 90-day outcome. Baseline characteristics of included patients as stratified by ASPECTS \leq 6 versus >6 (15) are summarized in **Table 1**.

The mean ASPECTS score was 7.1, 95% CI 6.8–7.4. An ASPECTS score ≤ 6 was associated with poor outcome (sensitivity = 0.591, specificity = 0.838, p < 0.001). Logistic regression analysis indicated that for every unit decrease in ASPECTS score, the odds of poor outcome increased more than twofold (OR: 2.32,

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics (unadjusted) of the patient sample as stratified by Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score (ASPECTS).

Characteristics	ASPECTS ≤6 (<i>n</i> = 24)	ASPECTS >6 (<i>n</i> = 66)	<i>p</i> -Value
Age, years (IQR)	79.5 (67–85.5)	75.5 (62–85)	0.430
Female (%)	66.7	51.5	0.200
Admission NIHSS (IQR)	16 (6–24)	7 (4–10)	0.009
i.v. rtPA (%)	21	27	0.536
Hypertension (%)	71	82	0.259
Dyslipidemia (%)	46	61	0.211
Diabetes (%)	25	38	0.255
Prior stroke or TIA (%)	13	15	0.751
Atrial fibrillation (%)	29	32	0.810

IQR, interquartile range, i.v., intravenous; mRS, modified Rankin Scale; NIHSS, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale; PH, parenchymal hemorrhage Type 1 and 2; rtPA, recombinant tissue plasminogen activator; TIA, transient ischemic attack. 95% CI 1.50–3.59, AUC = 0.799, p < 0.001). We then sought to determine whether distinct infarct regions encoded by the ASPECTS allow for defining patients at risk for a poor functional outcome. Because more than one ASPECTS region was frequently infarcted in a given patient, DFA was used to model the relationship of region on poor outcome. Table 2 summarizes each region's relationship with poor outcome derived from the DFA whereby larger loading and coefficient values indicate a stronger relationship with the statistically derived discriminant function that distinguished between and poor and favorable outcome. In particular, infarction in M3 had the strongest relationship with the discriminant function relative to all other regions, followed by M6. The relationship with each region, alone, was then quantified using logistic regression, which indicated that infarction in M3 and M6 had statistically significant and relatively large OR (right M3 = 115, left M3 = 14.9, right M6 = 25.7, left M6 = 10.4), indicating a relationship with poor outcome. Moreover, infarction in M3 and M6 had the largest AUCs indicating superior discrimination between good and poor outcomes, relative to all other areas. M3 and M6 also had the smallest AIC values, indicating that models of poor outcome using M3 and M6 were superior to models using other ASPECTS encoded regions, i.e., the combined analysis with logistic regression and DFA indicates that infarction in cortical M3 and adjacent M6 ASPECTS regions on either side are the strongest predictors of a poor outcome after M2 occlusion. Infarction in the left M5, right M2, and right M5 should also be considered as indicators of poor outcome as they were statistically significant or approached significance relative to the remaining regions.

TABLE 2 | Discriminate function analysis, prediction, and performance of individual Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score region infarction indicative of a poor outcome.

Area	Discriminar	nt function	P	rediction		Perform	rformance			
	Loading	Beta	OR	95% CI	AUC	95% CI	AIC	p		
Right										
M1	0.15	0.22	1.97	(0.36-10.82)	0.56	(0.40-0.71)	47.72	0.4358		
M2	0.43	0.51	5.54	(1.20-25.68)	0.70	(0.53-0.87)	43.19	0.0286		
M3	0.93	0.93	115	(9.32–na)	0.91	(0.81-1.00)	23.12	0.0002		
M4	-0.07	0.05	0.70	(0.12-4.20)	0.53	(0.38-0.68)	48.16	0.6998		
M5	0.35	0.04	4.00	(0.85-18.84)	0.66	(0.49-0.83)	44.95	0.0795		
M6	0.66	0.40	25.7	(2.76-239.81)	0.81	(0.69-0.94)	34.87	0.0044		
С	0.02	0.36	1.15	(0.09-14.19)	0.51	(0.40-0.61)	48.30	0.9132		
IC	0.02	0.09	1.15	(0.09-14.19)	0.51	(0.40-0.61)	48.30	0.9132		
L	0.03	0.45	1.17	(0.18-7.56)	0.51	(0.37-0.65)	48.29	0.8715		
Insula	0.06	0.21	1.25	(0.30-5.23)	0.53	(0.34-0.71)	48.22	0.7599		
Left										
M1	-0.19	-0.28	_	_	0.53	(0.50-0.57)	57.18	0.9728		
M2	0.27	0.22	2.43	(0.62-9.56)	0.61	(0.44–0.78)	56.91	0.2038		
M3	0.77	0.69	14.90	(2.75-80.29)	0.79	(0.66-0.93)	45.61	0.0017		
M4	-0.19	0.00	-	_	0.53	(0.50-0.57)	57.18	0.9728		
M5	0.59	0.63	12.63	(1.48–107.53)	0.73	(0.62-0.85)	49.76	0.0203		
M6	0.66	0.26	10.40	(1.97–54.87)	0.76	(0.62-0.90)	48.73	0.0059		
С	-0.22	-0.32	-	_	0.55	(0.50-0.59)	56.69	0.9685		
IC	-0.30	0.18	-	-	0.58	(0.53-0.58)	55.14	0.9581		
L	-0.19	0.18	0.38	(0.04-3.35)	0.56	(0.45-0.67)	57.66	0.3821		
Insula	-0.16	-0.09	0.60	(0.16-2.27)	0.56	(0.39-0.73)	58.02	0.4524		

Loading and beta coefficients derived from discriminant function analysis, where stronger positive values relate to the function of poor outcome. Odds ratios (ORs), area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC), and Akaike information criterion (AIC) are derived from logistic regression modeling, which estimate size of effect, diagnostic performance, and model fit, respectively.

TABLE 3 | Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values, and likelihood ratios of individual Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score region infarction for poor outcome (mRS >2).

Area Sensitivity		Specificity	PPV	NPV	+LR	–LR
Right						
M1	0.27	0.84	0.43	0.72	1.70	0.87
M2	0.64	0.76	0.54	0.83	2.65	0.48
M3	0.91	0.92	0.83	0.96	11.36	0.10
M4	0.18	0.76	0.25	0.68	0.76	1.08
M5	0.73	0.60	0.44	0.83	1.82	0.45
M6	0.91	0.72	0.59	0.95	3.25	0.13
С	0.09	0.92	0.33	0.70	1.14	0.99
Internal capsule (IC) 0.09		0.92	0.33	0.70	1.14	0.99
L 0.18		0.84	0.33	0.70	1.14	0.97
Insula 0.46		0.60	0.33	0.71	1.15	0.90
Left						
M1 0.00		0.93	0.00	0.78	0.00	1.08
M2	0.64	0.58	0.28	0.86	1.52	0.63
M3	0.82		0.47	0.94	3.52	0.24
M4 0.00		0.93	0.00	0.78	0.00	1.08
M5 0.91		0.56	0.34	0.96	2.06	0.16
M6	0.82		0.41	0.94	2.71	0.26
С	0.00	0.90	0.00	0.78	0.00	1.11
IC	0.00	0.84	0.00	0.76	0.00	1.19
L	0.09	0.80	0.10	0.77	0.45	1.14
Insula	sula 0.46		0.17	0.75	0.79	1.29

PPV, positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value; +LR, positive likelihood ratio; -LR, negative likelihood ratio.

Last, each region was evaluated for diagnostic performance of poor outcome. Using GEE, we found that M3, M5, and M6 for both the right and the left had a high sensitivity and specificity (p < 0.01) for predicting a poor outcome (**Table 3**). Specifically, infarction in right M3 region was highly sensitive (0.91) and specific (0.92) of poor outcome.

DISCUSSION

The most important findings of our study are that infarction in the M3 and M6 ASPECTS region predict a poor outcome after isolated M2 occlusion. We and others have previously shown that a substantial minority of patients with M2 occlusion have a poor outcome by 3 months (7, 11, 12, 16). Our results show that the anatomical and geometric information of the ASPECTS allows for more specific identification of patients at high risk for poor outcome after isolated M2 occlusion.

The ASPECTS template for anatomical lesion mapping within the MCA territory has the advantage that it does not require elaborate volumetric image analysis and allows for identifying patients likely to have a poor outcome in the emergency setting (4, 17, 18). The dichotomized ASPECTS score has been used to predict outcome in earlier studies, which found an ASPECTS greater than 6 to 7 to be predictive of good outcome (3, 4, 17, 19). Recent multicenter cohort of M2 occlusion patients undergoing thrombectomy also showed that ASPECTS \geq 6 predicts a good outcome (7). Consistent with these prior results, we found that ASPECTS \geq 6 predicted a good outcome.

Using DFA, we found that in our sample, infarction in M3 and M6 locations were most predictive of a poor outcome. This

is not too surprising because even relatively small infarcts in the M3 region (which includes the language centers located within the inferior parietal and posterior temporal lobes) and M6 region (which includes the primary motor cortex) may cause significant disability (20, 21) related to ensuing motor deficits and aphasia (22, 23). Of note, though infarction of subcortical structures such as lentiform nucleus and IC have been identified as predictors of outcome (20, 24, 25), we did not find such an association in our study. However, this discrepancy may be explained by the fact that our study was underpowered to detect such an association due to low number of patients with a subcortical infarction. It is possible that subcortical infarction occurred mostly in patients who originally had an occlusion of the M1-segment of the MCA [which gives rise to the lenticulostriate arteries to supply the striatocapsular region (26, 27)] and then subsequent clot migration to the M2 segment [which predominantly supplies the cerebral cortex and adjacent white matter (26-28)] by the time of CTA.

We did not find any effect on outcome based on hemispheric laterality of stroke. Earlier studies have shown an impact of hemispheric laterality on functional outcomes after ischemic stroke (29-32). We feel that smaller infarct volume and neglect might have played a role in minimizing the effect of lateralization. Further study is required to determine the effects of lesion laterality and the impact on stroke outcome. Endovascular therapy in these patients has recently been shown to improve outcomes (7). Therefore, further research is needed using an external stroke cohort evaluating our findings to improve patient selection for this particular group. We envision the development of an imaging index that incorporates assessments of ischemic core volumes and location in conjunction with markers of collateral and perfusion status. Such an index will allow for accurate and rater unbiased selection of patients for emergent recanalization therapies for M2 occlusion.

The strengths of our study relate to the analysis of a welldefined patient population based on advanced intracranial vascular imaging. We utilized multiple statistical methods in a stepwise fashion to identify the ASPECTS regions, which predict outcomes in this population. The collection of a large number of clinically relevant variables contributed to improved data quality while limiting the potential for misclassification. Limitations of our study relate to its retrospective design and relatively small sample size. However, to account for the low sample size, we used DFA instead of logistic regression alone. Williams and Titus found that, as a general rule, sample size should be about 3xP variables [in our case p = 10, for each group (30)] (33). In addition to mitigate the risk of DFA-related model overfitting, we also provided the results of simple logistic regression as well as repeated measures logistic regression with modeling of the different ASPECTS regions within each patient. Importantly, our models were stable as indicated by the consistent results across model solutions (sensitivity, specificity, loadings, odds ratio, area under the receiver operator characteristics curve, AIC, and *p*-Values). Further, diagnostic and therapeutic modalities were used at the treating stroke physician's discretion, which may have introduced bias. Moreover, non-contrast CT head was used to determine ASPECTS, which might be less sensitive than newer imaging modalities. Our findings require confirmation

in further, prospective studies and should only be considered hypothesis generating.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study shows that infarct topography as defined by ASPECTS allows for prediction of functional outcome after M2 occlusion. These findings may be helpful for stratifying outcomes if validated in other studies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK: study concept and design, data acquisition, statistical analysis, interpretation of data, and drafting the article. GB: statistical

REFERENCES

- Saqqur M, Uchino K, Demchuk AM, Molina CA, Garami Z, Calleja S, et al. Site of arterial occlusion identified by transcranial Doppler predicts the response to intravenous thrombolysis for stroke. *Stroke* (2007) 38:948–54. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000257304.21967.ba
- Broderick JP, Tomsick TA, Palesch YY. Endovascular treatment for acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med (2013) 368:2430–35. doi:10.1056/NEJMc1304759
- Barber PA, Demchuk AM, Zhang J, Buchan AM. Validity and reliability of a quantitative computed tomography score in predicting outcome of hyperacute stroke before thrombolytic therapy. ASPECTS Study Group. Alberta Stroke Programme Early CT Score. *Lancet* (2000) 355:1670–4. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(00)02237-6
- Goyal M, Demchuk AM, Menon BK, Eesa M, Rempel JL, Thornton J, et al. Randomized assessment of rapid endovascular treatment of ischemic stroke. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:1019–30. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414905
- Gupta D, Sharma A, Uchino K, Alexandrov AV, Khan K, Shuaib A, et al. Accuracy of National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale score in predicting the site of arterial occlusion in acute stroke: a Transcranial Doppler Study. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2016) 25:2109–15. doi:10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2016.06.004
- Hill MD, Demchuk AM, Goyal M, Jovin TG, Foster LD, Tomsick TA, et al. Alberta Stroke Program early computed tomography score to select patients for endovascular treatment: Interventional Management of Stroke (IMS)-III Trial. *Stroke* (2014) 45:444–9. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.113. 003580
- Sarraj A, Sangha N, Hussain MS, Wisco D, Vora N, Elijovich L, et al. Endovascular therapy for acute ischemic stroke with occlusion of the middle cerebral artery M2 segment. *JAMA Neurol* (2016) 73(11):1291–6. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.2773
- Campbell BC, Mitchell PJ, Kleinig TJ, Dewey HM, Churilov L, Yassi N, et al. Endovascular therapy for ischemic stroke with perfusion-imaging selection. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:1009–18. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414792
- Saver JL, Goyal M, Bonafe A, Diener HC, Levy EI, Pereira VM, et al. Stentretriever thrombectomy after intravenous t-PA vs. t-PA alone in stroke. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:2285–95. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1415061
- Jovin TG, Chamorro A, Cobo E, de Miquel MA, Molina CA, Rovira A, et al. Thrombectomy within 8 hours after symptom onset in ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:2296–306. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1503780
- Rahme R, Yeatts SD, Abruzzo TA, Jimenez L, Fan L, Tomsick TA, et al. Early reperfusion and clinical outcomes in patients with M2 occlusion: pooled analysis of the PROACT II, IMS, and IMS II studies. *J Neurosurg* (2014) 121:1354–8. doi:10.3171/2014.7.JNS131430
- Khan M, Goddeau RP Jr, Zhang J, Moonis M, Henninger N. Predictors of outcome following stroke due to isolated M2 occlusions. *Cerebrovasc Dis Extra* (2014) 4:52–60. doi:10.1159/000360075
- Adams HP Jr, Bendixen BH, Kappelle LJ, Biller J, Love BB, Gordon DL, et al. Classification of subtype of acute ischemic stroke. Definitions for use in a multicenter clinical trial. TOAST. Trial of Org 10172 in acute stroke treatment. *Stroke* (1993) 24:35–41. doi:10.1161/01.STR.24.1.35

analysis, interpretation of data, and drafting the article. RG: data acquisition, interpretation of data, and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. BS: interpretation of data and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. NH: data acquisition, interpretation of data, drafting the article, and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

FUNDING

NH is supported by grant K08NS091499 from the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke of the National Institutes of Health. All other authors have nothing to disclose.

- Maas MB, Lev MH, Ay H, Singhal AB, Greer DM, Smith WS, et al. The prognosis for aphasia in stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2012) 21:350–7. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2010.09.009
- Puetz V, Działowski I, Hill MD, Demchuk AM. The Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score in clinical practice: what have we learned? *Int J Stroke* (2009) 4:354–64. doi:10.1111/j.1747-4949.2009.00337.x
- Rahme R, Abruzzo TA, Martin RH, Tomsick TA, Ringer AJ, Furlan AJ, et al. Is intra-arterial thrombolysis beneficial for M2 occlusions? Subgroup analysis of the PROACT-II trial. *Stroke* (2013) 44:240–2. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.112.671495
- Demchuk AM, Hill MD, Barber PA, Silver B, Patel SC, Levine SR, et al. Importance of early ischemic computed tomography changes using ASPECTS in NINDS rtPA Stroke Study. *Stroke* (2005) 36:2110–5. doi:10.1161/01. STR.0000181116.15426.58
- Singer OC, Kurre W, Humpich MC, Lorenz MW, Kastrup A, Liebeskind DS, et al. Risk assessment of symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage after thrombolysis using DWI-ASPECTS. *Stroke* (2009) 40:2743–8. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.550111
- Demchuk AM, Goyal M, Menon BK, Eesa M, Ryckborst KJ, Kamal N, et al. Endovascular treatment for small core and anterior circulation proximal occlusion with emphasis on minimizing CT to recanalization times (ESCAPE) trial: methodology. *Int J Stroke* (2015) 10:429–38. doi:10.1111/ ijs.12424
- Phan TG, Chen J, Donnan G, Srikanth V, Wood A, Reutens DC. Development of a new tool to correlate stroke outcome with infarct topography: a proof-of-concept study. *Neuroimage* (2010) 49:127–33. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2009.07.067
- Menezes NM, Ay H, Wang Zhu M, Lopez CJ, Singhal AB, Karonen JO, et al. The real estate factor: quantifying the impact of infarct location on stroke severity. *Stroke* (2007) 38:194–7. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000251792.76080.45
- 22. Meijer R, Ihnenfeldt DS, de Groot IJ, van Limbeek J, Vermeulen M, de Haan RJ. Prognostic factors for ambulation and activities of daily living in the subacute phase after stroke. A systematic review of the literature. *Clin Rehabil* (2003) 17:119–29. doi:10.1191/0269215503cr5850a
- Haselbach D, Renggli A, Carda S, Croquelois A. Determinants of neurological functional recovery potential after stroke in young adults. *Cerebrovasc Dis Extra* (2014) 4:77–83. doi:10.1159/000360218
- Phan TG, Demchuk A, Srikanth V, Silver B, Patel SC, Barber PA, et al. Proof of concept study: relating infarct location to stroke disability in the NINDS rt-PA trial. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (2013) 35:560–5. doi:10.1159/ 000351147
- Weiller C, Willmes K, Reiche W, Thron A, Isensee C, Buell U, et al. The case of aphasia or neglect after striatocapsular infarction. *Brain* (1993) 116(Pt 6):1509–25. doi:10.1093/brain/116.6.1509
- Marinkovic S, Gibo H, Milisavljevic M. The surgical anatomy of the relationships between the perforating and the leptomeningeal arteries. *Neurosurgery* (1996) 39:72–83. doi:10.1097/00006123-199607000-00016
- Gibo H, Carver CC, Rhoton AL Jr, Lenkey C, Mitchell RJ. Microsurgical anatomy of the middle cerebral artery. J Neurosurg (1981) 54:151–69. doi:10.3171/jns.1981.54.2.0151

- Rangaraju S, Owada K, Noorian AR, Nogueira RG, Nahab F, Glenn BA, et al. Comparison of final infarct volumes in patients who received endovascular therapy or intravenous thrombolysis for acute intracranial large-vessel occlusions. *JAMA Neurol* (2013) 70:831–6. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol. 2013.413
- Di Legge S, Saposnik G, Nilanont Y, Hachinski V. Neglecting the difference: does right or left matter in stroke outcome after thrombolysis? *Stroke* (2006) 37:2066–9. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000229899.66019.62
- Yoo AJ, Romero J, Hakimelahi R, Nogueira RG, Rabinov JD, Pryor JC, et al. Predictors of functional outcome vary by the hemisphere of involvement in major ischemic stroke treated with intra-arterial therapy: a retrospective cohort study. *BMC Neurol* (2010) 10:25. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-10-25
- Laufer Y, Sivan D, Schwarzmann R, Sprecher E. Standing balance and functional recovery of patients with right and left hemiparesis in the early stages of rehabilitation. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2003) 17:207–13. doi:10.1177/0888439003259169

- Helenius J, Goddeau RP Jr, Moonis M, Henninger N. Impact of leukoaraiosis burden on hemispheric lateralization of the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale deficit in acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke* (2016) 47:24–30. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.011771
- Williams BK, Titus K. Assessment of sampling stability in ecological applications of discriminant analysis. *Ecology* (1988) 69:10. doi:10.2307/1941283

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Khan, Baird, Goddeau, Silver and Henninger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





White Matter Correlates of Auditory Comprehension Outcomes in Chronic Post-Stroke Aphasia

Shihui Xing^{1,2*}, Elizabeth H. Lacey^{2,3}, Laura M. Skipper-Kallal², Jinsheng Zeng¹ and Peter E. Turkeltaub^{2,3*}

¹ Department of Neurology, First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Neurology, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA, ³ Research Division, MedStar National Rehabilitation Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Muhib Khan, Michigan State University, USA

Reviewed by:

Pavel Lindberg, Université Paris Descartes, France Leonardo Bonilha, Medical University of South Carolina, USA

*Correspondence:

Shihui Xing xingshih@mail.sysu.edu.cn; Peter E. Turkeltaub turkeltp@georgetown.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> Received: 13 October 2016 Accepted: 07 February 2017 Published: 22 February 2017

Citation:

Xing S, Lacey EH, Skipper-Kallal LM, Zeng J and Turkeltaub PE (2017) White Matter Correlates of Auditory Comprehension Outcomes in Chronic Post-Stroke Aphasia. Front. Neurol. 8:54. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00054 Neuroimaging studies have shown that speech comprehension involves a number of widely distributed regions within the frontal and temporal lobes. We aimed to examine the differential contributions of white matter connectivity to auditory word and sentence comprehension in chronic post-stroke aphasia. Structural and diffusion MRI data were acquired on 40 patients with chronic post-stroke aphasia. A battery of auditory word and sentence comprehension tests were administered to all the patients. Tract-based spatial statistics were used to identify areas in which white matter integrity related to specific comprehension deficits. Relevant tracts were reconstructed using probabilistic tractography in healthy older participants, and the mean values of fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusivity (MD), axial diffusivity (AD), and radial diffusivity (RD) of the entire tracts were examined in relation to comprehension scores. Anterior temporal white matter integrity loss and involvement of the uncinate fasciculus related to word-level comprehension deficits ($R_{FA} = 0.408$, P = 0.012; $R_{MD} = -0.429$, P = 0.008; $R_{AD} = -0.424$, P = 0.009; $R_{\text{RD}} = -0.439$, P = 0.007). Posterior temporal white matter integrity loss and involvement of the inferior longitudinal fasciculus related to sentence-level comprehension deficits ($R_{FA} = 0.382$, P = 0.02; $R_{MD} = -0.461$, P = 0.004; $R_{AD} = -0.457$, P = 0.004; $R_{\rm RD} = -0.453$, P = 0.005). Loss of white matter integrity in the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus related to both word- and sentence-level comprehension (word-level scores: $R_{\text{FA}} = 0.41, P = 0.012; R_{\text{MD}} = -0.447, P = 0.006; R_{\text{AD}} = -0.489, P = 0.002; R_{\text{RD}} = -0.432, P = 0.002; R_{\text{RD}} = -0.432; P = 0.002; P$ P = 0.008; sentence-level scores: $R_{FA} = 0.409$, P = 0.012; $R_{MD} = -0.413$, P = 0.011; $R_{AD} = -0.408$, P = 0.012; $R_{BD} = -0.413$, P = 0.011). Lesion overlap, but not white matter integrity, in the arcuate fasciculus related to sentence-level comprehension deficits. These findings suggest that word-level comprehension outcomes in chronic post-stroke aphasia rely primarily on anterior temporal lobe pathways, whereas sentence-level comprehension relies on more widespread pathways including the posterior temporal lobe.

Keywords: aphasia, stroke, white matter, diffusion tensor imaging, outcome

INTRODUCTION

The era of modern neuroimaging has clarified that language extends well beyond the classical network composed of Wernicke's area, the arcuate fasciculus (AF), and Broca's area (1, 2). The putative location of Wernicke's area has shifted over time, and recent studies suggest that auditory comprehension of words relies on cortex considerably anterior to the traditional location of Wernicke's area in the posterior temporal lobe (3). A prominent study recently examined patterns of cortical atrophy in primary progressive aphasia, finding an anatomical dissociation, in which word-level auditory comprehension related to cortical thinning in the anterior temporal lobe, whereas sentence-level auditory comprehension related to thinning in a more widespread network of posterior temporal and frontal sites (4). The differences in localization of auditory comprehension in primary progressive aphasia from the classical localization based on stroke lesions were attributed to the white matter damage associated with stroke.

Indeed, language processing depends not only on cortical regions but also on the white matter fiber bundles that connect them (5). Recent diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) studies have suggested that the dual streams connecting frontal and temporal language areas differentially support particular aspects of language comprehension processing in the context of healthy participants (6, 7) and pathological conditions such as primary progressive aphasia (8). Only a few studies have used DTI to analyze white matter damage in post-stroke aphasia (9-12), and these have not come to a consensus regarding the contributions of specific tracts to particular auditory comprehension impairments. This likely relates to the small number of participants in these studies, and the investigation of either word- or sentence-level comprehension, but not both. Further, some these prior studies only either examined direct lesion load in tracts, or assessed relationships between comprehension and certain DTI metrics of white matter in the tract (9, 10). As such, the contributions of specific white matter tracts to different aspects of auditory language comprehension remain incompletely understood.

In the present study, we adopted tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) to identify critical regions of white matter lesions related to severity of word- and sentence-level comprehension deficits in chronic post-stroke aphasia. We then used probabilistic DTI tractography in a group of age-matched healthy older participants to reconstruct specific white matter tracts implicated by TBSS and examined the relationship between the integrity of these tracts in patients and both word- and sentence-level comprehension. We hypothesized that different ventral or dorsal white matter tracts sustain different aspects of comprehension in chronic post-stroke aphasia, in particular that word-level comprehension deficits relate to anterior temporal lobe white matter damage, whereas sentence-level comprehension deficits relate to more posterior temporal lobe white matter damage.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Forty (14 females) chronic left hemisphere stroke survivors were recruited in the study with inclusion criteria as follows: native English speaker; at least 6 months post-stroke; able to follow testing instructions; and no history of other significant neurological illnesses. Demographics and language scores for the group are listed in **Table 1**. All patients had aphasia at the time of stroke based on medical records and received speech–language therapy.

Probabilistic tract reconstruction was performed in 27 healthy older participants (16 female) without neurological and psychiatric disorder. The mean age was 59.8 (\pm 14.3) years; mean education was 16.3 (\pm 2.6) years. Among them, 24 were right-handed, 2 left-handed, and 1 ambidextrous.

The study was approved by the Georgetown University Institutional Review Board, and written informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

Language Comprehension Assessment and Composite Scores

Word-level auditory comprehension was tested with the Auditory-Verbal Comprehension Word Recognition subtest of the Western Aphasia Battery-Revised (WAB-R) (13) and an inhouse word-to-picture matching task, in which the tester speaks a word aloud and the participant must select a picture corresponding to the word from among five semantic foils presented on a computer screen. There are 48 trials, and all words are concrete nouns. There is no time limit for response. The test was previously normed on 22 healthy elderly participants matched for age and education (14). For sentence comprehension assessment, the tests included the Auditory-Verbal Comprehension Yes/No and Sequential Commands subtests of the WAB-R, and the Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Examination subtests: complex ideational materials, semantic probe, and embedded sentences tasks. Using these scores, we calculated word-level comprehension (WLC) and sentence-level comprehension (SLC) composite scores to provide robust measurements of these two aspects of comprehension.

TABLE 1 | Demographic data and language measures in patients.

Variables	Patients			
Age at screening (years)	59.6 ± 10.1			
Gender (F/M)	14/26			
Education level (years)	16.3 ± 2.9			
Handedness (R/L/ambidextrous)	33/6/1			
Lesion volume (ml)	101.1 ± 74.1			
Time from stroke (months)	45.3 ± 38.6			
Language tests				
Word-level composite	0.91 ± 0.12 (0.45-1.00)			
Word recognition (60) ^a	53.18 ± 9.31 (27-60)			
Word-to-picture matching (48)	44.53 ± 5.32 (22-48)			
Sentence-level composite	0.77 ± 0.16 (0.45-0.99)			
AVCom Yes/No (60)ª	55.43 ± 5.04 (39-60)			
AVCom sequential commands (80) ^a	57.28 ± 18.50 (10-80)			
Complex ideational materials (12) ^b	7.90 ± 3.09 (2-12)			
Semantic total scores (60) ^b	54.68 ± 5.47 (34-60)			
Embedded sentences (10) ^b	6.38 ± 2.72 (1-10)			
Pyramids and Palm Trees test	44.28 ± 4.76 (27–49)			

F, female; M, male; R, right-handed; L, left-handed; AVCom, auditory-verbal comprehension.

^aWestern Aphasia Battery-Revised.

^bBoston Diagnostic Aphasia Evaluation.

For each language test, the maximum score is shown in brackets.

Raw scores were normalized by dividing by the maximum score of each task, and these normalized scores for each component of comprehension were averaged. Because sentence-level comprehension encompasses word-level comprehension, deficits in either could cause decreased SLC scores. Thus, the WLC scores were regressed out of the SLC scores to obtain a final residual SLC score that controls for word comprehension deficits. Nonverbal semantic performance was additionally assessed with the Pyramids and Palm Trees (PPT) test (15).

Image Acquisition

Subjects were scanned on a 3.0-T Siemens Trio scanner at the Georgetown University Medical Center. The high-resolution T1-weighted images were acquired with the following parameters: TR = 1,900 ms; TE = 2.56 ms; flip angle = 9°; 160 contiguous 1 mm sagittal slices; field of view = $250 \text{ mm} \times 250 \text{ mm}$; matrix size = 246×256 , voxel size = $1 \text{ mm} \times 1 \text{ mm} \times 1 \text{ mm}$; slice thickness = 1 mm. Diffusion data were acquired using a single-shot echo-planar imaging sequence with the following parameters: TR = 7,500 ms; TE = 87 ms; flip angle = 90°; field of view = 240 mm \times 240 mm; matrix size = 96 \times 96, voxel size = 2. $5 \text{ mm} \times 2.5 \text{ mm} \times 2.5 \text{ mm}$; slice thickness = 2.5 mm; sagittal slice number = 64 slices. Sixty diffusion volumes weighted with a b_{max} value of 1,100 s/mm² and 10 volumes with no diffusion gradient were acquired. An additional 10 volumes with a low diffusion gradient ($b_{\min} = 300 \text{ s/mm}^2$) were collected to reconstruct a diffusion tensor from the combination of volumes with b_{\min} and b_{\max} diffusion weighting, which can reduce the vascular contribution to the diffusion parameters as well as partial volume effects as a result of the signal intensity of CSF (16-18).

Imaging Data Preprocessing Structural MRI Lesion Delineation

Lesion masks of patients were created by manually tracing stroke damage on the native 3D T1 images by using MRIcron (19). Lesion masks were checked by two board-certified neurologists (Shihui Xing and Peter E. Turkeltaub). Structural T1 images were registered to a Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) brain template in standard space using the unified segmentation tools implemented in Statistical Parametric Mapping software (SPM8)¹ running under Matlab R2014a (20). Deformations were then applied to warp the lesion masks into the MNI space (21). An overlap of patients' lesions is shown in **Figure 1**.

Diffusion MRI Lesion Analysis

Preprocessing of the diffusion images was performed using the FMRIB Software Library (FSL).² For each subject, the DWI datasets were preprocessed using FSL diffusion toolbox. Eddy current distortions and motion artifacts were corrected by registering each diffusion volume to the non-diffusion volume with an affine

transform. Whole-brain maps of voxelwise DTI metrics were extracted including fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusivity (MD), axial diffusivity (AD), and radial diffusivity (RD).

Tract-Based Spatial Statistical Analysis

Whole-brain voxelwise analyses of the respective DTI metrics data were carried out with TBSS analyses (22). Briefly, FA maps were aligned to an averaged FA template in MNI standard space using a non-linear registration with FNIRT in FSL and individual lesion drawings were employed as masks to avoid deformation of the lesion area. An average FA map was created and a skeleton map representing the center of the white matter common to all patients was computed with a threshold at 0.2. All registered FA maps were finally projected into the skeleton. The same procedure was performed on MD, AD, and RD maps. Controlling for age and total lesion volume, separate regression analyses were conducted to identify voxels in which the white matter signal related to WLC and SLC with lesion masks to exclude lesioned voxels in each patient. All statistics were performed with 5,000 random permutations and a threshold-free cluster enhancement correction (23). Results were family wise error corrected and thresholded at P < 0.05.

Tract-Specific Analysis

To examine relationships of more comprehensive measures of entire tracts to behavioral performance, we conducted a tract-specific analysis. To precisely localize relevant tracts, we reconstructed the left inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (IFOF), inferior longitudinal fasciculus (ILF), and uncinate fasciculus (UF) tracts implicated by the TBSS analysis (see Results) in 27 age-matched healthy subjects. For completeness, we also reconstructed the major dorsal language stream tract (AF) as well. Paired regions in the left hemisphere was defined as "seed" and "target" to reconstruct connections between these areas as previously described (24, 25). The regions were reversely transferred to the subject's native DWI space using non-linear registrations for FA images. Fiber tracking was performed using a probabilistic tractography algorithm based on Bayesian estimation of diffusion parameters (26). Fiber tracking was initiated from all voxels within the seed masks in the diffusion space to generate 5,000 streamline samples, with a step length of 0.5 mm and a curvature threshold of 0.2. The resultant tract density maps were normalized by dividing by the total number of streamline samples and thresholded at 0.005 to exclude spurious connections. Tracts were then non-linearly registered to MNI space using the registration parameters for FA images as above. The final groupwise probability map for each tract was generated with a threshold at least 50% (14/27 = 0.52) of healthy subjects (27, 28), and the respective binary map was generated as template to extract the mean values of DTI metrics for individual patient.

Statistical Analysis

To assess brain-behavior associations in the tracts identified above, we performed partial correlations between the mean values of FA, MD, AD, and RD (as indexes of white matter integrity) and WLC and SLC scores (as indexes of different level in

¹http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm.

²http://www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl/.



comprehension processing) controlling for age and total lesion volume. Direct lesion volume within a tract may dramatically alter the mean values of the white matter integrity measures and could also covary with direct damage in neighboring tracts or gray matter yielding spurious tract–behavior relationships. Therefore, we further excluded the primary lesion load on each tract from analyses by including the number of lesioned voxels in the tracts as nuisance covariates in the analyses. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (version 22). As previously described (29), we considered tracts that showed significant correlations with behavior for the each DTI index at a threshold of P < (0.05/4) = 0.0125 (Bonferroni correction).

RESULTS

Localization of White Matter Correlates of Comprehension Deficits

Tract-based spatial statistics was conducted to localize areas in which white matter integrity related to WLC and SLC scores, controlling for age and total lesion volume. Because poor performance on word-level auditory comprehension tasks may relate to semantic impairment, rather than auditory comprehension per se, we added scores on the PPT test, a measure of non-verbal semantics, as an additional covariate for WLC. Because the SLC score already controlled for WLC (see Materials and Methods), further controlling SLC for non-verbal semantics was not necessary. TBSS analysis showed a strong association between WLC scores and DTI metrics (decreased FA and increased MD, AD, and RD) in a left anterior temporal region, which corresponds to a part of the ventral pathways where the IFOF, ILF, and UF run together (Figure 2A). SLC scores were significantly associated with DTI metrics in a left posterior temporal region, with decreased FA and increased diffusivities primarily located in parts of IFOF and ILF (Figure 2B). Notably, these results reflect only specific locations in which white matter integrity was associated with WLC or SLC scores. Thus, we next examined relationships between comprehension scores and DTI metrics of entire tracts implicated here.

Relationship between White Matter Tracts and Comprehension Deficits

To define potentially relevant white matter pathways, the left ventral tracts implicated by the TBSS analysis, along with the AF (for completeness), were reconstructed in healthy older participants (**Figure 3**). First, we examined the relationship between direct lesion burden in each tract and comprehension. Partial correlations showed that when controlling for total lesion volume, the number of lesioned voxels in the AF and ILF related to SLC scores, while the number of lesioned voxels in the UF related to WLC scores (all corrected P < 0.05, **Table 2**).

To test more specific measures of tract integrity, we next examined relationships between the comprehension scores and the average FA, MD, AD, and RD values in each tract. Partial correlations showed that when controlling for age, total lesion volume, and the number of lesioned voxels in each tract, reduced FA and increased diffusivity measures including MD, AD, and RD of the left IFOF were significantly associated with both WLC and SLC scores (corrected P < 0.05, Figure 4A). DTI metrics in the left ILF significantly related to the SLC scores, with significant correlations with MD, AD, RD, and a marginal correlation with FA (corrected P < 0.05, Figure 4B). In the left UF, DTI metrics significantly predicted the WLC scores (corrected P < 0.05, Figure 4C). When further controlling for PPT scores, correlations between the UF and WLC scores remained significant for MD, AD, and RD (all corrected P < 0.05), with a trend for FA (corrected P = 0.08). DTI metrics of the left AF did not relate to either WLC or SLC scores (all uncorrected P > 0.10). The full statistical results are shown in Table 2. Considering the potential confounding effect of handedness, we further performed the partial correlation analyses with the Edinburgh Handedness Index as an additional covariate and the results remained significant (data not shown). Taken together with the TBSS results, our findings showed that the anterior white matter connections via UF and IFOF were associated with WLC, while posterior white matter tracts including ILF and IFOF related to SLC.

DISCUSSION

We found that comprehension outcomes related primarily to damage in ventral stream white matter tracts in chronic left hemisphere stroke. Anterior temporal white matter integrity loss and involvement of the UF related primarily to word-level comprehension deficits. In contrast, posterior temporal white matter integrity loss and involvement of the ILF related primarily to sentence-level comprehension. Loss of white matter integrity in the IFOF related to both word- and sentence-level comprehension. Although lesion burden in the AF related to sentence-level



FIGURE 2 | Tract-based spatial statistics analysis for white matter integrity related to language comprehension. Altered diffusion tensor imaging metrics related to composite WLC (A) and SLC (B) scores controlling for age and lesion volumes (TFCE corrected *P* < 0.05). Regions with significantly positive correlates of mean fractional anisotropy (FA) (red–yellow) or negative correlates of mean diffusivity (MD), axial diffusivity (AD), and axial diffusivity (RD) (blue–light blue) with individual comprehension scores are overlaid on the FMRIB58 FA skeleton (green), displayed on a template in Montreal Neurological Institute space. WLC, word-level comprehension; SLC, sentence-level comprehension.

comprehension, more specific examination of white matter integrity metrics revealed no relationship. Taken together, these findings are among the first to map critical white matter pathways for different aspects of auditory comprehension in chronic stroke.

The finding that word-level comprehension relies on anterior temporal white matter corresponds with recent fMRI findings in healthy participants (3) and gray matter atrophy findings in people with primary progressive aphasia (4), collectively demonstrating that the classical posterior localization of Wernicke's area is incorrect. In line with these results, a previous study combining DTI and fMRI in a group of 10 patients with chronic post-stroke aphasia identified a relationship between UF damage and wordlevel comprehension (11). This study suggested that the left UF mediates semantic control during auditory word comprehension, by connecting inferior frontal cognitive control areas with anterior temporal areas storing word meanings. Another DTI study of post-stroke aphasia recently confirmed that lesion burden in left UF was associated with poor performance on word-to-picture matching and PPT tests, suggesting involvement of the left UF in semantic control during auditory word comprehension (10). We confirmed this prior result and extended it by showing that more specific measures of white matter integrity of the UF relate to word-level comprehension. Further, this relationship persists after controlling for non-verbal semantic performance on the PPT test, suggesting that the role of the UF in word-level comprehension does not simply reflect the role of the anterior temporal lobe in semantic knowledge (30), but that it plays a specific role in access to semantic information from auditory or perhaps amodal lexical representations.

The IFOF, like the UF, connects inferior frontal cortex to the temporal lobe. Whereas the UF connects to the anterior temporal lobe, the IFOF courses through the extreme capsule to posterior temporal areas, notably the middle temporal gyrus (31). We found that reduced IFOF integrity was significantly associated with both word- and sentence-level comprehension deficits. Previous lesion–symptom mapping studies implicated the posterior middle temporal gyrus in performance on both word and sentence comprehension tasks (31, 32). Although the authors suggested that involvement of the posterior middle temporal cortex in word-level comprehension tasks, we found that the ventral stream connections between this area and the inferior frontal cortex *via*





TABLE 2 | Partial correlations between integrity of reconstructed tracts in left hemisphere and composite comprehension measures in patients controlling for age, total lesion volume, and lesions in each tract.

Tract	Tract size (mm ³)	Composite WLC					Composite SLC				
		Lesion	FA	MD	AD	RD	Lesion	FA	MD	AD	RD
IFOF	8,506	-0.214	0.410*	-0.447*	-0.489*	-0.432*	0.118	0.409*	-0.413*	-0.408*	-0.413*
ILF	5,451	-0.022	0.248	-0.378	-0.380	-0.369	-0.406*	0.382	-0.461*	-0.457*	-0.453*
UF	3,097	-0.400*	0.408*	-0.429*	-0.424*	-0.439*	-0.046	-0.010	-0.216	-0.232	-0.221
AF	3,447	-0.081	-0.127	0.129	0.110	0.138	-0.439*	0.074	-0.079	-0.088	-0.072

IFOF, inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus; ILF, inferior longitudinal fasciculus; UF, uncinate fasciculus; AF, arcuate fasciculus; FA, fractional anisotropy; MD, mean diffusivity; AD, axial diffusivity; RD, radial diffusivity; WLC, word-level comprehension; SLC, sentence-level comprehension.

For lesion-performance analyses, total lesion volume was considered as covariate.

*P < 0.05, Bonforroni corrections for multiple comparisons.

the IFOF relate not only to word-level comprehension but also to sentence-level comprehension after regressing out word-level deficits. Indeed, some studies in healthy subjects have found that auditory sentence comprehension is mediated in part by the IFOF (6).

These frontal-posterior temporal connections may play a similar role in cognitive control to the UF connections discussed above. Structural and functional imaging studies suggest that inferior frontal regions contribute to access of semantic knowledge, and hence auditory comprehension (33–35). Furthermore, damage to prefrontal regions leads to more severe deficits of semantic control than damage to temporo-parietal regions alone (36). Thus, the IFOF, with its long course from the inferior

frontal lobe through the temporal lobe, may be involved in linking control areas of the frontal lobe to multiple levels of semantic representations in the temporal lobe (37). It should be noted that another study in stroke patients also found that disruption of left ventral fronto-temporal connections *via* extreme capsule fiber systems related to sentence comprehension, although the specific findings suggested a role in syntax rather than semantics (12). Our sentence comprehension tasks do not allow us to discriminate between syntax and semantics, but the role of IFOF demonstrated here in word comprehension tasks involving only concrete nouns that require no syntactic processing suggests a role in semantics. Coupled with the relationship to sentencelevel tasks after controlling for word-level comprehension, these



findings suggest that the IFOF plays a role either in multi-level semantic processing or in domain general processes underlying comprehension in general, such as cognitive control.

In addition to the IFOF, our results also implicated the ILF in sentence comprehension. The TBSS analysis suggested that an area of posterior temporal white matter including segments of both the ILF and IFOF was especially critical. Auditory sentence comprehension involves a number of different cognitive subprocesses and so engages a widely distributed network of frontal, temporal, and parietal areas (38). The most critical portion of white matter for sentence comprehension in the TBSS analysis here underlies posterior temporal areas implicated in semantics, phonology, syntax, and working memory (2, 37). Previous studies on healthy participants have shown that temporo-parietal areas activated during sentence comprehension participate in a number of white matter pathways including the IFOF and the ILF (39). The ILF connects the posterior temporal lobe with anterior temporal cortex, which has been implicated in both semantic (30) and syntactic processing (40). Evidence from fMRI studies of healthy participants has indicated that auditory sentence

comprehension simultaneously activates both posterior and anterior temporal regions (41), implying involvement of anterior/ posterior connections *via* the ILF. However, the exact nature of the processing supported by the ILF remains unclear. Additional research will be needed to examine this question further.

It has been well established that the lateral AF supports sensory-articulatory integration involved in speech production (6, 42, 43). DTI studies have implicated the AF in syntactic processing during sentence comprehension in children (44) and people with primary progressive aphasia (8). Here, we found that direct lesion load on left AF related to sentence comprehension in post-stroke aphasia, consistent with recent studies in this population (9). However, when controlling for direct lesion overlap on the AF, we found no association between DTI measures within AF and performance. This finding contrasts with a previous study showing that integrity within left AF and ventral extreme capsule fiber systems related to syntactic comprehension in stroke patients (12). However, this prior study did not control for direct lesion burden on the tracts, so integrity measures in this study may reflect both direct lesion damage as well as secondary

axonal degeneration in the tracts. Different from this previous study, we factored out direct lesions to the tracts when examining white matter integrity metrics because the direct damage in a given tract likely covaries closely with damage in anatomically neighboring tracts. This covariance could result in false-positive findings in the tracts of interest. Factoring out the direct damage thus allowed us to examine the behavioral contributions of each white matter tract more specifically, by considering only the secondary degeneration. Two other considerations regarding the AF are worth noting. First, the prior studies above specifically examined syntax using tasks designed to control for semantics and other processes required for sentence comprehension. Since we focused on clinical tests, and not on disambiguating the subprocesses of sentence comprehension, our results may be less sensitive to a specific role of the AF in processing complex syntax. Additionally, the AF anatomically encompasses direct (frontotemporal segment) and indirect (fronto-parietal or temporalparietal segments) fiber bundles (42), and these bundles within AF may serve different functions in language processing (45). The roles of these different segments in auditory comprehension require further elucidation.

Several limitations should be noted. First, lack of objective measures of the individual tracts in patients is a main caveat of this study. Due to varied left hemisphere lesions, most of the left hemisphere white matter connections could not be reconstructed with probabilistic tractography in individual patients. Under this circumstance, white matter damage does not necessarily indicate that the adjacent cortical regions are crucial for comprehension behavior, but may rather indicate that connections between the posterior and the anterior cortical regions are associated with comprehension performance. Second, we did not determine the involvement of left hemisphere cortical areas in word or sentence comprehension. Previous studies have shown that regional gray matter damage in the left temporal lobe might support auditory comprehension processing in patients with post-stroke aphasia or primary progressive aphasia (4, 31, 32). Therefore, interrelationships between both cortical structures and white matter pathways involved in different levels of auditory comprehension need further investigation.

REFERENCES

- Hickok G, Poeppel D. The cortical organization of speech processing. Nat Rev Neurosci (2007) 8(5):393–402. doi:10.1038/nrn2113
- Price CJ. The anatomy of language: contributions from functional neuroimaging. J Anat (2000) 197(Pt 3):335–59. doi:10.1046/j.1469-7580.2000.19730335.x
- DeWitt I, Rauschecker JP. Phoneme and word recognition in the auditory ventral stream. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(8):E505–14. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1113427109
- Mesulam MM, Thompson CK, Weintraub S, Rogalski EJ. The Wernicke conundrum and the anatomy of language comprehension in primary progressive aphasia. *Brain* (2015) 138(Pt 8):2423–37. doi:10.1093/brain/ awv154
- 5. Geschwind N. Disconnexion syndromes in animals and man. I. *Brain* (1965) 88(2):237–94.
- Saur D, Kreher BW, Schnell S, Kummerer D, Kellmeyer P, Vry MS, et al. Ventral and dorsal pathways for language. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(46):18035–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805234105

CONCLUSION

The present findings implicate anterior temporal white matter and particularly the UF in word-level comprehension. In contrast, posterior temporal white matter damage and loss of integrity in the ILF related to sentence-level comprehension deficits. The IFOF, with its long course from the frontal lobe through the temporal lobe, was implicated in both word and sentence comprehension. These results demonstrate the importance of ventral stream white matter damage to auditory comprehension in stroke and suggest that anterior and posterior temporal white matter damage impairs different levels of auditory comprehension.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SX conceived the study, analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript; EL contributed to the collection and analysis of the data; LS-K contributed to the data interpretation; PT contributed to the design of the study, the analysis and interpretation of the data, and editing of the manuscript. All the authors contributed to editing of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Katherine Spiegel, Alexa Desko, Mackenzie Fama, Lauren Taylor, Laura Hussey, Jessica Friedman, and Molly Stamp for contributing to data collection, and our participants for the generosity of their time.

FUNDING

This study was supported by NIH/NCATS *via* the Georgetown-Howard Universities Center for Clinical and Translational Science (KL2TR000102), the Doris Duke Charitable Foundation (Grant 2012062), the Vernon Family Trust (donation to PT), National Natural Science Foundation of China (81371277 and 81000500), Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (2015A030313049), and Project of Science and Technology New Star of Pearl River (2012J2200089).

- Saur D, Schelter B, Schnell S, Kratochvil D, Kupper H, Kellmeyer P, et al. Combining functional and anatomical connectivity reveals brain networks for auditory language comprehension. *Neuroimage* (2010) 49(4):3187–97. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.11.009
- Wilson SM, Galantucci S, Tartaglia MC, Rising K, Patterson DK, Henry ML, et al. Syntactic processing depends on dorsal language tracts. *Neuron* (2011) 72(2):397–403. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.014
- Geva S, Correia MM, Warburton EA. Contributions of bilateral white matter to chronic aphasia symptoms as assessed by diffusion tensor MRI. *Brain Lang* (2015) 150:117–28. doi:10.1016/j.bandl.2015.09.001
- Harvey DY, Schnur TT. Distinct loci of lexical and semantic access deficits in aphasia: evidence from voxel-based lesion-symptom mapping and diffusion tensor imaging. *Cortex* (2015) 67:37–58. doi:10.1016/j.cortex. 2015.03.004
- Harvey DY, Wei T, Ellmore TM, Hamilton AC, Schnur TT. Neuropsychological evidence for the functional role of the uncinate fasciculus in semantic control. *Neuropsychologia* (2013) 51(5):789–801. doi:10.1016/ j.neuropsychologia.2013.01.028

- Papoutsi M, Stamatakis EA, Griffiths J, Marslen-Wilson WD, Tyler LK. Is left fronto-temporal connectivity essential for syntax? Effective connectivity, tractography and performance in left-hemisphere damaged patients. *Neuroimage* (2011) 58(2):656–64. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.06.036
- Kertesz A, Sheppard A, MacKenzie R. Localization in transcortical sensory aphasia. Arch Neurol (1982) 39(8):475–8. doi:10.1001/archneur.1982.00510 200017002
- Rogers SL, Friedman RB. The underlying mechanisms of semantic memory loss in Alzheimer's disease and semantic dementia. *Neuropsychologia* (2008) 46(1):12–21. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.08.010
- Howard D, Patterson K. Pyramids and Palm Trees: A Test of Semantic Access from Pictures and Words. Bury St. Edmonds, Suffolk: Thames Valley Test Company (1992).
- Buch ER, Modir Shanechi A, Fourkas AD, Weber C, Birbaumer N, Cohen LG. Parietofrontal integrity determines neural modulation associated with grasping imagery after stroke. *Brain* (2012) 135(Pt 2):596–614. doi:10.1093/brain/awr331
- Ciccarelli O, Behrens TE, Altmann DR, Orrell RW, Howard RS, Johansen-Berg H, et al. Probabilistic diffusion tractography: a potential tool to assess the rate of disease progression in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain* (2006) 129(Pt 7):1859–71. doi:10.1093/brain/awl100
- Xing D, Papadakis NG, Huang CL, Lee VM, Carpenter TA, Hall LD. Optimised diffusion-weighting for measurement of apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) in human brain. *Magn Reson Imaging* (1997) 15(7):771–84. doi:10.1016/ S0730-725X(97)00037-4
- Rorden C, Karnath HO, Bonilha L. Improving lesion-symptom mapping. J Cogn Neurosci (2007) 19(7):1081–8. doi:10.1162/jocn.2007.19.7.1081
- Ashburner J, Friston KJ. Unified segmentation. Neuroimage (2005) 26(3): 839–51. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.018
- Brett M, Leff AP, Rorden C, Ashburner J. Spatial normalization of brain images with focal lesions using cost function masking. *Neuroimage* (2001) 14(2):486–500. doi:10.1006/nimg.2001.0845
- Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Johansen-Berg H, Rueckert D, Nichols TE, Mackay CE, et al. Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *Neuroimage* (2006) 31(4):1487–505. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2006.02.024
- Smith SM, Nichols TE. Threshold-free cluster enhancement: addressing problems of smoothing, threshold dependence and localisation in cluster inference. *Neuroimage* (2009) 44(1):83–98. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008. 03.061
- de Groot M, Vernooij MW, Klein S, Ikram MA, Vos FM, Smith SM, et al. Improving alignment in tract-based spatial statistics: evaluation and optimization of image registration. *Neuroimage* (2013) 76:400–11. doi:10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2013.03.015
- Wakana S, Caprihan A, Panzenboeck MM, Fallon JH, Perry M, Gollub RL, et al. Reproducibility of quantitative tractography methods applied to cerebral white matter. *Neuroimage* (2007) 36(3):630–44. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2007.02.049
- Behrens TE, Woolrich MW, Jenkinson M, Johansen-Berg H, Nunes RG, Clare S, et al. Characterization and propagation of uncertainty in diffusion-weighted MR imaging. *Magn Reson Med* (2003) 50(5):1077–88. doi:10.1002/mrm.10609
- Frühholz S, Gschwind M, Grandjean D. Bilateral dorsal and ventral fiber pathways for the processing of affective prosody identified by probabilistic fiber tracking. *Neuroimage* (2015) 109:27–34. doi:10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2015.01.016
- Gschwind M, Pourtois G, Schwartz S, Van De Ville D, Vuilleumier P. White matter connectivity between face-responsive regions in the human brain. *Cereb Cortex* (2012) 22(7):1564–76. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhr226
- Mandelli ML, Caverzasi E, Binney RJ, Henry ML, Lobach I, Block N, et al. Frontal white matter tracts sustaining speech production in primary progressive aphasia. *J Neurosci* (2014) 34(29):9754–67. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 3464-13.2014

- Patterson K, Nestor PJ, Rogers TT. Where do you know what you know? The representation of semantic knowledge in the human brain. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2007) 8(12):976–87. doi:10.1038/nrn2277
- Turken AU, Dronkers NF. The neural architecture of the language comprehension network: converging evidence from lesion and connectivity analyses. *Front Syst Neurosci* (2011) 5:1. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2011. 00001
- Dronkers NF, Wilkins DP, Van Valin RD Jr, Redfern BB, Jaeger JJ. Lesion analysis of the brain areas involved in language comprehension. *Cognition* (2004) 92(1–2):145–77. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2003.11.002
- Jefferies E. The neural basis of semantic cognition: converging evidence from neuropsychology, neuroimaging and TMS. *Cortex* (2013) 49(3):611–25. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2012.10.008
- Jefferies E, Lambon Ralph MA. Semantic impairment in stroke aphasia versus semantic dementia: a case-series comparison. *Brain* (2006) 129(Pt 8): 2132–47. doi:10.1093/brain/awl153
- Montant M, Schon D, Anton JL, Ziegler JC. Orthographic contamination of Broca's area. Front Psychol (2011) 2:378. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00378
- Gardner HE, Lambon Ralph MA, Dodds N, Jones T, Ehsan S, Jefferies E. The differential contributions of pFC and temporo-parietal cortex to multimodal semantic control: exploring refractory effects in semantic aphasia. J Cogn Neurosci (2012) 24(4):778–93. doi:10.1162/jocn_a_00184
- Binder JR, Desai RH, Graves WW, Conant LL. Where is the semantic system? A critical review and meta-analysis of 120 functional neuroimaging studies. *Cereb Cortex* (2009) 19(12):2767–96. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhp055
- Friederici AD. The cortical language circuit: from auditory perception to sentence comprehension. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2012) 16(5):262–8. doi:10.1016/ j.tics.2012.04.001
- Jouen AL, Ellmore TM, Madden CJ, Pallier C, Dominey PF, Ventre-Dominey J. Beyond the word and image: characteristics of a common meaning system for language and vision revealed by functional and structural imaging. *Neuroimage* (2015) 106:72–85. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.11.024
- Magnusdottir S, Fillmore P, den Ouden DB, Hjaltason H, Rorden C, Kjartansson O, et al. Damage to left anterior temporal cortex predicts impairment of complex syntactic processing: a lesion-symptom mapping study. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2013) 34(10):2715–23. doi:10.1002/hbm.22096
- Zhang L, Yue Q, Zhang Y, Shu H, Li P. Task-dependent modulation of regions in the left temporal cortex during auditory sentence comprehension. *Neurosci Lett* (2015) 584:351–5. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.10.054
- 42. Catani M, Jones DK, ffytche DH. Perisylvian language networks of the human brain. *Ann Neurol* (2005) 57(1):8–16. doi:10.1002/ana.20319
- Fridriksson J, Guo D, Fillmore P, Holland A, Rorden C. Damage to the anterior arcuate fasciculus predicts non-fluent speech production in aphasia. *Brain* (2013) 136(Pt 11):3451–60. doi:10.1093/brain/awt267
- Skeide MA, Brauer J, Friederici AD. Brain functional and structural predictors of language performance. *Cereb Cortex* (2016) 26(5):2127–39. doi:10.1093/ cercor/bhv042
- Forkel SJ, Thiebaut de Schotten M, Dell'Acqua F, Kalra L, Murphy DG, Williams SC, et al. Anatomical predictors of aphasia recovery: a tractography study of bilateral perisylvian language networks. *Brain* (2014) 137(Pt 7):2027–39. doi:10.1093/brain/awu113

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Xing, Lacey, Skipper-Kallal, Zeng and Turkeltaub. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

